
Children and Young People Scrutiny Commission 
 

All Members of the Children & Young People Scrutiny Commission are requested to attend the 
meeting of the Commission to be held as follows 
 
7.00 pm, Monday 28 February 2022 
 
Committee Room 2/3, Hackney Town Hall, Mare Street, London. E8 1EA 
 
The press and public are welcome to join this meeting via the live-link below: 
https://youtu.be/P5t1fpvAtWM 
 
A back up link is also given below in case of technical difficulties: 
https://youtu.be/b7BtkwzxudE 
 
 
Contact: 
Martin Bradford 
 020 8356 3315 
 martin.bradford@hackney.gov.uk 

 
Mark Carroll 
Chief Executive, London Borough of Hackney 

 

 
 

 
 

Agenda 
 

ALL MEETINGS ARE OPEN TO THE PUBLIC 
 

1 Apologies for Absence   

2 Urgent Items / Order of Business   

3 Declarations of Interest   

Members: Cllr Sophie Conway (Chair), Cllr Margaret Gordon (Vice-Chair), 
Cllr Humaira Garasia, Cllr Katie Hanson, Cllr James Peters, 
Cllr Anna Lynch, Cllr Sarah Young, Cllr Anya Sizer, Cllr Lynne Troughton 
and Cllr Caroline Selman 
1 Vacancy 

 

Co-optees: Steven Olalere, Shabnum Hassan, Jo Macleod, Ernell Watson and Michael 
Lobenstein. 
5 young people representatives from Hackney of Tomorrow / Hackney 
Youth Parliament. 
2 Vacancy (RC Representative, CoE Representative) 

https://youtu.be/P5t1fpvAtWM
https://youtu.be/b7BtkwzxudE


4 Substance Misuse and Children in Need  (Pages 5 - 16) 

 To receive a report from Children and Families in the nature, 
scale and impact of parental substance misuse on children 
and families. 
 
The National Association of Children of Alcoholics (NACOA) to 
attend to provide national perspective. 

 

 

5 Children's Social Care Annual Report  (Pages 17 - 94) 

 An annual report of children’s social care activity covering: 

- 12 month period April 2020 to March 2021; 
- 6 month period April 2021 through to September 

2021. 
 

 

6 Anti-Racist Action Plan for Children & Education  (Pages 95 - 144) 

 An update on the establishment of an Anti-Racist Action Plan 
for Children and Education Services.  

 

 

7 Adolescents Entering Care - Review Update  (Pages 145 - 146) 

 A verbal update on the Commission’s review of adolescents 
entering care. 

 

 

8 Work Programme 2021/22  (Pages 147 - 160) 

 To review the work programme for the Commission for the 
remainder of 2021/22 municipal year. 

 

 

9 Minutes of the Previous Meeting  (Pages 161 - 162) 

 The minutes of the meeting held on 19th January were not 
available and will be presented on 14/3/22. 

 

 

10 Any Other Business   

 To include updates on children and young people related 
issues from other scrutiny commissions 

 

 

 
 
 



 

Access and Information 
 
 

Getting to the Town Hall 

For a map of how to find the Town Hall, please visit the council’s website 
http://www.hackney.gov.uk/contact-us.htm or contact the Overview and Scrutiny 
Officer using the details provided on the front cover of this agenda. 

 
 

Accessibility 

There are public toilets available, with wheelchair access, on the ground floor of the 
Town Hall. 
 
Induction loop facilities are available in the Assembly Halls and the Council Chamber. 
Access for people with mobility difficulties can be obtained through the ramp on the 
side to the main Town Hall entrance. 

 
 

Further Information about the Commission 

 
If you would like any more information about the Scrutiny 
Commission, including the membership details, meeting dates 
and previous reviews, please visit the website or use this QR 
Code (accessible via phone or tablet ‘app’) 
http://www.hackney.gov.uk/individual-scrutiny-commissions-
children-and-young-people.htm  

 
 
 

Public Involvement and Recording 

Scrutiny meetings are held in public, rather than being public meetings. This means 
that whilst residents and press are welcome to attend, they can only ask questions at 
the discretion of the Chair. For further information relating to public access to 
information, please see Part 4 of the council’s constitution, available at 
http://www.hackney.gov.uk/l-gm-constitution.htm or by contacting Governance 
Services (020 8356 3503) 
 

Rights of Press and Public to Report on Meetings 
Where a meeting of the Council and its committees are open to the public, the press 
and public are welcome to report on meetings of the Council and its committees, 
through any audio, visual or written methods and may use digital and social media 
providing they do not disturb the conduct of the meeting and providing that the 
person reporting or providing the commentary is present at the meeting. 
 

http://www.hackney.gov.uk/contact-us.htm
http://www.hackney.gov.uk/individual-scrutiny-commissions-children-and-young-people.htm
http://www.hackney.gov.uk/individual-scrutiny-commissions-children-and-young-people.htm
http://www.hackney.gov.uk/l-gm-constitution.htm


Those wishing to film, photograph or audio record a meeting are asked to notify the 
Council’s Monitoring Officer by noon on the day of the meeting, if possible, or any 
time prior to the start of the meeting or notify the Chair at the start of the meeting. 
 
The Monitoring Officer, or the Chair of the meeting, may designate a set area from 
which all recording must take place at a meeting. 
 
The Council will endeavour to provide reasonable space and seating to view, hear 
and record the meeting.  If those intending to record a meeting require any other 
reasonable facilities, notice should be given to the Monitoring Officer in advance of 
the meeting and will only be provided if practicable to do so. 
 
The Chair shall have discretion to regulate the behaviour of all those present 
recording a meeting in the interests of the efficient conduct of the meeting.   Anyone 
acting in a disruptive manner may be required by the Chair to cease recording or 
may be excluded from the meeting. Disruptive behaviour may include: moving from 
any designated recording area; causing excessive noise; intrusive lighting; 
interrupting the meeting; or filming members of the public who have asked not to be 
filmed. 
 
All those visually recording a meeting are requested to only focus on recording 
councillors, officers and the public who are directly involved in the conduct of the 
meeting.  The Chair of the meeting will ask any members of the public present if they 
have objections to being visually recorded.  Those visually recording a meeting are 
asked to respect the wishes of those who do not wish to be filmed or photographed.   
Failure by someone recording a meeting to respect the wishes of those who do not 
wish to be filmed and photographed may result in the Chair instructing them to cease 
recording or in their exclusion from the meeting. 
 
If a meeting passes a motion to exclude the press and public then in order to 
consider confidential or exempt information, all recording must cease and all 
recording equipment must be removed from the meeting room. The press and public 
are not permitted to use any means which might enable them to see or hear the 
proceedings whilst they are excluded from a meeting and confidential or exempt 
information is under consideration. 
 
Providing oral commentary during a meeting is not permitted. 

 



 Children & Young People Scrutiny Commission 

 28th February 2022 

 Item 4 - Substance misuse and children in 
 need 

 Item No 

 4 
 Outline 
 For the Commission to review the nature, level and impact of parental substance 
 misuse on children and families and the response of local services. 

 The National Association for Children of Alcoholics (NACOA) will attend to provide 
 additional insight for this issue from a national perspective. 

 -  Shawn Bent, Substance Misuse Team Leader 
 -  John Hart, Young Hackney Service Manager 
 -  Pauline Adams, Principal Head of Early Help and Prevention 
 -  Piers Henrique, Chief Executive, NACOA 

 Reports 
 -  Children and Families Service Substance Misuse Briefing 
 -  Information for people affected by their parents drinking (NACOA) 

 Action  : 
 Members of the Commission are invited to review the attached report and ask 
 questions of officers present. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



 Report Title:  Children and Families Service Substance Misuse Briefing 

 Meeting for:  Children & Young People Scrutiny Commission 

 Date:  28th February 2022 

 Produced by:  Pauline Adams, Principal Head of Early Help and Prevention 

 Authorised by:  Jacquie Burke, Director of Children and Families 

 Report Summary 

 This report is an update to the Children and Young People Scrutiny Commission for 
 the 28th February 2022 meeting. The contents of this report should be reviewed by 
 the Commission. 

 This report is 5 pages long, and provides an overview of the Children and Families 
 Service’s approach to substance misuse in Hackney. Key information included in the 
 report: 

 ●  Overview of the issue - how substance misuse contributes to children in need 
 and local data on this. 

 ●  How Covid-19, lockdown and school closures have impacted on levels of 
 needs - and what impact this has had locally. 

 ●  The local service/partnership response in terms of support for children and 
 families, but also in relation to Early Help and Prevention. 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 Children and Young People Scrutiny Commission 
 Report 

 Report Title:  Children and Families Service Substance Misuse Briefing 
 Meeting Date:  28th February 2022 
 Report Originator:  Jacquie Burke, Group Director of  Children and Education 

 Overview  of  the  issue  -  how  substance  misuse  contributes  to 
 children in need and local data on this: 
 The  Children  and  Families  Service  supports  children,  young  people  and  families  with  a  range  of 
 issues,  which  includes  substance  misuse.  We  know  that  substance  misuse  can  impact  on 
 parenting  capacity,  and  misuse  by  children  and  young  people  can  impact  on  their  development 
 and  outcomes  1  .  A  number  of  children  and  young  people  who  work  with  our  service  experience 
 harm  as  a  result  of  substance  misuse,  and  in  2020/21,  there  were  554  assessments  completed 
 where  alcohol  abuse  or  drug  misuse  was  identified  as  a  factor  for  the  parent/carer,  child  or  other 
 person.  Some  children  and  young  people  are  referred  to  Young  Hackney’s  Substance  Misuse 
 Team  (YHSMS),  which  supports  children  and  young  people  aged  6-25  years  who  are  directly 
 affected  by  substance  misuse,  or  affected  through  their  parent’s  misuse.  Interventions  take  a 
 tailored  and  holistic  approach  that  aims  to  reduce  harm,  build  young  people’s  resilience,  and 
 address related issues around family and relationships, finances, education and housing. 

 2018/19  2019/2020  2020/21  April 2021 - 
 January 

 2022 

 No. of young people YHSMS 
 worked with in the year 

 202  210  256  208 

 No. of referrals to YHSMS in 
 the year 

 220  213  168  158 

 *  Please  note  that  we  will  work  with  some  young  people  for  over  a  year,  the  above  date  reflects  the  active 
 number  of  young  people  the  service  is  working  with,  and  also  the  number  of  referrals  as  a  reflection  of 
 demand. Not all referrals will go on to become open to the service. 

 Adults  who  use  substances  may  be  referred  to  the  City  and  Hackney  Recovery  Service,  known 
 as  Turning  Point,  who  support  parents  in  reducing  the  impact  of  substance  misuse  on  their 
 children,  working  in  collaboration  with  children’s  allocated  social  workers,  who  liaise  directly  with 
 the service. 

 Although  they  are  separate  services,  YHSMS  and  Turning  Point  complete  some  collaborative 
 work.  YHSMS  Team  Leader,  Shawn  Bent,  works  alongside  Turning  Point  to  ensure  that  all  adults 
 are  screened,  possible  dependents  they  may  have  are  explored,  and  that  the  impact  of  parental 
 substance  misuse  is  discussed  with  those  adults.  The  Family  and  Friends  support  manager  at 
 Turning  Point  has  requested  YHSMS  to  conduct  hidden  harm  2  training  for  Turning  Point  staff  over 

 2  Definition: ‘The experience of children and young people living with and impacted by parental problem alcohol and other drug use 
 has come to be known as Hidden Harm. This is because the harm children and young people experience is often hidden, or if 
 seen, is not recognised as harm.’ Source: 
 https://www.publichealth.hscni.net/sites/default/files/Hidden%20Harm%20Online%20version%20-%202015.pdf 

 1  https://learning.nspcc.org.uk/children-and-families-at-risk/parental-substance-misuse#heading-top 

 1 

Page 9



 coming  weeks.  This  may  result  in  direct  referrals  to  YHSMS  and  Hackney 
 Children and Families Service from Turning Point. 

 Hackney  Children  and  Families  Service  also  carry  out  drug  testing  of  family 
 members  who  care  for  children,  where  there  are  concerns  about  substance 
 misuse.  This  is  done  by  using  a  swab  test,  which  is  returned  to  a  lab  for  testing.  This  process  is 
 consent  based,  with  people  agreeing  to  be  tested.  Sometimes,  this  process  may  be  required  as 
 part  of  a  Child  Protection  Plan,  or  Court  order.  Evidence  of  substance  misuse  or  abstinence  then 
 feeds into safety planning for the children and young people who are affected. 

 Hackney  Children’s  Services  and  substance  misuse  services  work  hard  to  identify  and  reduce 
 risks  connected  with  substance  misuse  impacting  upon  children  and  young  people.  However, 
 some  children,  young  people  and  their  families  who  are  affected  by  substance  misuse  may  not 
 come  to  the  attention  of  intervention  services.  People  who  misuse  substances  may  be 
 ambivalent  about  changing  addiction  habits,  at  the  precontemplation  point  of  recovery  3  ,  and  may 
 not  have  an  understanding  of  the  impact  of  their  misuse  on  their  children  and/or  family,  therefore 
 they  may  not  reach  out  for  support.  Moreover,  many  people  who  use  substances  are  able  to 
 function  at  a  level  which  may  not  raise  the  concern  of  professionals  around  them,  therefore  they 
 may  not  be  referred  for  intervention.  Research  in  Practice  suggests  that  people  may  consume 
 substances  despite  being  aware  of  the  potential  harm  of  this  due  to  wanting  to  socialise,  reduce 
 boredom,  and  relieve  symptoms  of  mental  ill  health  4  .  However,  it  is  recognised  that  many  of  the 
 people  who  support  services  work  with  are  at  the  precontemplation  stage  of  recovery;  services 
 work  with  people  experiencing  this,  and  develop  motivation  to  create  positive  change  with  service 
 users  who  engage  on  a  largely  voluntary  basis.  Hackney  Children’s  Services  uses  a  systemic 
 approach  to  supporting  families  who  may  be  experiencing  substance  misuse,  exploring 
 contributing  factors  towards  substance  misuse  and  encouraging  engagement  with  services  to 
 reduce negative impacts of substance misuse on children, young people and their families. 

 How  Covid-19,  lockdown  and  school  closures  have  impacted  on 
 levels of needs - and what impact has this had locally? 
 The  Covid-19  pandemic  led  to  periods  of  Government  restrictions  on  meeting  people 
 face-to-face,  with  many  support  services  adapting  their  work  in  these  periods  to  continue  to 
 deliver  interventions  to  children  and  families.  In  circumstances  where  visits  had  to  take  place 
 virtually,  it  may  have  been  more  difficult  to  identify  needs  related  to  substance  misuse.  However, 
 Hackney  Children  and  Families  Service  worked  hard  to  engage  with  those  most  at  risk,  adapting 
 creatively,  meeting  people  outdoors,  continuing  to  complete  visits  in  person  where  necessary, 
 and  working  with  partner  agencies  to  ensure  children  and  young  people  most  in  need  of  support 
 continued to receive this. 

 At  the  height  of  strict  Covid-19  restrictions,  adaptations  were  made  to  the  YHSMS  service  to 
 ensure  continuity  of  support  for  service  users,  particularly  for  those  at  risk  of  hidden  harm. 
 YHSMS  supported  young  people  to  gain  access  to  devices  for  virtual  sessions  if  needed, 
 supporting  the  young  people  to  receive  the  required  therapeutic  intervention.  The  service  worked 
 creatively  to  visit  young  people  face-to-face  where  Covid-19  restrictions  allowed,  including  visits 
 outdoors.  This  helped  to  ensure  that  those  open  to  the  service  were  delivered  as  much  support 
 as  possible,  during  a  time  where  they  may  have  had  a  reduced  support  network  around  them.  As 
 Covid  restrictions  lessened,  the  service  resumed  more  of  its  usual  face-to-face  contact,  including 

 4  https://www.researchinpractice.org.uk/all/content-pages/videos/why-do-people-use-alcohol-and-drugs-despite-the-harm/ 

 3  Prochaska, J. O., & DiClemente, C. C. (1983). Stages and processes of self-change of smoking: Toward an integrative model of change. Journal of 
 Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 51(3), 390-395. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.51.3.390 

 2 

Page 10



 outreach  sessions  to  young  people  in  schools  and  youth  hubs,  group  drug  and 
 alcohol awareness sessions, and one-to-one support. 

 It  is  recognised  that  the  Covid-19  lockdown  and  restrictions  contributed  towards 
 loneliness  and  mental  ill-health  5  ,  which  may  have  contributed  to  an  increase  in 
 substance misuse. Data from YHSMS demonstrates that: 

 2019/2020  2020/2021  2021/2022 thus far 
 (April - January) 

 Number of referrals  213  168  152 

 Number of these referrals 
 relating to mental health 

 9  25  24 

 The  number  of  referrals  from  Health/Mental  Health  sources  to  YHSMS  increased  from 
 2019-2021,  with  a  projected  further  increase  in  2021/2022.  This  may  suggest  that  Covid-19 
 restrictions  increased  the  number  of  children  and  young  people  in  Hackney  needing  intervention 
 for  mental  health  and  substance  misuse;  this  is  in  line  with  national  trends  around  these  issues. 
 However,  it  is  noted  that  there  has  been  a  dip  in  overall  referral  numbers  over  the  pandemic,  a 
 trend observed across Hackney Children and Families Services, as well as nationally. 

 What  is  the  local  service/partnership  response  in  terms  of  support 
 for  children  and  families,  but  also  in  relation  to  Early  Help  -  what 
 preventative work is undertaken here? 
 Hackney  Children  and  Families  Services  work  within  the  Local  Assessment  Framework,  which 
 is  tailored  to  children  and  family’s  needs.  The  aim  of  the  service  is  to  offer  intervention  as  early  as 
 possible.  Intervention  is  delivered  through  assessment,  Early  Help  support,  Child  in  Need  plans, 
 Child  Protection  Plans,  Court  Proceedings,  and  Looked  After  Children  and  Care  Leavers  receive 
 the  local  offer  of  support.  Hackney  Children  and  Families  Service  works  to  deliver  prevention  and 
 intervention  work  to  children,  young  people  and  their  families  to  reduce  any  harm  substance 
 misuse may place them at. 

 Support  is  also  offered  through  the  aforementioned  YHSMS.  The  YHSMS  offer  multiple 
 approaches  to  support,  to  any  child/young  person  who  is  in  need.  The  support  includes  offering 
 treatment  and  therapeutic  support,  advice  and  guidance  to  those  experiencing  substance  misuse 
 themselves,  or  to  anyone  concerned  about  someone  they  know.  They  also  offer  one-to-one 
 support,  group  intervention,  a  specific  dealing  intervention,  school  and  professional  workshops, 
 and  a  creche  for  parents  who  are  over  18  and  use  substances  6  .  The  service  liaises  with  other 
 services/partners  as  necessary  to  support  and  safeguard  the  children  and  young  people  they 
 work with. 

 YHSMS  is  embedded  within  the  Young  Hackney  service,  as  part  of  the  Early  Help  offer,  which 
 allows  for  greater  joint-working  and  access  to  wider  support  for  young  people.  The  Young 
 Hackney  service  works  with  young  people  to  prevent  risk  of  extra-familial  harm  to  young  people, 
 encourage  positive  social  and  familial  relationships,  and  help  to  build  young  people’s  resilience, 
 often  working  around  issues  of  substance  misuse.  Some  young  people  are  supported  directly  by 
 the  Prevention  and  Diversion  team,  who  work  with  young  people  to  divert  them  from  entering  the 

 6  https://www.younghackney.org/advice/drugs-alcohol/young-hackney-substance-misuse-service/ 
 5  https://www.researchinpractice.org.uk/all/news-views/2020/june/social-connection-loneliness-and-lockdown/ 

 3 

Page 11



 criminal  justice  system.  This  includes  working  with  substance-related  crime.  The 
 Children  and  Families  Service  Annual  Report  demonstrates  that  94%  of  the 
 young  people  referred  to  the  Youth  Justice  Prevention  and  Diversion  Team  via 
 Triage  in  2020/21  were  successfully  diverted  from  becoming  first  time  entrants  to 
 the youth justice system. 

 Externally,  City  and  Hackney  Recovery  Service  (Turning  Point)  deliver  free  support  for  all  adult 
 Hackney  residents  who  may  need  support  with  substance  misuse.  This  includes  harm  reduction 
 interventions,  treatment,  one  to  one  support,  group  work,  and  clinical  support.  This  can  include 
 referring  people  to  rehabilitation  and  detox  support,  and  offering  preparatory  and  aftercare  for 
 those  service  users.  The  service  takes  a  holistic  approach,  offering  support  for  carers  and 
 families  of  those  who  may  be  using  substances.  Parts  of  the  service  are  tailored  to  specific 
 needs,  such  as  LGBTQA+  services,  female-only  support,  support  for  rough  sleepers,  and  those 
 involved in the criminal justice system  7  . 

 Hackney  residents  may  also  work  with  their  GP  to  reduce  the  impact  of  substance  misuse  on 
 their  families.  GP’s  are  asked  to  contribute  to  safety  planning  in  safeguarding  children  and  young 
 people, where they may be involved in their lives. 

 Hackney  Children  and  Families  Service  has  an  internal  clinical  team,  who  work  systemically  with 
 children,  young  people  and  their  families  who  are  open  to  Hackney  Children’s  Services  around 
 mental  ill  health  and  trauma.  Some  of  this  may  be  connected  to  substance  misuse,  using  a 
 trauma-informed  and  systemic  approach  to  help  children,  young  people  and  their  families 
 understand  any  cognitive  contributors  to  their  substance  misuse,  and  work  towards  improving  the 
 young  person  and  families’  capacity  to  manage  any  mental  health  difficulties  around  this.  Local 
 mental  health  services  including  CAMHS  can  also  support  this,  where  children  and  young  people 
 are not open to Hackney Children and Families Service. 

 Practice Example 
 An  example  of  a  case  that  YHSMS  work  with  to  illustrate  how  the  service  operates  to  reduce  risk 
 for young people: 
 Carrie*  is  a  15  year  old,  who  was  referred  to  YHSMS  in  June  2017,  after  her  involvement  in 
 substance misuse and buying/selling controlled substances over social media. 

 In  December  2017,  Carrie  became  subject  to  a  Child  in  Need  plan  in  response  to  increased 
 risk,  involving  a  multidisciplinary  team  of  professionals  supporting  the  young  person.  The 
 Contextual  Safeguarding  Team  worked  to  consider  the  peer  influenced  risks  posed  by  a 
 targeted  group  of  young  people  to  each  other.  YHSMS  offered  a  group  intervention  at  the  young 
 person’s class, with a strong focus on risks and harm minimisation. 

 Carrie  experienced  mental  health  difficulties,  and  was  admitted  to  a  mental  health  support  unit. 
 YHSMS  visited  Carrie  in  the  unit;  she  was  initially  withdrawn,  and  struggled  to  explore  and 
 reflect  on  her  drug  use.  YHSMS  continued  to  offer  Carrie  support,  and  she  began  to  open  up 
 about  her  previous  drug  use,  the  reasons  behind  it,  the  challenges  she  faced  currently  and  the 
 challenges she envisaged for the future. 

 Carrie  received  support  from  a  Clinical  Psychologist  and  Family  Therapist  to  reflect  on  her  use 
 of  substances  and  the  impact  on  her  wellbeing.  Alongside  this,  YHSMS  helped  Carrie  to  curb 
 cravings and develop resilience to triggers. 

 7  https://www.turning-point.co.uk/ 

 4 

Page 12



 Through  this  joint  work,  Carrie  has  become  familiar  with  the  concepts  of 
 dependence,  lapse  and  relapse,  abstinence  and  the  Cycle  of  Change,  and  can 
 relate  these  with  her  own  treatment  journey.  YHSMS  are  currently  focussing  on 
 supporting Carrie to maintain her ongoing recovery. 

 *This is a case example and the young person’s personal details have been changed. 

 5 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



You are not alone
1 in 5 children in the UK live with a parent who drinks 
hazardously. Millions of adults in the UK are still being 
affected by their parents’ drinking or the knock-on effects of 
growing up in a home where alcohol was a problem.

There is no lower or upper age limit to be affected by your 
parent, step-parent or carer’s drinking and sometimes the 
problems only become apparent in adulthood. You can be 
affected whether or not you still live with them, or whether 
they are still drinking or still alive.

Nacoa is here for everyone affected by a parent’s alcohol 
problems. Our helpline is a safe place where you can talk 
about things that are going on for you and how you are 
feeling. We are here to listen and will help for as long as you 
want. There is no need to give us your name and you can 
tell us as little or as much as you want. We will not judge 
and what you say will remain confidential.

Callers often talk about:
•	 feeling different from other people

•	 having difficulty with relationships

•	 fearing rejection and abandonment, yet rejecting 
others

•	 being loyal even when loyalty is undeserved

•	 finding it difficult to have fun

•	 judging themselves without mercy

•	 fearing failure, but sabotaging success

•	 over-reacting to changes over which they have no 	
control

•	 lying when it would be just as easy to tell the truth

•	 guessing at what ‘normal’ is

“I was never allowed to be a child: I had to spend every 
night keeping my parents from fighting. I never learned 
to play. Now, I can’t make friends; I never learned to 
let people close to me. Even my relatives seem to live 
in a different world.” Andrew, 35

Alcohol problems and the family
Alcoholism is like an illness and can affect people of all ages 
and from all walks of life. People with alcohol problems have 
lost control over their drinking and usually need help in order 
to stop. They continue to drink despite negative effects on 
their lives, their health, and those around them.

When someone has a drink problem, alcohol often becomes 
their main focus. As the drinker organises his/her life 
around alcohol, other family members can be left feeling 
unimportant and confused. Children often feel responsible for 
their parents’ problems, even though they are not.

Families adapt to cope and the drink problem often becomes 
the family secret. The family rules don’t talk, don’t trust, 
don’t feel develop to keep the problem hidden from the 
outside world and protect the illusion of a ‘normal’ family.

“Through all those times of fear, embarrassment, we 
acted as if nothing was wrong. I wished that someone 
would see the pain behind the façade and would 
care. We knew not to talk about Dad’s drinking. If we 
ignored it, we could all pretend it wasn’t happening. 
I’m still haunted by my memories.” Anon

Living with alcoholism can be chaotic and lead to other 
problems – parents may have money worries, argue, become 
violent or withdraw from family life, suffering with anxiety, 
depression and mood swings. What’s OK one day may not be 
the next. Children often feel confused, frightened, anxious, 
lonely, embarrassed, guilty and ashamed.

Children are more likely to suffer from low self-esteem, 
depression and thoughts of suicide, and sometimes use drink, 
drugs and addictive behaviours, such as eating disorders 
and self-harm, in order to cope. Despite this, many grow 
up to lead happy and healthy lives. Just being aware of the 
problem and having support can help.

“Being brought up in an alcoholic family I was used 
to living in chaos and fear and learnt many coping 
strategies to help me to survive.” Angela, 25

What you can do
Support is available for people who need help to stop 
drinking. However, they have to accept they have a problem 
and want to stop. You can feel better whether your parent 
continues to drink or not. 

Find out more about alcohol and the family
This can help you to understand what’s going on and most 
importantly to look after yourself. See Nacoa’s website for 
more information.

Remember you are not responsible for  
people’s drinking
Pouring away, watering down, or hiding alcohol may make 
things worse, and the person drinking may become angry, 
aggressive or secretive. Remember your parent’s drinking is 
not, and never was, your fault.

Remember alcohol affects the brain
People who drink often experience memory blackouts where 
they have no recollection of what they did, sometimes over 
significant periods of time. Try not to argue with someone 
when they are drinking; it may make things worse. They may 
say things that they normally wouldn’t, and will often not 
remember the conversation afterwards.

Be ready with information
Although you can’t make someone stop drinking, you can 
have information to hand if and when they ask for it. Nacoa 
will happily research local support in your area. Sometimes, 
it’s comforting to know what help is available.  

Be realistic
When someone is dependent on alcohol, the need to drink 
becomes so important that they may hurt and upset people 
they love. Promises are often made that are not kept. This 
can be very difficult for everyone in the family and feelings 
of being let down are common. It is important to look after 
yourself first. Sometimes this may mean distancing yourself 
from the drinker.

“Thank you for the information. I come back from time 
to time, to remember it’s not just me. I am not to 
blame and I am not alone.” Tracey, 19

0800 358 3456 helpline@nacoa.org.uknacoa.org.uk

P
age 15



Information 
for people 
affected by 
their parent’s 
drinking

The National Association 
for Children of Alcoholics

The National Association 
for Children of Alcoholics

nacoa.org.uk Registered Charity No: 1009143
FREE Helpline 0800 358 3456
helpline@nacoa.org.uk

Nacoa was founded in 1990 to address the problems faced 
by children growing up in families where one or both parents 
suffer from alcoholism or a similar addictive problem. This 
includes children of all ages, many of whose problems only 
become apparent in adulthood.

Nacoa’s aims
•	 To offer information, advice and support to children of 

alcohol-dependent parents

•	 To reach professionals working with them

•	 To raise their profile in the public consciousness

•	 To promote research into the problems they face 
and the prevention of alcoholism developing in this 
vulnerable group

Our services are funded by voluntary donations. Please 
support this vital work by becoming a member, volunteering 
or making a donation. Together we can make a difference.

Text HELP21 followed by the amount (£10, £5 or £3) to 
70070 or visit nacoa.org.uk/getinvolved

“Finding someone I felt comfortable talking to was the 
beginning of everything changing for me. Without your 
help, I could have spent the rest of my life watching 
Mum drink herself to death. Now I know there is help 
for Mum and for me.” Paul, 15

Patrons
Tony Adams MBE • Olly Barkley • Calum Best

Lauren Booth • Geraldine James OBE • Elle Macpherson 

Suzanne Stafford CQSW • David Yelland

Helpline:	 0800 358 3456 helpline@nacoa.org.uk
Post: 	 PO Box 64, Bristol BS16 2UH
Admin: 	 0117 924 8005 admin@nacoa.org.uk
Website: 	nacoa.org.uk

Ways to feel better
Talk to someone you trust
Talking about how you feel is not being disloyal to your 
family and can help you to feel less alone. At Nacoa we 
understand the problems you’re going through. Sometimes, 
simply talking or writing to someone can help.

Make time for yourself 
You are important. Find time for things that interest you. 
Sometimes worries take over, and taking even a short break 
can help.

Understand that your feelings are normal
It’s OK to hate the problems that alcoholism can cause, yet 
love the person who is drinking. Alcohol problems in the 
family often result in complicated, confusing and upsetting 
feelings. 

Read people’s experiences on our website
Hearing about other people’s life experiences often helps us 
to make sense of our own situation and feelings. Although 
every family is unique, there are many similarities in how 
alcohol problems affect the family.

Access other sources of support
The Nacoa helpline is here for you. We can also research 
services in your area that may be helpful. You may find the 
following organisations of interest:

•	 ACA – Support group for adults who have grown up in 
alcoholic families (adultchildrenofalcoholics.co.uk)

•	 Al-Anon Family Groups – Support for people affected 
by someone else’s drinking (al-anonuk.org.uk)

•	 BACP – Information about counselling and how to find 
a counsellor (itsgoodtotalk.org.uk) 

•	 COAP – Online forum for young people affected by a 
parent’s addiction (coap.org.uk)

“I look upon discovering Nacoa as nothing short of 
a miracle, the information and support you provide 
paving the way to a new life, a fresh start and to 
leave behind over forty years of unhappiness, pain and 
tension.” Cathy, 43

P
age 16



 Children & Young People Scrutiny Commission 

 28th February 2022 

 Item 5 - Children’s Social Care Annual Report 

 Item No 

 5 
 Outline 
 A report on the activity of the Children and Families Service is provided 
 bi-annually to the Commission. This report details activity for the 12 month period 
 April 2020-March 2021, and the 6 month period April 2021-Sept 2021. 

 -  Jacquie Burke, Group Director of Children and Education 
 -  Diane Benjamin, Director of Children’s Social Care 

 Reports 
 -  Children and Families Annual Report 2020/21 

 Action  : 
 Members of the Commission are invited to review the attached report and ask 
 questions of officers present. 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 Report Title:  Children and Families Service Annual Report 2020-2021 

 Meeting for:  Children & Young People Scrutiny Commission 

 Date:  28th February 2022 

 Produced by:  Diane Benjamin, Director of Children’s Social Care 

 Authorised by:  Jacquie Burke, Director of Children and Families 

 Report Summary 
 The  Children  and  Families  Service  (CFS)  Annual  Report  is  shared  to  update  elected 
 councillors  on  developments  and  key  performance  trends  within  the  Children  and  Families 
 Service  in  Hackney  during  2020-2021.  The  report  has  been  tabled  for  discussion  at  the 
 Children and Young People Scrutiny Commission. 

 Overview of developments and areas of note: 
 ●  Hackney  Council  experienced  a  service-wide  cyber  attack  in  October  2020  that 

 significantly  disrupted  services  across  the  board,  including  the  Children  and  Families 
 Service.  Alongside  the  challenges  of  the  continued  Covid-19  pandemic,  the  service 
 adapted  to  working  with  this  adversity,  and  continued  to  offer  support  to  Hackney 
 children and families. 

 ●  In  July  2020,  the  Children  and  Families  Services  committed  to  create  and  implement 
 the  anti-racist  action  plan,  including  the  Anti-Racist  Position  Statement  which 
 demonstrates  the  plan  to  improve  the  experience  of  the  children  and  families  of 
 Hackney  who  are  disproportionately  affected  by  racism,  as  well  as  the  experience 
 and  progression  of  staff.  In  June  2021,  a  new  Diversity  and  Inclusion  Lead  started  in 
 role  in  the  Children  and  Families  Service,  who  steers  the  work  of  the  anti-racist  action 
 plan. 

 ●  Throughout  2020/21,  there  have  been  a  number  of  changes  to  senior  leadership 
 impacting  on  the  Children  and  Families  Service.  A  stable  senior  management  team  is 
 now  in  place:  the  new  permanent  Director  of  Children’s  Social  Care  started  in  June 
 2021,  the  new  Group  Director  for  Children  and  Education  started  in  August  2021,  and 
 the  new  Chief  Executive  started  in  October  2021.  Within  the  Children  and  Families 
 Service,  a  new  permanent  Head  of  Corporate  Parenting  was  appointed  in  October 
 2021. 

 ●  In  May  2021,  Hackney  Youth  Justice  Service  participated  in  a  HM  Inspectorate  of 
 Probation  thematic  inspection  on  the  theme  of  the  experiences  of  black  and  mixed 
 heritage  boys  in  the  youth  justice  system.  Inspectors  named  Hackney  as  a  good 
 practice  example  for  the  effective  use  of  data  to  assess  the  quality  and  impact  of 
 service  delivery  for  this  cohort  of  boys,  and  were  positive  about  our  practice  in  this 
 area.  However,  overall  inspectors  found  “significant  deficits”  in  the  quality  of  work 
 conducted  nationally  by  youth  offending  services  and  partner  agencies  with  black 
 and  mixed  heritage  boys,  noting  the  disproportionate  numbers  of  black  and  mixed 
 heritage  boys  in  the  youth  offending  service.  We  are  continuing  to  learn  and  improve 
 our services based on the findings of this national thematic inspection. 

 ●  In  July  2021,  Ofsted  undertook  a  two-day  focused  visit  in  Hackney  on  the  theme  of 
 arrangements  for  Children  in  Need,  and  children  supported  by  a  Child  Protection 
 Plan.  They  found  evidence  of  dedicated  scrutiny  by  senior  leaders  and  strengthened 
 management  oversight,  that  risk  to  children  is  understood  and  responded  to 
 appropriately,  and  clear  planning  and  decision-making  provide  direction  and  clarity  to 

Page 19



 our  work.  Most  importantly,  inspectors  found  that  children  are  safe.  The  service 
 continues  to  work  towards  achieving  consistently  good  practice  to  meet  our 
 aspiration  to  provide  good  and  outstanding  services  for  the  children  and  families  in 
 Hackney. 

 Key performance information: 
 ●  2,930  referrals  were  received  in  2020/21,  a  42%  decrease  from  5,031  received  in  the 

 previous year 
 ●  3,858  social  work  assessments  were  completed,  a  22%  decrease  from  the  4,923 

 completed in 2019/20. 
 ●  237  children  were  supported  on  Child  Protection  Plans  as  at  31st  March  2021,  a  3% 

 decrease compared to 245 children at the same time in 2020. 
 ●  An  estimated  total  of  6,179  young  people  accessed  universal  services  offered 

 through  Young  Hackney  during  2020/21,  based  on  58,047  named  and  anonymous 
 attendances.  This  reflected  a  reduction  of  72%  of  named  individuals  accessing 
 Young  Hackney  Universal  services  from  2019/20,  linked  to  pandemic  lockdown 
 periods. 

 ●  426  children  were  looked  after  as  at  31st  March  2021,  a  1%  decrease  from  432 
 children at the same time the previous year. 

 ●  182  children  entered  care  during  2020/21,  a  21%  decrease  from  229  children  in 
 2019/20. 

 ●  72  young  people  aged  between  14  and  17  entered  care  in  2020/21,  a  large  decrease 
 compared  to  119  young  people  from  this  cohort  entering  care  in  2019/20.  This 
 represented  40%  of  the  total  number  of  children  who  entered  care  in  2020/21, 
 compared to 52% in 2019/20. 

 ●  10%  of  looked  after  children  had  three  or  more  care  arrangements  in  2020/21, 
 compared to 12% in 2019/20. 

 ●  77%  of  children  who  have  been  looked  after  for  more  than  2.5  years  were  in  stable 
 care  arrangements  of  more  than  2  years  in  2020/21,  an  improvement  from  64%  in 
 2019/20. 

 ●  376  care  leavers  aged  between  17  and  21  were  being  supported  by  the  Leaving  Care 
 service  at  31  March  2021,  a  12%  increase  compared  to  335  at  the  same  point  in 
 2020. 

 The Children and Families Service priorities for 2020-2021: 
 ●  Proud  to  be  Hackney:  We  will  reset  the  Practice  Model  for  Hackney  Children's 

 Services,  so  it  describes  a  whole  system  approach  to  supporting  children  and 
 families.  The  refreshed  vision  of  practice  will  describe  our  values  and  principles.  It  will 
 outline  how  children  and  families  can  expect  to  be  supported  from  education,  and/or 
 early  help,  right  through  to  leaving  care  or  transition  to  adult  services.  Every 
 practitioner  will  employ  a  systemic  approach  as  a  way  of  understanding  the  lived 
 experience  of  our  children  and  families.  We  will  focus  on  relationships  and  work 
 collaboratively.  We  will  always  recognise  that  individuals  are  embedded  in  their  social 
 context  and  remain  curious  about  this.  This  practice  model  will  enable  us  all  to 
 understand  our  roles  and  responsibilities  as  part  of  a  wider  system  supporting 
 Hackney children. It will focus on making a difference for every child. 

 ●  Proud  to  keep  children  safe  and  listen  to  children  and  families  in  the  shaping  of 
 our  services:  Our  practice  will  ensure  that  the  voices  of  children  and  their  loved 
 ones  will  shape  the  multi-agency  plans  of  support  that  are  offered  to  them.  We  will 
 strengthen  our  commitment  to  ensuring  that  all  children  and  families  have  the 
 opportunity  to  share  their  experiences  with  us,  in  order  to  inform  the  strategic 
 development of our services. 

 ●  Proud  to  work  with  partner  agencies  to  help  children  and  families  get  the  right 
 support  at  the  right  time:  We  will  support  the  ongoing  development  of  a  culture 
 within  Hackney  where  we  work  collaboratively  to  hear  the  voices  of  children  and 

Page 20



 families,  with  the  aim  of  co-creating  solutions  as  a  partnership  to  meet  children’s 
 needs.  We  will  hear  and  be  appreciative  of  multiple  professionals’  perspectives  and 
 voices  about  how  children's  needs  can  best  be  met,  and  ensure  as  a  partnership  that 
 we are clear on our roles, responsibilities and associated powers. 

 ●  Proud  to  work  with  partners  to  improve  safety  for  adolescents  in  the 
 community  :  We  will  foster  trusted  relationships  with  young  people,  within  which  they 
 will  experience  safety  in  the  context  of  their  families,  peer  groups,  schools  and 
 neighbourhoods.  Young  people  in  Hackney  will  achieve  positive  outcomes,  agency 
 and  independence  as  a  result  of  responsive  support  and  engagement,  which  is 
 informed by knowledge of adolescent development and contextual safeguarding. 

 ●  Proud  to  be  Anti-Racist:  Our  leadership  and  practice  will  address  racism, 
 discrimination  and  disproportionality  in  the  experiences  of  children  and  families,  and 
 of  our  staff  in  the  workplace,  whilst  also  seeking  to  influence  the  broader  context  of 
 children and family’s lives. 

 ●  Proud  to  promote  a  learning  culture  focused  on  outcomes  for  children,  where 
 great  practice  can  flourish:  Our  Quality  Assurance  Framework  and  Workforce 
 Development  Strategy  are  inextricably  linked,  enabling  us  to  become  an  organisation 
 that  focuses  upon  learning  and  development  -  quality  assurance  activities  are 
 embedded  across  the  service  at  all  levels  and  drive  practice  improvement,  with  a 
 strong  commitment  to  feedback  mechanisms  to  support  learning,  promoting 
 consistently good or better practice to achieve best outcomes for our children 

 ●  Proud  to  support  our  workforce  to  do  their  very  best  for  children  in  Hackney: 
 We  recognise  that  having  a  skilled,  resilient,  stable  and  engaged  workforce,  equipped 
 with  the  tools  they  need  to  do  their  jobs  well,  is  crucial  to  achieving  the  best  possible 
 outcomes  for  children.  We  acknowledge  that  this  requires  a  relentless  focus  on  the 
 recruitment,  development  and  retention  of  staff.  We  want  to  demonstrate  that  we  are 
 proud  of  our  staff,  and  want  them  to  be  proud  of  working  for  Hackney’s  children.  We 
 hope  to  promote  Hackney  as  a  great  place  to  build  a  career  working  with  children  and 
 families. 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



black
11 mm clearance 
all sides

white
11 mm clearance 
all sides

CMYK
11 mm clearance 
all sides

Annual 
Report  
2020/21

CHILDREN  
& FAMILIES

Working for every child

P
age 23



2

Contents
Foreword by Cllr Bramble 4

Key data about the Children and Families Service 6

Priorities for the year ahead 7

The Experiences and Progress of Children Who Need 
Help and Protection

9

Early Help 10

Early Help Review 10

Young Hackney 10

Youth Justice 12

Domestic Abuse Intervention Service 14

Identifying and responding to children’s needs and 
appropriate thresholds

16

Front Door Review and development of MASH 16

Revised Hackney Child Wellbeing Framework 18

Contacts, referrals and assessments 19

Local Area Designated Officer 22

Making good decisions and providing effective help 23

Strategy Discussions 23

Children supported through Child Protection Plans 25

Public Law Outline (PLO) and court proceedings 28

Clinical Support 29

Participation and direct work with children  
and families

31

Identifying and responding to all types of  
abuse recognising the vulnerability of specific groups  
of children

34

Context Intervention Unit 34

Neglect 35

Disabled Children’s Service 35

Private Fostering 36

Vulnerable children in education 36

Children missing education 37

The Experiences and Progress of Children in Care and 
Care Leavers

38

Making good decisions for children 39

Information about our looked after children 39

Fostering Service 42

2

Children supported through Child Protection Plans

P
age 24



3

Participation and direct work with children in  
care and care leavers

44

Helping and protecting looked after children 45

Independent Chairs and Looked After Child Reviews 45

Health of looked after children 47

Learning 49

Stability and permanence 51

Care arrangement stability 51

Adoption 53

Care Leavers and transitions 54

The Impact of Leaders on Social Work Practice with 
Children and Families 

58

Strategic Leadership 59

Driving improvement 59

Changes to Hackney model of social work 59

Anti-Racist Practice 61

Workforce and caseloads 63

Staff wellbeing 63

Workforce data 65

Learning culture 67

Continuing to strengthen our approach to  
Quality Assurance

67

Financial Update 70

P
age 25



4

Foreword  
Councillor Anntoinette Bramble

Deputy Mayor and Cabinet Member 
for Education, Young People and 

Children’s Social Care

It gives me great pleasure to 
introduce the Children and Families 
Service annual report for 2020/21. 

This has been a challenging year 
marked by the Covid 19 pandemic, 
the impact of the criminal cyber 
attack in October 2020 and 
significant changes in leadership. 
The Hackney Children and Families 
workforce has shown great 
resilience, making a difference to 
the lives of vulnerable children whilst 
constantly focusing on learning and 
improving practice.

The Covid-19 pandemic significantly 
impacted how we worked with 
children and their families over the 
last eighteen months. Overnight on 
23rd March 2020, schools closed to 
most pupils, much of the Children 
and Families Service became 
‘virtual’ and staff and multi-agency 
colleagues found new ways to work 
under national lockdown. I have 
seen our staff work tirelessly to 
maintain meaningful and effective 
relationships with children and 

families, to provide additional 
support to domestic abuse victims, 
to ensure children continued to 
receive free school meals and 
that those in need were provided 
with internet access or devices to 
continue their education remotely. 
The progression of the vaccination 
programme has meant key workers 
in Hackney were able to resume 
all face to face statutory visits to 
children in March 2021, and from 
July 2021 the Children and Families 
Service has returned to using the 
office space on a rota basis. 

Hackney Council was the victim of 
a serious cyberattack in October 
2020. For the Children and Families 
Service, the attack meant that 
the social care management 
system (Mosaic) and document 
management systems (Comino 
and eDOCS) were unavailable. 
We took immediate steps to 
safeguard and support children 
and families including working 
closely with partner agencies to 
gather essential information. We 

also took immediate action so 
that practitioners could continue 
to record their work from the 
first day of the cyberattack and 
we have built an interim social 
care recording system. We rebuilt 
our live performance reporting 
system (Qliksense) and with our 
ICT colleagues worked to recover 
information from our historic 
records. A read-only version of 
Mosaic has been available from 
June 2021 and the aim is for all case 
recording to be completed on a new 
Mosaic system from April 2022. 

We continue to recognise that 
racism and oppression remains 
prevalent in Britain today and 
is systemic and endemic across 
society. In July 2020, Children and 
Families Services committed to 
create and implement our anti-
racist action plan. Our Anti-Racist 
Position Statement makes clear the 
journey we need to take as a service 
to improve the experience of the 
children and families of Hackney 
who are disproportionately affected 

by racism, as well as the experience 
and progression of staff. A new 
Diversity and Inclusion Lead started 
in role in the Children and Families 
Service in June 2021, and this role 
will steer and champion the work of 
the anti-racist action plan. 

Throughout 2020/21 there have 
been a number of changes to 
senior leadership impacting on the 
Children and Families Service. A 
stable senior management team is 
now in place: the new permanent 
Director of Children’s Social Care 
started in June 2021, with the 
new Group Director for Children 
and Education starting in August 
2021 and a new Chief Executive 
starting in October 2021. Within 
the Children and Families Service, a 
new permanent Head of Corporate 
Parenting was appointed in October 
2021. 

In May 2021, Hackney Youth 
Justice Service participated in a 
HM Inspectorate of Probation 
thematic inspection on the theme 

4

P
age 26



55

work. Most importantly, inspectors 
found that children are safe. We 
welcome this feedback, the advice 
on where to strengthen our practice 
and the recognition that we are on 
a positive journey of improvement. 
We know that we have further work 
to do to achieve consistently good 
practice to meet our aspiration 
to provide good and outstanding 
services for our children and families 
in Hackney. 

As we reflect on the past year I once 
again find myself inspired by the 
tireless work of all those who make 
up the Children and Families Service. 
In the face of a global pandemic 
and a cyberattack, often battling 
challenging personal circumstances, 

the service has continued to strive 
for excellent outcomes for the 
children and families of Hackney, 
keeping them at the heart of all  
our work.

As we consider the coming year  
I am excited by the prospect of  
our continued journey of 
improvement with a stable and 
dedicated senior management team 
and our highly skilled workforce. Our 
new improvement plan is focusing 
on our aspirations for the service,  
really hearing the child’s voice, a  
self knowing and confident service 
and practice that is manifestly  
anti-racist. 

youth offending service, this points 
us to look across the system and at 
the help and support we could be 
offering at a much earlier stage. We 
are continuing to learn and improve 
our services based on the findings of 
this national thematic inspection.

In July 2021, Ofsted undertook a 
two-day focused visit in Hackney 
on the theme of arrangements 
for children in need or subject to a 
child protection plan. They found 
evidence of dedicated scrutiny by 
senior leaders and strengthened 
management oversight, that risk 
to children is understood and 
responded to appropriately, and 
clear planning and decision-making 
provide direction and clarity to our 

of the experiences of black and 
mixed heritage boys in the youth 
justice system. Overall inspectors 
found “significant deficits” in the 
quality of work conducted nationally 
by youth offending services and 
partner agencies with black and 
mixed heritage boys and made 
a total of 18 recommendations. 
However, Inspectors named 
Hackney as a good practice example 
for the effective use of data to 
assess the quality and impact of 
service delivery for this cohort of 
boys and were positive about our 
practice in this area during their 
verbal feedback to senior leaders. 
It is painful to read about the 
disproportionate numbers of black 
and mixed heritage boys in the 

P
age 27



6

Key data about the Children and 
Families Service

182 children entered care during 2020/21, a 
21% decrease from 229 children in 2019/20. 
 
72 young people aged between 14 and 17 
entered care in 2020/21, a large decrease  
compared to 119 young people from this cohort 
entering care in 2019/20. This represented 40% of the 
total number of children who entered care in 2020/21, 
compared to 52% in 2019/20.  
 
10% of looked after children had three or 
more care arrangements in 2020/21, compared 
to 12% in 2019/20. 
 
77% of children who have been looked 
after for more than 2.5 years were in stable 
care arrangements of more than 2 years in 
2020/21, an improvement from 64% in 2019/20. 
 
376 care leavers aged between 17 and 21 were 
being supported by the Leaving Care service at 
31 March 2021, a 12% increase compared to 335 
at the same point in 2020. 

6

2,930 referrals were received in 2020/21, a 42% 
decrease from 5,031 received in the previous year. 
 
3,858 social work assessments were completed,  
a 22% decrease from the 4,923 completed in 2019/20. 
 

237 children were supported on Child Protection 
Plans as at 31 March 2021, a 3% decrease compared 
to 245 children at the same time in 2020.  
 

An estimated total of 6,179 young people 
accessed universal services offered through 
Young Hackney during 2020/21, based on 58,047 
named and anonymous attendances. This reflected a 
reduction of 72% of named individuals accessing Young 
Hackney Universal services from 2019/20, linked to 
pandemic lockdown periods. 

426 children were looked after as at 31 March 
2021, a 1% decrease from 432 children at the same time 
the previous year. 

P
age 28



7

Priorities for the year ahead
1. Proud to be Hackney: We will reset the Practice 
Model for Hackney Children’s Services, so it 
describes a whole system approach to supporting 
children and families. The refreshed vision of 
practice will describe our values and principles. It 
will outline how children and families can expect 
to be supported from education, early help right 
through to leaving care or transition to adult 
services. Every practitioner will employ a systemic 
approach as a way of understanding the lived 
experience of our children and families. We will 
focus on relationships and work collaboratively. 
We will always recognise that individuals are 
embedded in their social context and remain 
curious about this. This practice model will enable 
us all to understand our roles and responsibilities 
as part of a wider system supporting Hackney 
children. It will focus on making a difference for 
every child.

2. Proud to keep children safe and listen to 
children and families in the shaping of our 
services: Our practice will ensure that the voices of 
children and their loved ones will shape the multi-
agency plans of support that are offered to them. 
We will strengthen our commitment to ensuring 
that all children and families have the opportunity 
to share their experiences with us, in order to 
inform the strategic development of our services.

3. Proud to work with partner agencies to help 
children and families get the right support 
at the right time: We will support the ongoing 
development of a culture within Hackney where 
we work collaboratively to hear the voices of 
children and families with the aim of co-creating 
solutions as a partnership to meet children’s 
needs in order to improve outcomes for children. 
We will hear and be appreciative of multiple 
professionals’ perspectives and voices about 
how children’s needs can best be met and ensure 
as a partnership that we are clear on our roles, 
responsibilities and associated powers. 

4. Proud to work with partners to improve 
safety for adolescents in the community: We 
will foster trusted relationships with young 
people within which they will experience safety 
in the context of their families, peer groups, 
schools and neighbourhoods. Young people in 
Hackney will achieve positive outcomes, agency 
and independence as a result of responsive 
support and engagement informed by knowledge 
of adolescent development and contextual 
safeguarding.

7

P
age 29



88

5. Proud to be Anti-Racist: Our leadership and 
practice will address racism and discrimination 
leading to disproportionality in the experiences 
of our children and families and of our staff in 
the workplace whilst also seeking to influence the 
broader context of our children and families lives 

6. Proud to promote a learning culture focused 
on outcomes for children, where great practice 
can flourish: Our Quality Assurance Framework 
and Workforce Development Strategy are 
inextricably linked enabling us to become an 
organisation that focuses upon learning and 
development-quality assurance activities are 
embedded across the service at all levels and drive 
practice improvement with a strong commitment 
to feedback mechanisms to support learning, 
promote consistently good or better practice 
achieve best outcomes for our children

7. Proud to support our workforce to do their 
very best for children in Hackney: We recognise 
that having a skilled, resilient, stable and engaged 
workforce, equipped with the tools they need to 
do their jobs well, is crucial to achieving the best 
possible outcomes for children. We acknowledge 
that this requires a relentless focus on the 
recruitment, development and retention of staff. 
We want to demonstrate that we are proud of our 
staff and want them to be proud of working for 
Hackney’s children. We hope to promote Hackney 
as a great place to build a career working with 
children and families.

P
age 30



9

The Experiences and Progress of  
Children Who Need Help and Protection 

We are proud of our response to the challenges of the Covid-19 pandemic; 
with services and practice adapting to meet the needs of our children and 
families in this period. We have re-modelled our ‘front door’, launching the 
Hackney MASH in July 2021. This change has provided clarity of thresholds 
for partners and our own practitioners with more families accessing early  
help more quickly. We have improved the timeliness of our assessments 
as well as clearer management oversight and quicker decision making for 

children. This means that children are more likely to get access to early 
help quicker, will only be subjects of statutory plans when necessary and 
increasingly or the appropriate length of time to ensure their needs are 
met. There is good work taking place across the service but our focus is on 
ensuring consistency of support to all of our children and families. There 
is more work to do to ensure the quality of plans and that children’s case 
records are up to date, including records of visits to children. 

“We are proud of our response 
to the challenges of the 
Covid-19 pandemic...”

P
age 31



10

Young Hackney is the Council’s early help, prevention and diversion service 
for children and young people aged 6-19 years old and up to 25 years if the 
young person has a special education need or disability. The service works 
with young people to support their development and transition to adulthood 
by intervening early to address adolescent risk, develop prosocial behaviours 
and build resilience. 

An estimated total of 6,179 young people accessed universal services 
offered through Young Hackney during 2020/21, based on named and 
anonymous attendances. This reflected a reduction of 72% of named 
individuals accessing Young Hackney Universal services from 2019/20 when 
22,787 named individuals accessed Young Hackney provision. This reduction 
is due to the impact of the pandemic and associated restrictions; including 
social distancing measures and school closures. Youth Hubs were closed in 
line with Government requirements and re-opened when they were able 
to, with appropriate measures in place. There were 58,047 attendances 
by named children and young people aged 6-19 years during 2020/21, 
compared to 170,780 during 2019/20 at the wider youth provision delivered 
through Young Hackney and commissioned services for young people. This 
has increased for the first 6 months of 2021/22 with 63,351 attendances 
from April-September 2021 recorded. To support covid messaging, 
intervene in contexts of harm and to support emotional wellbeing, Young 
Hackney conducted regular detached outreach work (10 sessions per week) 
throughout the pandemic. A ‘virtual youth hub’ offering activities and 

Early Help 

Young Hackney

1
2 3

Early Help Review
In 2019 it was agreed by senior officers and councillors that a review of 
Hackney Council’s internal Early Help model should be undertaken. This 
review was intended to give confidence that Hackney’s Early Help model is  
still fit for purpose and that it will continue to be so in the coming years. 
The review covers Early Years and Children’s Centres, Young Hackney and 
the Family Support Service. The review was paused for a period of 6 months 
due to the impact of the pandemic, with activity resuming in January 2021. 
The review has identified short, medium and long term priorities which will 
be brought to Cabinet in January 2022. As part of the preparation for the 
delivery of these priorities, and to strengthen the front door identification 
of risk, the Context Intervention Unit has moved into the Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding Hub (MASH). In addition to this the three Children in  
Need Family Support Units from the Family Intervention and Support 
Service have moved across to the Early Help Family Support Service.

P
age 32



11

support operated during lockdowns when national guidance restricted group 
activities.

Young Hackney delivered targeted support to 1,834 young people in 
2020/21, a 28% increase compared to the 1,434 interventions delivered in 
2019/20. The average number of days that children and their families were 
supported by Young Hackney as at 1st April 2021 was 216 days, a higher 
average than a year ago of 189 days. This increase may be a reflection of 
the impact of the pandemic and associated restrictions, and the challenges 

of undertaking direct work with young people as frequently as was possible 
when restrictions were not in place.

Audits of the Young Hackney Service undertaken in April 2021 reviewing 
case recordings indicate that practice requires improvement, with key 
decisions generally recorded on file, unit meeting minutes generally up to 
date, and decision-making forum key minutes on file. Auditors found well-
recorded discussions with managers on file, although in general recording 
required improvement.

The Early Help Review will strengthen our learning about the 
impact of our early help work around a clear quality assurance 
framework. Feedback about the service is gathered from children 
and families. Some highlights over the past year include:

•  ��“Thank you for all the support. I really enjoyed our meetings 
and having a safe time to talk about things that were bothering 
me. You helped me to be myself and not worry about getting 
into trouble for saying how I felt. You have also helped me to 
think why getting good GCSEs is important and my future.” 
Feedback from a young person about their Young  
Hackney worker

•  ��“It was a good experience to be able to build trust and speak 
with professionals, because sometimes things can be hard to 
keep to yourself.” Feedback from a young person about  
Young Hackney support

•  ����“It helped to make amends and with my feelings and stuff I 
have been through. I have learnt so much more now than I ever 
have and I didn’t think I would receive the help I did from you. 
I liked talking to someone about what’s going on in my head, 
I feel like it really helped, as I did not have someone outside of 

family to do that with.” Feedback from a young person about 
Prevention and Diversion support

•  ��“All the support, I never got the support with school until you 
came along, when you weren’t here, me and my Mum were 
struggling, but then you helped that. Relationship has massively 
improved with my Mum, thanks to you. Like it helped me with 
my emotions, made me feel calm, stay out of trouble and be 
a better person.” Feedback from a young person about their 
Prevention and Diversion worker

•  �� ��“Our Young Hackney worker has been a godsend, she supported 
us and worked wonders with my child, she has also been a great 
support to me in many moments in which I was discouraged 
she gave me precious advice, she became kind of part of my 
family. My child is now doing very well, he matured a lot and 
I think Young Hackney has played a very important role in his 
life supporting and listening to him. Our Young Hackney worker 
managed to gain his trust and my child opened up to her and 
he knew he could count on her at times he needed. I cannot be 
grateful enough for the support our Young Hackney worker has 
given us both.” A parent’s feedback about their Young  
Hackney worker

Evidence of Impact

P
age 33



12

 Youth Justice
The Youth Justice Service works with all young people in Hackney who are 
arrested or convicted of crimes and undertakes youth justice work including 
bail and remand supervision and supervising young people who have been 
given community or custodial sentences. Young people are supported by 
a multi-agency team including a Forensic Psychologist, the Virtual School, 
Speech and Language Therapists, the Police, a Nurse, Probation Services, a 
Substance Misuse Worker and a Dealing Officer.

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

No. of first time entrants to Youth 
Justice system in Hackney 82 88 79

The overall number of young people entering the youth justice system for 
the first time in Hackney in 2020/21 was 79, a decrease from 88 young 
people in 2019/20. This reduction in numbers has largely been influenced 
by the pandemic and associated lockdowns which has seen a reduction in 
overall conviction rates across London, as well as lengthy waits at all stages 
of the criminal justice process across the country. With courts returning to 
some normality of process in recent months, Hackney has seen a return to 
pre-lockdown rates of first time entrants to the youth justice system, with 
38 first time entrants during April-September 2021. However, Hackney’s 
first time entrant rate remains below the rates seen by comparator youth 
offending teams according to most recently available data. 

The most recent national reoffending figures for Hackney relate to October 
2018 to September 2019. The Covid-19 pandemic had impacted the Youth 
Justice Board’s ability to access the Police National Database. The average 
number of re-offences per child who reoffends for England and Wales is 3.8; 
in Hackney this is 2.6. We assess this comparatively strong performance as 

•  ����“I felt that my Young Hackney worker was always very 
supportive and attended the most important meetings around 
my son’s education. It’s thanks to them that my son got the 
diagnoses finally, the worker was very persistent with the school 
and external services. She always tried to make contact with 
my son and built a good relationship with him, she was a very 
good spokesperson for him and always understood what I was 
going through as a mother. She was encouraging and praised 
my efforts a lot which really enforced my parenting. I’m very 
thankful to Young Hackney for their support during some 
difficult times.” Feedback from a young person’s mother about 
her Young Hackney worker

•  ��“The Young Hackney worker has gone out of his way to 
support both me and my daughter. I have appreciated his 
offer to follow-up things for me and really valued the time he 
has offered to listen to me. The Young Hackney worker has 
consistently been there for my daughter, which has been having 
a positive impact on her. I feel like the Young Hackney worker 
genuinely cares for my daughter’s well-being, and I was very 
grateful and thankful for having him as part of our support 
network.” Feedback from a young person’s parent about their 
Young Hackney worker

•  ��“ I would just like to thank you for your time, I have seen 
so many better things since your work with him, so thank 
you thank you thank you.” A parent’s feedback about their 
Prevention and Diversion worker

P
age 34



13

being related to the strategic, management and practice approaches taken 
across Hackney by the local authority and its partners.

94% of the young people referred to the Youth Justice Prevention and 
Diversion Team via Triage in 2020/21 were successfully diverted from 
becoming first time entrants to the youth justice system. However, early help 
for young people at risk of becoming involved in crime is still not effective 
enough at preventing the most serious youth crime: the small number of 
young people referred to the Prevention and Diversion Team  
from Triage who have gone on to enter the youth justice system have in 
many cases faced extremely serious charges against them. The number of 
youth diversion work referrals that the Prevention and Diversion Team is 
receiving from the police experienced a slight increase from 117 in 2019/20 
to 127 in 2020/21.

In May 2021, Hackney Youth Justice Service participated in a HMI Probation 

thematic inspection on the theme of the experiences of black and mixed 
heritage boys in the youth justice system. Inspectors considered Hackney’s 
Out of Court Disposal work a strength, with black and mixed heritage 
boys successfully diverted from Court. Inspectors were also impressed by 
Hackney’s assessment tool (created following a Youth Justice Board peer 
review in 2019) which considers structural disadvantage. Hackney was 
cited as a good practice example in the thematic inspection report for the 
effective use of data to assess the quality and impact of service delivery. 
There were recommendations for all Youth Offending Teams to improve 
practice in this area, and the Hackney Youth Justice Service will be focusing 
on further developing the Service’s existing reducing disproportionality 
action plan.This includes working to develop the deferred prosecution 
scheme; developing trauma informed and anti-racist practice within the 
partnership and improving parental engagement and the voice of the child.

In December 2021, HMI Probation published the ‘Effective  
practice guide - Black and mixed heritage boys in the youth justice 
system Based on: A thematic inspection of the experiences of black 
and mixed heritage boys in the youth justice system’. Hackney  
Youth Justice Service was used as an example of effectiveness  
for tackling disproportionality in stop and searches and in  
out-of-court-disposals. The foundation for these approaches was a 
solid evidence base to enable it to understand disparity and over-
representation in terms of ethnicity but also vulnerability - where 
children were in care or subject to child protection processes. 

Stop and search  
Hackney Young Futures Commission (2,400 young people aged 
10-25 in Hackney were consulted about their experience of life 

in Hackney) found that young people were concerned about 
the approach to stop and searches in Hackney. The Safer Young 
Hackney Strategic Board raised this and the Police Chief Inspector 
agreed to audit searches in May 2020. 74 searches were reviewed 
and showed that officers were not always following the expected 
procedure and that recording could be improved. As a result of 
this, the supervisors of those officers were contacted with the 
review findings, and the Chief Inspector asked the learning and 
training division to revisit stop and search training with the results 
of this audit. This “allowed a much more open conversation about 
searches, and Youth Offending Service practitioners are now much 
more likely to advocate on behalf of the children, asking the police 
to review cases and, if necessary, support complaints.”

Evidence of Impact

P
age 35



14

 Domestic Abuse Intervention Service
The Domestic Abuse Intervention Service (DAIS) works with anyone 
experiencing domestic abuse who is living in Hackney, aged 16 or over, 
of any sex and gender, and of any sexual orientation. The service works 
with clients and partner agencies to assess and reduce risk and offers an 
assertive, interventionist, social-work-informed approach to protecting 
victims from harm, using the Safe and Together model which aims to reduce 
the necessity for the removal of children into care by holding perpetrators to 
account for their behaviour and

protecting survivors of domestic abuse. The service also intervenes with 
perpetrators of domestic abuse to reduce the risk they pose. The service 
leads within the Council and across the partnership on Eliminating Violence 
Against Women and Girls and on providing and developing Hackney’s Multi 
Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) for ‘high risk’ cases and 
delivers training also to partner agencies. 

Following an initial rise of up to 60% in referrals at the beginning of the 
Covid restrictions period, referral numbers to DAIS fluctuated then stabilised 
over the course of 2020/21. The average weekly number of referrals across 
2020/21 was 26, slightly above the weekly pre-Covid rate of 25 cases per 
week. From April 2021 to November 2021 there has been an average weekly 
referral rate of 25 cases. 

The fortnightly MARAC (Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference) is a 
multi-agency meeting to discuss and take action on cases of domestic 
abuse where there is a ‘high risk’ of death or serious injury. Numbers have 
continued to rise during and following the Covid restrictions. 2020/21 
saw a total of 595 cases discussed at MARAC, an increase of 21% on 
the 492 cases heard in 2019/20. If the rate from April - September 2021 
is maintained across the remainder of this year, there will be 734 cases 
heard, an increase of 23% on 2020/21. This will represent a 49% increase 
in two years of high-risk domestic abuse being identified. The MARAC has 
continued throughout and since the Covid restrictions period to operate 
successfully, moving immediately to an online fortnightly meeting. Police, 
the Council and partner agencies have found the online forum to be 

Out of court disposals 
Hackney Youth Justice Service performs well compared to the 
national trend of underrepresentation of ethnic minority children 
in Youth Offending Team out-of-court cohorts. This is in part due 
to a considered out-of-court disposal assessment, developed by 
Young Hackney, the Youth Justice Service, the speech and language 
team. This is also supported by clear communication materials 
with children and their families - HMI Probation thanked Hackney 
for sharing these key documents as a good practice example 
for the practice guide. The other key aspects of the approach in 
Hackney include strong partnership work, our youth work model 
engagement, and work with police colleagues. The outcomes are 

fed back to the officer in charge regarding progress, outcome and, 
where appropriate, the next steps, even for informal disposals. This 
“builds confidence in the service for black and mixed heritage boys, 
specifically:

•  ��the process is transparent

•  ����it is explained in understandable language, which builds trust

•  ��they get the experience of being listened to

•  ��people are able to opt for the decision which is less damaging 
for the future.”

P
age 36



15

more efficient regarding multi-agency participation, sharing information 
before and during the meeting and agreeing joint actions to reduce harm.
Throughout the Covid restrictions period DAIS was offering in-person 
meetings as needed and this remains the case. The Perpetrator Programme 
has been delivered virtually for public health reasons and this is not felt 
to have had a negative impact on uptake as where people have not been 

able to access virtual groups they have been offered in-person one-to-one 
programme work. Some positives have been that men have been able to 
access the programme who would not have otherwise been able to due to 
work commitments / travel time etc, with one man maintaining engagement 
even when overseas. 

The Domestic Abuse Intervention Service (DAIS) has been fully 
operational for over five years and over 5,000 women have been 
referred to the service. No-one referred to DAIS has been killed as  
a result of domestic abuse. No perpetrator referred to DAIS has 
killed anyone. 

Hackney Young Futures Commission (2,400 young people aged 
DAIS clients give positive feedback about DAIS. After DAIS’ 
intervention, 76% of clients feel less likely to “have to change what 
I say or do based on how [the perpetrator] might react”. 69% report 

feeling less worried about being hurt again. 88% reported that 
DAIS had considered well any issues relating to their identity. 

In terms of partner agency feedback on training provided by DAIS, 
97.5% describe it positively with 72.5% describing training as ‘very 
useful’ with 97% reporting that their practice will be improved as a 
result of the training. 97% found DAIS to be an accessible service. 
97% said if they had a friend or relative being hurt by someone 
they loved, they would recommend DAIS to them.

Evidence of Impact

P
age 37



16

Identifying and responding to children’s needs and 
appropriate thresholds 

Front Door Review  
and development of MASH
In February 2020 a review of Hackney’s children’s social care ‘front door’, 
the First Access and Screening Team (FAST) began. The review was initiated 
as the ‘front door’ of children’s services had seen a steadily increasing 
level of contact, referral and assessment rates, particularly when compared 
to comparator boroughs, and in turn a higher proportion of social work 
assessments that ended in no further action. Quality assurance activity also 
demonstrated some confusion over the application of thresholds amongst 
partner agencies, the seeking of consent when making a referral to statutory 
social work services and an over reliance on social work assessment by 
partners, particularly within educational settings. 

Activity on the Front Door Review accelerated in 2021, and in February 
2021 FAST launched a professional consultation line for designated leads 
to seek advice and guidance. The Hackney Multi Agency Safeguarding 
Hub (MASH) was launched from 1st July 2021, bringing Hackney in line 
with other authorities across London. The development of the MASH 
is focused on better informed multi-agency decision making so that 

children and families get the right service at the right time, with a joint 
mission across the partnership to reinforce the respectful and consistent 
application of seeking consent from children and families, and a focus on 
proportionate assessment with a clear commitment and emphasis on clear 
and streamlined pathways to services. The MASH now includes an Education 
representative as well as an Early Help hub.

Our Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub operates as a single point of contact 
for members of the public and professionals who are seeking advice and 
information, and/or who want to make a request for support for a child 
or young person in Hackney who may be in need of help or protection. A 
multi-agency Daily Risk Meeting was implemented in early October 2021. 
This meeting is well attended by agency colleagues including Adult Services, 
Probation, Police, Health and Housing. Our work on consent / reinforcing 
partnership responsibility and the consultation line is also impacting on 
improving the quality and reducing the volume of contacts / referrals. The 
ongoing development of the Early Help hub will help ensure that families 
are able to access the right service at the earliest possible opportunity and 
a consistency of approach across the Council (in terms of access to targeted 
Early Help support). 

“The development of the MASH is focused on better informed 

multi-agency decision making”...

P
age 38



17

Consultation line
The consultation line in the MASH is working well, with 423 calls 
to the line since it launched in February 2021 to 8th December 
2021. 30 audits were undertaken over July-October 2021 and found 
that overall, appropriate advice and guidance was provided, with 
referrers directed to early help/other resources as appropriate or 
given clear advice about how to make an effective referral; the use 
of the consultation line has resulted in no need for a referral to be 
made in 57% of cases reviewed; and the use of the consultation  
line is embedding well within the service and the wider partnership. 
A City and Hackney Safeguarding Children Partnership internal  

and external audit of the quality of referrals in September 
2021 clearly evidenced that the consultation line improved the 
quality of referrals. The audits identified that there is still more 
work to be done with referrers particularly around consent, and 
referrers providing details of support networks including fathers 
and extended family members at the point of referral. Similar 
findings were found by the external auditor commissioned by the 
partnership in Autumn 2021. The City and Hackney Safeguarding 
Children Partnership is leading on progressing improvement work 
with partner agencies about the quality of referrals based on these 
audit findings. 

Evidence of Impact

P
age 39



1818

Revised Hackney Child Wellbeing 
Framework

LEVEL 4

LEVEL 3 
STATUTORY THRESHOLD

Child and/or family with high  
level of complex needs or in need  

of protection or care

Child and/or family whose welfare 
or development is significantly 
impaired without intervention

LEVEL 2
Children with additional needs  

that can be met through  
the provision of early help

LEVEL 1
Children with additional needs, whose  

health and development needs can be met  
by universal services

As part of our review of the ‘front door’ function the Hackney Child 
Wellbeing Framework has now been revised to reflect the four levels of  
multi-agency involvement in the lives of children and families, in line  
with the London Child Protection Procedures.

The revised Hackney Child Wellbeing Framework was launched  
in July 2021 led by the City and Hackney Safeguarding  
Children Partnership. One of the key aims of the updated  
Hackney Child Wellbeing Framework is to drive consistency  
in the understanding and application of thresholds  
with partners. P

age 40



19

Contacts, referrals and assessments
Contacts, referrals and assessments all reduced in 2020/21 compared to 
2019/20. There was a 28% decrease in the number of contacts, a 42% 
decrease in the number of referrals and a 22% decrease in the number of 
assessments completed.  

Outturn 
2018/19

Outturn 
2019/20

Outturn 
2020/21

Apr to 
Sep-21

Number of contacts 13,767 16,044 11,473 5,740

	

While demand for statutory children’s social care in Hackney has increased in 
the last 5 years, there was a 42% decrease in referrals received in 2020/21, 
compared to 2019-20. This is partly linked to a decrease in referrals seen 
nationally during the pandemic. Hackney’s referral rate in the first half of 
2021/22 (487) is far more in line with the rates seen in statistical neighbour 
authorities than was previously the situation in 2019/20. This is also linked to 
the changes driven by the Front Door Review, including improved early help 
pathways through the successful piloting of an embedded ‘Early Help Hub’ 
within the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub, ensuring children, young people 
and families are able to get the right support for them, as quickly as possible. 
Children in need of help and protection receive a timely response from the 
MASH. The most recent data shows that in October 2021, where the threshold 
is met for intervention, all contacts are progressed within 24 hours. An initial 
decision is made within 24 hours for 98% of contacts received. Further 
analysis of the reduction in contacts at the front door and whether this is a 
result of improved partnership working or whether there are issues with the 
interim recording system that need to be addressed will be completed in 
December 2021. 
 

Outturn 
2018/19

Outturn 
2019/20

Outturn 
2020/21

Apr to 
Sep-21

Number of Referrals 4,190 5,031 2,930 1,556

Rate of Referrals per 
10,000 population 658 788 459 487

Statistical neighbours 574 581 497 n/a

England 545 535 494 n/a

P
age 41



20

Outturn 
2018/19

Outturn 
2019/20

Outturn 
2020/21

Apr to 
Sep-21

Percentage of cases which 
were re-referrals which had 
been open in the past  
12 months

16% 16% 18% 14%

Statistical neighbours 17% 18% 18% n/a

England 19% 19% 19% n/a

Hackney’s re-referral rate of 18% for 2020/21 is in line with statistical 
neighbours (18%) and the England average (19%).

Outturn 
2018/19

Outturn 
2019/20

Outturn 
2020/21

Apr to 
Sep-21

Number of social work 
assessments completed

4,290 4,923 3,664 1,588

Rate of assessments per 
10,000 popula-tion

674 771 604 497

Statistical neighbours 513 529 477 n/a

England 539 554 518 n/a

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Although the number of social work assessments completed in Hackney 
reduced by 22% between 2019/20 and 2020/21, the rate of assessments 
per 10,000 in Hackney (604) was higher than both statistical neighbour 
(477) and England (518) averages in 2020/21. This was partly due to the 
very high number of assessments completed in Hackney in April and May 
2020, where these referrals had come into the system in the first few months 
of the year and due to the volume of assessments held in the service at 
the time, some of these assessments took longer to complete and were 
completed in the first two months of 2020/21, contributing to the higher 
number and rate when compared with other local authorities for the same 
time period. The rate of assessments completed in the first half of 2021/22 
(497) is higher than the 2020/21 statistical neighbour and but lower than 
the national average.

P
age 42



21

Outturn 
2018/19

Outturn 
2019/20

Outturn 
2020/21

Apr to 
Sep-21

Percentage of social work 
assessments completed 
within 45 working days

63% 64% 77% 92%

Statistical neighbours 86% 88% 94% n/a

England 84% 85% 89% n/a

Performance on assessments completed within 45 working days improved 
from 64% in 2019/20 to 77% in 2020/21. Performance against this 
indicator was also affected by the high volume of assessments completed 
in the first two months of 2020/21 (April and May 2020) and the timeliness 
of these assessments. Performance against this indicator was significantly 
better in the remaining months of 2020/21. 92% of assessments were 
completed within 45 working days during April - September 2021, which is 
just below the statistical neighbour average of 94% and better than the 
England average of 89%.

Routine audits are undertaken on the quality of Child and 
Family Assessments. 52 audits from March - November 2021 
show that practice is not consistently good, with 60% rated as 
good or outstanding, and 40% rated as requires improvement or 
inadequate; however, recent audits show stronger performance. 

Strengths included timely, well-informed assessments, 
engaging fathers and evidencing the voice of the child. Areas 
for improvement included recording issues and the evidence of 
management oversight needing to be clearer on the child’s  
case file.

Evidence of Impact

Listening Together Pilot
As a service, we are committed to offering families the best opportunities 
to support their children at times of need. However, we have found that 
many of the children who are being referred to us do not require the kind 
of statutory, long term, intensive support that our social workers provide. 
Families have told us that our first involvement in their private lives can at 
times feel intrusive, frightening and be a stressful experience. Our anti-racist 
and anti-oppressive approaches to working with families means that we 
need to find ways of listening to families experiences and develop authentic, 
family-based, and inclusive ways of stepping into families’ lives once a 
referral is made to us. 

As a result, the service is piloting the Listening Together project from 

November 2021. This is aimed at offering families who have a child referred 
into the Access and Assessment Service, a more respectful, transparent and 
collaborative response. A Listening Together meeting will be offered to a 
small number of families as an alternative to ‘assessment as usual’. If the 
family agrees, they will be asked to invite any supportive person in their 
network to attend the Listening Together meeting with them. The social 
worker will then invite the family’s professional network to attend the same 
meeting. This meeting will take place within 10 days of the initial visit to the 
family. By the end of the meeting, there will be a plan that the family and 
everyone present has created. This written record will then form part of the 
social work assessment and will be sent to all those in attendance. The pilot 
will be evaluated by the What Works Centre to ensure that we are open to 
learning from families and professionals as the pilot proceeds.

P
age 43



22

Local Area Designated Officer
Organisations where employees and volunteers work with children  
(including foster carers and prospective adopters) are required to have 
clear and accessible policies and procedures to manage occasions 
when allegations are made against staff or volunteers. As part of that, 
organisations have to appoint a Designated Safeguarding Lead to whom 
the allegations are reported, who would then report it to the Local Authority 
Designated Officer (LADO) who has the responsibility to manage and have 
oversight of allegations. 

The LADO service received 174 contacts during the period of 1st April 2020 
to 31st March 2021 which is a decrease of 135 (44%) on the previous year 

(309 contacts). This is linked to the Covid-19 pandemic where the country 
had two lockdowns that included school closures, with the exception of 
access to key worker children; schools and nurseries are the dominant 
employment groups that generate referrals to the LADO service. The 
decrease for the Hackney LADO service is in line with a similar trend across 
LADO services in London as shared at the London LADO network meeting  
as well as in peer supervision.

The occupations with the highest number of contacts were school support 
staff (23%), teachers (22%) and nursery workers (11%). This is consistent 
with previous years and is likely attributable to the higher ratio of children to 
staff given schools and day care provisions have higher numbers of children 
accessing services compared with health or leisure facilities for example. 

Practice audits of LADO work are conducted every 6 months by 
the Service Manager and Practice Development Managers in 
the Safeguarding and Reviewing Team. The most recent audit 
in September 2021 looked at 27 LADO cases. These consistently 
find timely responses from the LADO service, positive working 
relationships between the LADO and partner agencies, clear 
actions and outcomes being achieved. What routinely remains 

problematic is a lack of written referrals/information being received 
from referrers, and partners not providing updates of feedback 
from their internal investigations as requested by the LADO. This 
results in additional work for the LADO in terms of having to 
outline phone conversations in emails so that the network is clear 
on advice provided and actions expected, and requesting updates.

Evidence of ImpactP
age 44



23

Making good decisions and providing effective help 

Strategy Discussions
A multi-agency practice protocol on Strategy Discussions was completed in 
November 2020, shared and agreed upon by all partner agencies. Training 
and video guidance for practitioners on strategy discussions is published on 
the City and Hackney Safeguarding Children Partnership website. Working 
agreements are in place with the police to set out pathways for engaging 
officers in Strategy Discussions from different sections of the Police in 
accordance with the type of harm that a child may be exposed to. The 

Metropolitan Police have agreed to hold Strategy Discussion / Missing Child 
Meetings within 24 hours rather than within 72 hours for children at highest 
risk of harm when children are missing.

1,077 strategy discussions were held in 2020/21, a 34% decrease compared 
to 1,633 strategy discussions held in 2019/20. This corresponds to the 
decrease in referrals about children and families over the same period.

A multi-agency Strategy Discussion audit of 15 strategy 
discussions was led by the City and Hackney Safeguarding 
Children Partnership in July 2021 and has complemented the 
activity in this area undertaken to date by Hackney Children  
and Families Service. 22 organisations participated in this 
audit, including 8 GP Practices and 8 Schools. 100% of Strategy 
Discussions audited included the Police; 66.7% were attended 
by Health colleagues. Auditors were also asked to comment on 
attendance by Education (60% attendance), Child and Adolescent 
Mental Health Services and Adult Services (both 7% attendance) 
at strategy discussions. For all children, decisions were made 
to effectively respond to the safeguarding needs. Strengths in 
practice included: there was high confidence that the decisions 
and actions made at the strategy discussion made children safer; 

agencies sharing sufficient information to confidently inform 
decision making and action planning; and the significant majority 
of strategy discussions evidenced relevant information sharing 
about significant others within the family and were clear on the 
next steps and action planning. Strategy discussions were clear on 
the steps and timescales for immediate and short-term support 
for the child. Areas for improvement included: consistent use 
by all agencies of the City and Hackney Safeguarding Children 
Partnership Guidance and Agenda Template to guide strategy 
discussions; the Children and Families Service to amend its interim 
recording template for strategy discussions to match the headings 
set out in the partnership agenda template; and improvement 
in the circulation of formal minutes of strategy discussions. The 
Partnership also understands the need to improve the engagement 

Evidence of Impact

P
age 45



24

of ELFT at strategy discussions by ensuring ELFT practitioners 
involved with families (both adults and children) are identified and 
invited. This improvement will be supported via the introduction of 
an ELFT role within the new Hackney MASH model.

This audit noted that the quantity of research that can be carried 
out by the Metropolitan Police Service on all concerned individuals 
is limited by the time constraints of strategy discussion notification 
and Police capacity to undertake these checks in full. That said, the 
Police have confirmed that all relevant parties are scanned, and 
a fast-time snapshot of information is compiled to allow for the 

risk management discussion. The Police audit lead assessed that 
there was sufficient information shared to enable good discussion 
and informed decision making around risk management. The 
partnership audit identified no disparities between information 
shared at the Initial Child Protection Conference not being shared 
at the strategy discussion affecting the immediate safety of the 
child(ren). A further external audit of strategy discussions is being 
commissioned by the City and Hackney Safeguarding Children 
Partnership and is scheduled for January - February 2022 to further 
review progress in this area.

Children supported on Child in Need Plans

Jan 2021 July 2021 Sep 2021

Snapshot of children supported 
on Child in Need Plans (within the 
Children in Need Service)

865 699 619       

There has been a decrease in the number of children supported on Child in 
Need Plans, which is linked to increased oversight by managers to ensure 
that children are on the correct plan according to thresholds, as well as a 
corresponding drop in referrals and assessments over the same period. 

Audits of support for children on Child in Need Plans take place 
on a regular basis. 23 audits from April - November 2021 show 
that practice requires improvement, with audits from July 2021 
onwards showing an improvement in audit scores. The audits 
showed that 66% of visits were held in accordance with Practice 
Standards, 63% of plans were goal-focused and outcome-oriented; 
66% included fathers / male carers, only 25% included explicit 
consideration of Family Group Conferences and 20% included the 
wider family network. In order to strengthen the recording of Child 

Evidence of Impact
in Need visits, a template for visit records has been introduced. 
Files were audited before and after the template was introduced 
in October 2021 and show that Child In Need visit recording 
has improved from requires improvement to good since the 
introduction of the visit recording template. During the focused 
visit, Ofsted noted that “most children are on a child in need or 
child protection plan when this is needed. Decisions to step cases 
up or down are mostly appropriate in response to changes in risk”. 

P
age 46



25

Children supported through  
Child Protection Plans
The number and rate of children supported on Child Protection Plans 
decreased over the course of 2020/21 following increased management 
oversight and this decrease has continued with 197 children supported on 
a Child Protection Plan as at the end of September 2021 (a rate of 31 per 
10,000 as at September 2021). 

Number of children supported on  
Child Protection Plans

March 2019 March 2020 March 2021 Sept 2021

194 251 237 197
 
 

 
Children supported on Child Protection Plans per  
10,000 population aged under 18 
 

March 
2019

March 
2020

March 
2021

Sept 
2021

Hackney 31 38 37 31

Statistical Neighbour 38 39 39 n/a

England 44 41 41 n/a

	

This decrease is mostly accounted for by the decrease in Initial Child 
Protection Conferences with 312 held in 2020/21 compared to 432 in 
2019/20. This trend has continued into 2021/21, with 131 Initial Child 
Protection Conferences held between April-September 2021. The duty 
consultation process between our Safeguarding and Reviewing Team 
(Child Protection Chairs) and the social work units has better supported 
appropriate threshold decisions for children.

P
age 47



26

Duration of closed Child Protection Plan (percentage)

March 
2019

March 
2020

March 
2021

Sept 
2021

Under 3 months 27% 24% 34% 34%

3 - 6 months 30% 17% 31% 17%

6 - 12 months 24% 40% 32% 33%

1 - 2 years 13% 16% 20% 16%

2+ years 6% 3% 3% 1%

The percentage of Child Protection Plans closing at 3 months increased 
from March 2020 to March 2021. As a result of this, an audit in March 2021 
was undertaken for Child Protection Plans ending after 3 months. This audit 
found that we had been overly risk averse and the child’s lived experience 
needed to be better understood at the Child in Need stage. As a result 
we have strengthened the consultation process in the Safeguarding and 
Reviewing Team for all children. There has also been a move to listen to how 
young people feel they would be best supported, looking at individual needs 
of each sibling based on their age, functioning, and specific needs. A Practice 
Development Manager from the Safeguarding and Reviewing Team now 

attends strategy meetings to ensure there is independent review and that 
all options have been considered, for example whether to consider a Child in 
Need Plan and then step up at three months if no progress has been made. 
We are continuing to closely monitor this area. 

The percentage of children supported on Child Protection Plans for 2 years 
or longer has decreased from 3% in March 2020 to 1% in September 2021. 
All children who have had a Child Protection Plan for more than 2 years have 
had a parallel process for either Public Law Outline pre-proceedings or care 
proceedings underway.

We cannot currently report on the number or percentage of children who 
became subject to a Child Protection Plan for a second or subsequent time 
due to the impact of the cyberattack in October 2020 on our recording 
systems. We are working on reviewing historic data to be able to report on 
this performance indicator.

A Child Protection Impact and Tracking Meeting is held every 6 weeks 
consisting of Service Managers and Heads of Service which systematically 
reviews Child Protection Plans that have been open 9-12 months, 13-15 
months, 16 months+, repeat plans, and plans ending at the first review, to 
ensure appropriate application of thresholds. 

The most recent meeting in November 2021 reviewed 13 audits 
of children supported on Child Protection Plans, and found that 
practice requires improvement. Auditors found that the actions 
in children’s plans clearly link to achieving the goal and improving 
the experience of the child; that timescales are generally clear and 
proportionate; and that generally the Chair’s oversight was evident 
on the file, with clear contingency planning in place. Auditors 
also found that the written quality of plans could be improved, 

Evidence of Impact
including ensuring that issues of identity have been considered 
fully, with an appropriate number of goals included in the plan. 

In April 2021, City and Hackney Safeguarding Children Partnership 
undertook a multi-agency audit of Child Protection Conferences. 
Auditors found that partner agency attendance and report 
timescales for Child Protection Conferences needs to improve. 
Recommendations as a result of this included for City and Hackney 

P
age 48



27

Child Protection Plans -  
visits and seeing children alone
94% of children on Child Protection Plans were visited within 20 working 
days between 18 October - 14 November 2021. 68% of children supported 
on a Child Protection Plan had a recorded visit within 10 working days as at 
10th November 2021 in line with Practice Standards, with a further 17% 
having a recorded visit within the last 20 working days. We introduced a new 
visit form in August 2021 in our interim recording system to more accurately 
track whether children were seen alone when they were visited. In successful 

Safeguarding Children Partnership to produce an animated 
video setting out expectations for professionals invited to Child 
Protection Conferences; to host anonymised examples of model 
Child Protection reports on the City and Hackney Safeguarding 
Children Partnership website; and to review the availability of multi-
agency guidance on sharing child protection reports with families. 
Recommendations for the Children and Families Service included 

revising the guidance and templates to provide greater clarity 
about the expected content from agencies in Child Protection 
reports, particularly for those that do not regularly attend Child 
Protection Conferences. Partner agency recommendations included 
promotion and monitoring report submissions and timescales, 
including planning audits to check the quality of reports and 
adherence to timescales for reports. 

visits, we can see that for 84% of visits to children on a Child Protection 
Plan, children were seen during the visit (as at 10 November 2021) and that 
in 46% of instances where children were seen, they were seen alone during 
the visit. We know that this needs to be improved and understand that this 
is likely to relate to recording issues - we are working on this to ensure visits 
and children seen alone are recorded accurately and in a timely manner. Our 
practice standards make very clear how important it is that children are seen 
and spoken to alone wherever practicable, and where this does not happen, 
the rationale for this must be recorded on the child’s file.

P
age 49



28

               Public Law Outline (PLO) and  
 court proceedings

Practice guidance for all staff on the application of good practice in Public 
Law Outline (PLO) was issued in February 2020. The aim of this guidance 
is to achieve confidence and competence in our staff when managing 
such complex work. Sitting alongside this practice guidance is our protocol 

between children’s social care and the Council’s Legal Service, developed in 
February 2021. This protocol has enabled us to ensure greater consistency  
in legal representation within PLO and care proceedings. With a focus on  
the definition of roles, obligations and escalation policies and detailed 
agreed timescales we have a robust approach to ensuring we are clear on 
how we protect and safeguard children together. The Family Justice Board 
guidance from March 2021 is currently being embedded into the PLO 
process in Hackney. 

8 audits on our PLO work were undertaken in March 2021 and 
found that practice required improvement, with limited records 
available due to the cyberattack meaning that not all the 
evidence to show the progress within timescales was on the 
child’s file, although the audit found that PLO minutes on file 
were of a good quality. There was also good evidence through the 
PLO process that all options for the child’s future care - within and 
outside of the family network - were openly being discussed with 
parents and being proactively explored. Since April 2021 we have 
had a dedicated Service Manager tracking and monitoring the 
quality and progress of plans for children who enter into PLO.

During the Ofsted focused visit in July 2021, inspectors found: 
“for children involved in the Public Law Outline (PLO) and pre-
proceedings work, decision-making is usually prompt and 
consistent. A timely response and effective tracking by managers 
help families to engage in this process and ensure that delay is 
avoided. When children’s circumstances are not improving through 
child protection planning, the PLO and pre-proceedings work are 
applied effectively to reduce risk, averting the need for proceedings 
in some cases. For a small number of children, earlier application 
of the PLO could have been considered.” The visit highlighted that 
for some children on Child Protection Plans, escalation to PLO could 
happen sooner. 

Evidence of Impact

At the Children’s Resource Panel, out of the 58 referrals made between June 
and November 2021, 39 of which have been for consideration of initiation 
of PLO or Care Proceedings, there have been 8 children in 7 families for 
whom it was identified that escalation to PLO could have taken place sooner. 
One was an unborn child for whom it would have been helpful to initiate 
specialist assessments prior to birth, one was a child living in a mother and 
baby mental health unit. 6 children in 5 families were in relation to the child 

living in circumstances of neglect with fluctuating changes in parenting 
capacity, all of whom were supported through Child Protection Plans. This 
theme was shared with Service Managers, Practice Development Managers 
and Consultant Social Workers in our Driving Quality and Improvement in 
Performance meeting in November 2021 to raise awareness of the thematic 
issues arising and improvements required.

 

P
age 50



29

Service Managers review the progress of Child Protection Plans at 9 months 
and Child in Need Plans at 9 and 15 months, to consider whether escalation 
could possibly occur at an earlier stage. This is also mirrored in scrutiny of 
PLO pre-proceedings progress by the Head of Service. Service Managers 
will be reviewing progress via audit in January 2022. The Head of Service is 
closely monitoring this area through monthly court tracker meetings. There 
has been an increase in the number of children in PLO since July 2021, when 
there were 9 children in PLO and no children waiting to start PLO. At the first 
week of December 2021, 14 children were in PLO.

The number and rate of care applications decreased in 
2020/21 and was higher than the national rate of  
care applications. 

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

Hackney number of care applications 66 107 75

Hackney care applications per 10,000 
child population

10.3 16.4 11.4

England care applications per 10,000 
child population

11.3 10.8 10.5

The time taken to complete care and supervision proceedings was an 
average of 38 weeks in Hackney in 2020/21, compared to a national 
average of 41 weeks. This is an increase for Hackney from 32 weeks in  
2019-20, and the national average of 32 weeks in 2019/20. This has 
increased nationally since April 2020 due to the pressures on the court 
system as a result of the Covid-19 lockdown. The national average  
target for the length of court proceedings is 26 weeks.

Clinical Support 
Clinical Service
Over the past ten months we have undertaken a process of resetting our 
Clinical Service in line with the areas for improvement identified by Ofsted 
in 2019. This has been specifically to: remove avoidable drift and delay; 
improve the timeliness and effectiveness of pre-proceedings work; inform 
the assessment of children living in neglectful environments; and support 
the safeguarding of children who are missing education or who are home 
educated. The service aims to integrate a mental health and wellbeing offer 
across the Children and Families Service as we know that children and young 
people who access children’s social care are at greater risk of mental health 
difficulties. By moving to a ‘stepped care’ clinical model the service is able 
to work with a broad range of children and families from early intervention, 
as well as for our most vulnerable children and young people in care or on 
the edge of family breakdown, in a responsive, targeted offer. The Clinical 
Service offers both a direct and indirect offer:

•  �Indirect Clinical Offer: This is open to all families and individuals 
open to the Children and Families Service. The main part of this 
offer is consultation, but also includes training, supervision and court 
work. Clinicians complete assessments for court proceedings as 
part of the Public Law Outline. These range from assessments with 
parents, individual children or family groups, making use of specialist 
assessment tools and approaches as applicable.

•  �Direct Clinical Offer: This is only available to children and families in 
the Children and Families Service with an allocated social worker, or 
open to the Youth Offending Team. This includes those in receipt of a 
Child in Need plan, a Child Protection Plan or Children in Care. 

During 2020/21, the Clinical Service received 435 referrals. This is a decrease 

P
age 51



30

from 476 referrals received during 2019/20 but covers the pandemic period. 
Demand has increased since then and between April - September 2021, the 
Clinical Service received 609 referrals and the Service was working with a 
total of 662 children/families during that period.

Children with acute mental health/complex needs 
Like many local areas, Hackney has experienced a significant increase in 
referrals to Children and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) which 
includes an increase in acute presentations on the cusp of, or at Tier 4 level, 
with a shortage of beds in adolescent mental health in patient facilities 
leading to challenges in identification of suitable care arrangements for 
a small number of children. Planning meetings for these children have 
engaged senior leaders and Directors where required in order to agree upon 
an effective plan of intervention and care arrangements. Concerns about 
the challenges expressed by both Children’s Social Care and CAMHS were 

escalated to City and Hackney Safeguarding Children Partnership. Work is 
currently taking place to develop a revised joint protocol in the context of 
the current challenges and to explore opportunities to commission new joint 
funded care arrangements.

The pandemic has impacted activity and created a surge in CAMHS 
activity, coupled with an increase in the complexity of presentations. This is 
applicable across all services but specific areas, such as eating disorders and 
crisis, have seen larger demand, as demonstrated by the increased level of 
referrals seen across City and Hackney services. Throughout the pandemic 
local need has been continually monitored through the CAMHS Alliance 
Board and additional contingency planning meetings with providers to 
ensure that service delivery is responsive to local need and mitigations are 
put in place where necessary. A number of local system adaptations have 
been made as a result, with accelerated rollout of digital solutions to widen 
availability of treatment options for young people.  

“Like many local areas, Hackney has experienced  
a significant increase in referrals to  

Children and Adolescent Mental Health Services.”

P
age 52



31

Participation and direct work with children and families

Hackney Youth Parliament
Hackney Youth Parliament delivered weekly online sessions during the 
Covid-19 lockdowns. During this time, Hackney Youth Parliament have 
delivered workshops on debating, Black history, the Orthodox Jewish 
community, and undertaken applications and interviews of all those wishing 
to be on the ballot as they recruited new members. Over 40 young people 
were interested in taking part in our new forums and 15 young people put 
themselves forward to go on the election ballot through the online election 
process that attracted 2,500 young people to vote. 6 of these young people 
were elected in June 2021 and form the core of Hackney Youth Parliament 
and are the leaders of the three new forums. Over the next 2 years, each 
forum will focus on issues pledged in their manifestos. This includes Life 
after Covid, policing, mental health in schools, and all forums will undertake 
work in promoting opportunities to increase work experience and life skills 
training. Hackney Youth Parliament now meets twice weekly and has over 
35 young people taking part. Hackney Youth Parliament has also elected 2 
representatives to the London Youth Assembly and the British Youth Council. 
Hackney Youth Parliament have attended the Hackney Children and Young 
People Scrutiny Commission, and have presented their manifestos at a full 
cabinet meeting with the Mayor. They have also met with Hackney Council’s 
new Chief Executive and have made progress by ensuring Hackney reviews 
its work experience offer to young people with a view to expanding this in 
the future to create more opportunities.

Children’s Rights Service 
Hackney’s Children’s Rights Service provides a range of support to  
children and young people who are supported by, or have been supported 
by, Hackney Children’s Social Care, with priority given to children who are 
looked after, leaving care or supported on Child Protection Plans. The team 
provides an independent service that helps young people have their voice 
heard through advocacy; represents children’s wishes and feelings; and 
provides information to children and young people about their rights  
and entitlements.

The team also offers an Independent Return Home Interview service to 
young people who have been reported missing by their parents or carers. 
This provides a safe space to allow young people to talk in confidence 
about their experiences and to create safety plans. During 2019/20 there 
were 821 recorded missing episodes, in relation to 108 children and young 
people. Due to the cyber attack, full year data for 2020/21 is not available; 
however, during October 2020 - March 2021 there were 259 missing 
episodes recorded on the interim recording system. If this were doubled to 
give a 12 month picture it would be substantially lower than the number of 
missing episodes recorded the previous year. However, lockdown restrictions 
did impact on the number of children going missing, with a lower number of 
children going missing fewer times, as there were fewer activities to open to 
go to and more scrutiny of people spending time outside. 

During October 2020 - March 2021 there were 59 Return Home Interviews 
submitted on the interim recording system, which translates to Independent 

P
age 53



32

Return Home Interviews being undertaken in 23% of missing episodes, in 
relation to 34 young people. This is a smaller percentage of Independent 
Return Home Interviews being accepted than last year, but more individual 
children having an Independent Return Home Interview completed. 

As this data has not been cleansed and does not represent the full 12 
month period, there are a number of caveats around how accurate this is 
and the conclusions that can be drawn from it. However, Children’s Rights 
Officers continue to attend the daily discussion with Hackney Missing Police 
to actively follow up with children who are or have been missing in the 
Borough. The Children’s Rights Service is also copied into all Emergency 
Duty Team alerts for missing children who are living outside of Hackney so 
proactive follow-up can take place with social workers regarding the offer 
of the Independent Return Home Interview. We know that social workers 
or care workers may complete Return Home Interviews but at times this 
information is captured in visit case records rather than the Return Home 
Interview record on our interim system, so this will not show in our reporting. 
Even when children decline a Return Home Interview, efforts are always 

made by those working with them to discuss any missing episode and try 
and resolve any issues which may be contributing to a young person going 
missing. All Children’s Social Care staff are now attending the mandatory 
Safety Planning training which is taking place each month facilitated by the 
Children’s Rights Service and Context Intervention Unit to increase skills 
around safety planning with young people even if this is outside of a specific 
Return Home Interview.

Since April 2020 the Children’s Rights Service has offered advocacy to all 
children aged 5 and over who are supported through a Child Protection  
Plan. The team has developed additional resources for practitioners in  
terms of focusing discussions with children to obtain their views. The  
service facilitated two workshops with Consultant Social Workers and 
Practice Development Managers in July and September 2021 focussing  
on evidencing the voice of the child so these managers can quality  
assure Child Protection reports more thoroughly. 134 children have been 
referred to the Children’s Rights Service for Child Protection during the year, 
representing 49% of all referrals.

Audits of Children’s Rights Officer work are regularly 
undertaken, with 11 audits undertaken in February 2021 
and audits currently underway in December 2021. The audits 
clearly demonstrate the quality of the relationship between the 
young people and their Children’s Rights Officer, with Children’s 
Rights Officers being able to provide positive and constructive 
feedback to young people when their requests or expectations 
are unrealistic or unsafe. The audits highlight excellent examples 
of advocacy and clearly evidencing and supporting young people 
to contribute their views, experiences and hopes for their future, 

which was meaningful to decision making and planning. Where 
audits were not graded as highly this was due to a lack of recording 
and evidence of the relationship building that had gone into 
creating the advocacy relationship. Given difficulties relating to the 
cyberattack and changes in staffing within the team, increasing 
consistency around recording remains an area for development for 
the service.

Feedback gathered about how young people felt about their 
working relationships with their Children’s Rights Officers and the 
outcomes achieved is universally positive and encouraging that

Evidence of Impact

P
age 54



33

young people unanimously felt listened to and treated equally and 
fairly by their Children’s Rights Officers. Young people made the 
following comments about the Children’s Rights Service:

•  ��“She has helped me with EVERYTHING. She is always there 
when I call and lots more”

•  ��“They helped me with all of the above and more”

•  ��“They helped me with everything I needed”

•  ��“She has helped me with EVERYTHING. She is always there 
when I call and lots more”

•  ��“They helped me with all of the above and more”

•  ��“They helped me with everything I needed”

P
age 55



34

Identifying and responding to all types of abuse recognising 
the vulnerability of specific groups of children

Context Intervention Unit
The Department for Education provided funding from October 2020 to 
September 2021 to take forward the embedding of contextual safeguarding 
in Hackney. This has enabled the formation of a unit to drive the 
implementation and embedding of Contextual Safeguarding in Hackney 
through undertaking and modelling assessments and interventions of 
‘contexts of concern’ (e.g. peer groups, schools, locations) in partnership with 
statutory and non-statutory partners, developing practice and confidence 
within the Children and Families Service and across partner agencies 
and undertaking an evaluation of the impact of contextual safeguarding 
on practice. The Context Intervention Unit moved to the Multi Agency 
Safeguarding Hub (MASH) in the Family Intervention and Support Service in 
September 2021. An external evaluation of the Contextual Intervention Unit 
is being undertaken by the University of Sussex, who will report on findings in 
September 2022.

Hackney’s Extra Familial Risk Panel (EFRP) facilitates partnership safeguarding 
interventions where a child or young person - or a group of children / young 
people - are harming or being harmed by others. The Panel considers in 
particular contexts of concern (peer group, school, neighbourhood/location). 
Partners find that EFRP supports agencies to better understand what is 
happening for the young people they are working with, supports healthy 
challenge between agencies and has led to improved system approaches 
to safeguarding individuals and contexts, for example the EFRP process 
prompting police opening up new lines of enquiry or to identify previously 
‘unseen’ young people as being at risk. Discussions have also highlighted 
areas agencies can strengthen to improve their service delivery to all children. 
A total of 87 ‘cases’ have been discussed at EFRP, representing 204 young 
people and 5 locations between October 2020 and August 2021.

Category of  
Harm at EFRP

Type of  
Context Referred  
into EFRP

P
age 56



35

The most common type of harm referred into EFRP is criminal exploitation, 
followed by serious youth violence and criminal exploitation. There can be 
multiple types of harm recorded for one young person. The most common 
combination of harm is criminal exploitation and serious youth violence. 

Neglect
Following the feedback from Ofsted during our 2019 ILACS inspection that 
a small number of children on Child Protection Plans were experiencing 
neglectful circumstances for too long, we have undertaken much work 
to strengthen our management oversight and decision-making for these 
children. We audited children who had been open to services for more than 
12 months in April 2020 and found that practice required improvement.  
In July 2020 we undertook a Practice Week on the impact of neglect, 
engaging staff in a series of seminars and workshops. This included  
learning from research and a range of practice tools. While the experience 
itself was positive, staff were unable to evidence the difference they  
make to children in such circumstances. In February-March 2022 we will 
begin to ‘train the trainer’ on the NSPCC Graded Care Profile II via City and 
Hackney Safeguarding Children Partnership and roll out the Graded Care 
Profile Tool across all partner agencies in Hackney to avoid drift and delay 
for these highly vulnerable children and families, and more clearly evidence 
neglect. A subsequent full Live Learning Audit of children in possible 
neglectful circumstances is currently underway in November-December 
2021 which will also support our understanding of current practice and  
any additional barriers presented by Covid-19 and the cyber attack for  
these vulnerable children. 

 Disabled Children’s Service
We continue to focus on driving improvements in the Disabled Children’s 
Service through a strategic action plan. 

All new referrals for an assessment from the service are made through the 
Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) and all children of school age 
should have an Education, Health and Care Plan in place. 

 At the end of March 2021, the service was working with 374 children and 
young people. Of these, 258 were male and 116 were female. This is a 7% 
decrease compared to 2019/20, when the service was working with 402 
children and young people.

Age breakdown of children open to  
Disabled Children’s Service

Age Number of Children

5 or under 42

6 - 8 76

9 - 11 87

12 - 14 79

15+ 90

Total 374

The Disabled Children’s Service worked hard during the Covid lockdown 
periods to be responsive to the needs of disabled children and their families. 
Many young people’s education was disrupted which impacted on their 

P
age 57



36

routines and stability. There were also heightened concerns about  
children’s health needs. Initially there were concerns about maintaining 
existing support packages but these continued where families were  
happy for them to do so (some families did not want the risk of carers 
entering the home). The service maintained high levels of contact with 
families and put in additional support where needed. 

Short breaks are defined as any service or activity outside of school hours 
which gives the family of a disabled child or young person a break from  
their caring responsibilities, and gives the disabled child or young person  
an enjoyable experience. There are currently seven commissioned short 
breaks providers in Hackney, including providers offering support  
specifically within the Orthodox Jewish community.

Mar 2019 Mar 2020 Mar 2021

Number of young people 
accessing short breaks 1,400 1,599 1,388

	

The decrease in the number of young people accessing short breaks is due 
to the Covid pandemic when services were closed during the year.

Since April 2021, children receiving care packages who are also on Child 
in Need Plans in relation to safeguarding concerns have transferred to 
the Disabled Children’s Service. This minimises transitions, provides more 
consistency and ensures that processes are clearer for families. Audits of 
the Disabled Children’s Service since April 2021 have included looking at 
assessments undertaken as well as plans when we have had safeguarding 
concerns about a child. These audits have found that practice requires 
improvement, with increasing confidence by staff when assessing and 
planning for these children following training, and clear evidence of 
management oversight on the file in general. Although practice is generally 
good, more work needs to be done to capture the voice of the child in plans 
which decreased the overall average audit grade.

Private Fostering
A child under the age of 16 (under 18, if disabled) who is cared for, or 
proposed to be cared for, and provided with accommodation by someone 
other than a parent, person with parental responsibility or close relative for 
28 days or more is described as being privately fostered. Local authorities 
do not approve private foster carers, but are required to assess a private 
fostering arrangement to ensure that the welfare of privately fostered 
children is being safeguarded and promoted. As at 30 September 2021, nine 
private fostering arrangements were open to Hackney. All open privately 
fostered children have been known to Hackney for over a year and these 
arrangements have been ratified by the Care Planning Panel. All private 
fostering children’s records are audited regularly. The most recent audit 
in October 2021 found that 8 of the 9 audits were rated as ‘good’ with 
one rated as ‘outstanding’ and for all audits, there were no safeguarding 
concerns identified. 

Vulnerable children in education
Highly effective joint work was undertaken across the Children and Families 
Service and Hackney Education within phase 1 of the Covid-19 response to 
vulnerable children and young people in Hackney. When schools (partially) 
closed due to the Covid-19 outbreak, a Covid-19 response function was 
created within Hackney Education to work with the First Access and 
Screening Team (FAST) - now the MASH - to ensure children not in school 
were safeguarded. This also processed referrals from school staff who had 
not been able to successfully contact a child while they were learning off-site 
and were seeking help to ascertain their safety and wellbeing. The response 
function was staffed on a rota basis by a group of Hackney Education 
managers who each had an expert understanding of the local school system 
and existing relationships with Hackney schools. Some children were offered 

P
age 58



37

places within schools (according to the school and the Children and Families 
Service assessing this as appropriate) during the first lockdown period, 
although take up of this offer was low, as it was across much of the country, 
especially in London. There was an increased take up of school places in the 
lockdown period in January/February 2021. Education support for looked 
after children and their foster carers was provided by the Virtual School, and 
virtual activities for all children were provided by Young Hackney. When we 
were able to, Young Hackney safely introduced in-person activities.

In September 2020, when schools reopened to all pupils in Hackney, as they 
also did nationally, there was a sharp increase in parents opting to home 
educate their children. Concern about Covid-19 was the main reason given 
by parents, although some parents wanted to carry on with home education 
having had a positive experience during the first lockdown. To ensure 
that children did not unnecessarily lose their school place, pupils were not 
removed from their school’s admission register until Hackney Education  
had made contact with their parents. This enabled intent to be confirmed 
and any misconceptions to be addressed, which meant some children 
remained in school education settings. The sharp increase in the number of 
children being home educated put pressure on our suitability assessment 
timescales. To ensure children were safeguarded, other Hackney Education 
officers were tasked with carrying out well-being home visits ahead of the 
suitability assessment. These visits led to some children returning to school 
education settings. 

Children missing education
There were 586 children missing education as at 31 March 2021. This is  
a decrease from 648 children missing education at the end of March 2020. 
Nationally, a number of parents withdrew children from education settings 
in response to anxiety about the Covid-19 pandemic in March 2020.  
Locally in Hackney, the majority of children missing education are from  
the Orthodox Jewish community, with these children attending unregistered 
educational settings. As at September 2021, of 613 children missing 
education, 571 children were from the Orthodox Jewish community. Over 
the last 18 months a rapid improvement plan in relation to children missing 
education was developed and implemented. Key developments included: 

•  �The development of a structure for a bi-annual teaching and a 
learning forum to support parents in securing positive outcomes for 
children and young people.

•  �Development and adoption of a protocol to set out our approach 
to engender improved relationships with the Orthodox Jewish 
community to establish whether or not children and young people are 
electively home educated.

•  �Launch of updated Elective Home Education policy with schools in 
July 2020. Public campaign (November 2020) - includes settings 
within the Orthodox Jewish community. 

•  �Redesign of Elective Home Education assessment framework in 
accordance with statutory guidance.

•  �A cross service / multi agency protocol to unregistered settings, has 
been live since the start of September 2020.

P
age 59



38

The Experiences and Progress of Children in  
Care and Care Leavers

We ensured that children, young people and their carers were supported 
through the challenges of the pandemic, particularly in regards to their 
education and participation. Our changes to decision-making panels for 
children at the edge of care and in care are starting to ensure that only 
those who cannot safely live at home are coming into care and we hope 
to strengthen our work for our adolescents on the edge of care further 
over the coming year. Children in care arrangements are experiencing 

greater stability. We have work to do to overcome the challenges we faced 
in securing health checks for our children during the pandemic and are 
focusing on ensuring we provide good transitions for our care leavers, with 
improvement in pathway plan completion rates a key area of focus. There 
is good work taking place across the service but our focus is on ensuring 
consistently high standards of practice for all of our children.

We ensured that children, young people 
and their carers were supported through 
the challenges of the pandemic...

P
age 60



39

Making good decisions for children

Information about our looked after children
411 children (64 per 10,000) were looked after at the end of September 
2021 compared with 426 children (67 per 10,000) at the end of March 
2021, and 432 children (68 per 10,000) at the end of March 2020 (a 1% 
decrease from March 2020 to March 2021).

There has been a significant decrease in the number of looked after children 
in Hackney over the last 10 months from a peak of 477 children (75 per 
10,000) in November 2020, to 411 children (64 per 10,000) in September 
2021. This follows a sustained increase in the number of looked after 
children per 10,000 during the first half of 2020/21. The September 2021 
looked after children rate (64 per 10,000) is slightly higher than the 2020/21 
statistical neighbour average (63 per 10,000) but is now lower than the 
2020/21 national average (67 per 10,000).

Number of children in care as at 31 March

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 Apr to 
Sep 21

Number of children in care 
at snapshot date

405 432 426 411

Children entering care 212 228 182 64

Children leaving care 195 208 181 106

Rate of children in care as at 31 March

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 Apr to 
Sep 21

Rate of children in care  
per 10,000

64 68 67 64

Statistical neighbours 63 60 63 n/a

England 65 65 67 n/a 

The number of unaccompanied asylum seeking children accommodated 
by the local authority decreased from 45 in March 2020 to 31 children in 
March 2021, with 30 children in this cohort as at 30th September 2021. This 
number represents 7.3% of our total cohort of looked after children at the 
end of September 2021, a decrease compared to 10.6% of our total cohort 
at the end of March 2021.

Routine audits take place for our children in care with the Head of Service, 
Service Managers and Practice Development Managers all undertaking 
these. From June - November 2021, audits found that practice requires 
improvement, with generally good recording and good management 
oversight evident on the child’s case file, with concerns about safety or 
wellbeing well addressed. Improvements needed to be made in terms of 
ensuring up-to-date reports and plans were captured on the child’s case file 
and that visits are recorded and on the child’s file within timescales. 

P
age 61



40

Age breakdown of looked after children  
at 31 March 2021 
 

Age
2019 2020 2021

England Hackney England Hackney England Hackney

Under 1 5% 19 (5%) 5% 20 (5%) 5% 18 (4%)

1 - 4 13% 26 (6%) 14% 35 (8%) 14% 47 (11%)

5 - 9 18% 58 (14%) 18% 55 (13%) 19% 57 (13%)

10 -15 39% 153 (38%) 39% 173 (40%) 39% 157 (37%)

16 + 24% 149 (37%) 24% 149 (34%) 23% 147 (34%)

 

Age of children entering care

 

Age
2019 2020 2021

England Hackney England Hackney England Hackney

Under 1 19% 24 (11%) 19% 22(10%) 20% 23 (13%)

1 - 4 18% 22 (10%) 17% 28 (12%) 18% 19 (10%)

5 - 9 18% 19 (9%) 16% 26 (11%) 17% 20 (11%)

10 -15 28% 58 (27%) 27% 71 (31%) 26% 49 (27%)

16 + 18% 89 (42%) 20% 81 (36%) 20% 71 (39%)

Total 212 229 182

There was a 21% decrease in the number of children coming into care 
in 2020/21. Hackney continues to have a significantly high proportion of 
young people who enter care at an older age, with 39% of young people 
entering care aged 16 or above, compared to the England average of 20%.

Prior to November 2020, there had been a particular increase in the number 
of 15-17 year olds coming into care. Some of the increase in the number of 
children in care in 2020 was also due to court proceedings being delayed 
due to the impact of the pandemic that meant that some children remained 
looked after rather than progressing to other arrangements. The decrease 
in the number of looked after children since November 2020 is linked to a 
number of factors including a focus within the service on edge of care work 
to support young people where there is a risk of family breakdown as well as 
changes to the Children’s Resource Panel where there is senior management 
oversight of decisions for children to enter care. The Panel has been 
refreshed to offer a higher level of respectful challenge and high support, 
with a focus on mobilising resources to step in to a family and reduce harm, 
keeping children at home where possible, enabling us to be more confident 
that we have the right children in our care.

The Corporate Parenting Service undertook a review of all semi-independent 
care arrangements for 16/17 year olds in February 2021 and all residential 
care arrangements in June 2021 to ensure that these were the best homes 
for these children and young people. As a result of this review the Head 
of Service for Corporate Parenting reviewed the panels where decisions 
are made about care planning for children to ensure that there is critical 
oversight by senior leaders at key points for children who are at risk of 
coming into care, and that there is critical quality assurance for those 
children and young people already in our care. This has included sharpening 
the focus of existing panels, and adding new panels such as our Ensuring 
Quality Care Panel and Temporary Approval and Unregulated Care Panel to 
replace our previous Care Planning Panel. 

P
age 62



41

There was a decrease in the number of children leaving care, with 181 
children leaving care in 2020-21 compared to 208 children in 2019-20.  
The destinations for children leaving care in 2020-21 were as follows:

Returned home 40 Custody 5

Special 
Guardianship Order 14 Other 117

Adoption 5

The majority of children who left care at the end of March 2021 (most of 
those included in the ‘other’ category above), left as a result of turning 
18 and becoming care leavers. This reflects the significant proportion of 
children who enter care in Hackney aged 16 or above. 

Edge of care pilot
In recent years our population of children in care has risen 
disproportionately to many other inner London boroughs and this trend 
has been primarily driven by the high number of adolescents coming into 
our care. We have been concerned that of those children entering our care 
in adolescence, a significant proportion are from Black or global majority 
backgrounds and have suspected or diagnosed additional learning needs. 
Often, these children are experiencing disruption simultaneously at home 
and at school, as they struggle to have their needs fully understood and 
met in both arenas. Many have experienced a number of disrupted care 

arrangements within their family networks already. In this context, finding 
an alternative home for them where they can feel safe, secure and settled is 
often a real challenge. 

The overall aim of the edge of care service will be to keep more children 
living with their families safely, where it is possible to do so, and where it 
is not, ensuring those children who need to be in our care are offered this 
support at the right time, without delay. Whilst the service will primarily 
focus on reducing the number of adolescents coming into care as the result 
of family breakdown, we plan to develop the service over time to offer 
additional support for the safe step down from care for some children, and 
to stabilise care arrangements for others. Having reviewed what works 
elsewhere, alongside our current edge of care offer, our plan is for the new 
service to adopt a clear methodological approach of brief solution focused 
therapy, which sits in line with our wider systemic approach to practice. We 
have secured Clinical Commissioning Group funding to undertake a research 
evaluation of a 6 month pilot of the service, allowing us to understand its 
effectiveness in terms of achieving positive outcomes for our children and in 
order to inform ongoing development. In line with our wider organisational 
commitment to an anti-racist lens on our practice, an element of this 
research will focus on the disproportionality of Black and dual heritage boys 
in the Youth Justice System and how this intersects with our population of 
children on the edge of care. We plan to pilot this approach from late 2021 
- recruitment is underway in November 2021 and the service should be fully 
staffed by February 2022.

P
age 63



42

Feedback from children and young people in care

Each year we undertake a survey of our children in care and care 
leavers. In January - March 2021, we surveyed our looked after 
children. Headlines from this survey, with 19 responses, include:

•  ����89% said they know who their social worker is

•  ��79% said they understood what their social worker tells them 
(an increase from 70% in the last survey in 2020)

•  ��84% said they have someone to speak to where they live

•  ��100% said that they think their carer / key worker cares  
about them

86% of children in care aged 12 to 14 said they knew who their 
Independent Reviewing Officer was. This was similar for 15 to 
18 year olds, at 80%. This is much higher than the last survey in 
2020 where 60% and 59% of young people knew their who their 
Independent Reviewing Officer was respectively.

The response rate for this survey was low (19 responses  
were received), so work is underway in the newly-restructured 
Safeguarding and Quality Assurance Service to better support 
children and young people’s engagement in future surveys. 

Evidence of Impact

Children in care -  
visits and children seen alone
76% of children in care were visited within 30 days as at 10th November 
2021. In 69% of visits where children were seen, the child was seen alone 
during the visit. We know that this needs to be improved and understand 
that this is likely to relate to recording issues - we are working on this to 
ensure visits and children seen alone are recorded accurately and in a  
timely manner. 

 

Fostering Service 
The Fostering Service approved ten mainstream foster carer households 
during 2020/21, an increase on the nine households approved in 2019/20. 
The Fostering Service continues to develop our foster carer recruitment 
and retention strategy, using learning from recent years. Since April 2021 
we have approved 11 new fostering households, with 15 more currently 
in the recruitment process and 3 further households awaiting the start of 
a fostering assessment as at November 2021. Since 2020, 13 Supported 
Lodgings Hosts have also been recruited.

In April 2018 we introduced the role of Consultant Matching Officer to 
address the high vacancy rates for our in-house foster carers, which was 

P
age 64



43

37% of our in-house foster carers at that point in time. The vacancy rate is 
now 7% as at November 2021 showing we are now much better at using 
our own in-house fostering capacity through matching our children with 
appropriate in-house foster carers. 

A total of 28 foster carers resigned or had their approvals terminated during 
2020/21 due to a change in their circumstances, a standard of care issue 
or retirement. Research has shown that on average approximately 13% of 
foster carers leave the role each year nationally.

In November 2020, Hackney of Tomorrow, our Children in 
Care Council, were consulted about their views on children and 
young people’s input to foster carer reviews. As a result of this, 
in February 2021, we updated the practice guidance for staff in 
relation to including children’s voices in the foster carer review 
process. In June 2021, a total of 20 brief audits were undertaken 
on the cohort of carers who had most recently been subject to 
an Annual Review. Auditors reviewed the foster carer files and 
were asked to comment on whether the voice of the child was 
represented in the review process. Auditors found that practice in 
this area requires improvement. In 95% of annual reviews there 
were children living in the foster home at the time of the Annual 

Review, however, in 30% of the audits it was felt by auditors that 
the voice of the child was not represented in the review process; 
when the voice of the child was captured, this was through direct 
feedback via feedback forms. In 82% of audits where a sibling 
group was living in the foster home, not all the voices of the sibling 
group were captured. In response to this audit, unit coordinators 
in the Fostering Service have been reissued with guidance about 
recording when feedback forms have been shared with children, 
and amendments have been made to the Fostering Social Workers 
Report template to ensure that the voice of the child is more clearly 
evidenced. We have scheduled to re-audit this area of practice to 
monitor the impact following these changes.

Evidence of Impact

P
age 65



44

Hackney of Tomorrow (HoT) - Children in Care Council
Over the past 18 months, Hackney’s participation programme has focused 
on two key objectives: firstly, enhancing the ability of Hackney’s Corporate 
Parenting Service to communicate directly with the young people in 
its care, ensuring that these young people receive clear and consistent 
information regarding their care status, rights/entitlements, and any specific 
opportunities available to them; secondly, to develop the Junior Division 
of our Children in Care Council, which gives younger children in care the 
opportunity to participate in and develop the services that they receive from 
their corporate parents. Highlights from the Hackney of Tomorrow activity 
over the last 18 months includes:

•  �In response to the pandemic, HoT operated virtually, then moved to 
a hybrid model to give children the choice of how to attend weekly 
meetings and participation projects. This has enabled a wider group 
of children and young people to connect with HoT. 

•  �Working alongside the Placement Management Unit in the  
re-tendering of contracts for the semi-independent accommodation 
pathway for care leavers.

•  �Real Talk: Our Views on Social Work Terminology - From June to 
September 2020, HoT worked alongside Speech and Language 

Therapists from the Virtual School in order to produce a document 
that presents young people’s responses to social work terms and  
aims to change the use of language within Hackney Children and 
Families Service. 

•  �HoT met with the Contact Centre provider in September 2020 to 
advise about the improvements that they would like to see in the 
service and its facilities. One significant improvement the young 
people asked for was the provision of a space just for teenagers. 

•  �Hair in Care - in February 2021, HoT planned and commissioned the 
production of a training film for foster carers, which focused on the 
difficulties of growing up with afro hair whilst in the care system.  
The film also presents some practical advice on how to look after afro 
hair, as many young people have experiences of living with carers 
who aren’t able to meet their needs in this respect. 

•  �Youth Inspection - From November 2020-August 2021, HoT 
undertook a youth inspection of the Looked After Child Review 
process. This approach consisted of a peer-delivered survey interview 
of children and young people who have recently had their Looked 
After Child Review. 

Participation and direct work with children in  
care and care leavers

P
age 66



45

Helping and protecting looked after children

Independent Chairs and  
Looked After Child Reviews
During the Covid-19 lockdown restrictions, Looked After Reviews were being 
held virtually. The meeting format limited some of the choices children 
had about the venue of the meeting and the activity to be completed. 
However, it did not significantly impact attendance and engagement, and 

it also offered some opportunities to engage with some attendees who 
otherwise would not have been able to attend an in-person meeting. All 
reports and minutes from the meetings continue to be written to the child 
in an age appropriate way. Through a more child and young person centred 
approach, these records contribute to life story work and provide a record of 
achievement for the child. 

Feedback on Looked After Review meetings from children and 
young people:

•  ��“It focused on where I’ll be in the next six months, what  
my plan is and my progression. It’s good to know that I 
 have a plan” 

•  ��“I like the fact that I received a warning about the fact that 
my review was coming up. It gave me time to think about 
what I wanted to talk about”

•  ��“We just talked - it was online on the computer, which I 
thought was better than it being in person”

•  ��“Sometimes I don’t ask questions in my Looked After Child 
review because I can just bring it up with my social worker 
one on one and feel like there’s less pressure”

Evidence of Impact

Unfortunately due to the cyber attack it is not possible to report how many 
Looked After Reviews were held and how many took place within timescale. 
As ever every effort is made to ensure reviews take place within statutory 
timescales. Where this has not been possible the Service Manager will make 

a note of the reasons for this on the child’s record. Requests to change the 
planned date of a Review, if within 6 weeks of the meeting, need to be 
agreed by the respective Heads of Service. Depending on the needs of the 
child the Chair may meet or speak with the child in the interim. 

P
age 67



46

 During October 2020 - March 2021 92% of looked after children aged 
over 4 years participated in their Looked After Review by either attending 
and directly contribute their views, or chose an alternative means of 
participation including asking an advocate or nominating another person 
to share their views, or sharing views through a facilitative medium such as 
in writing or through pictures. This demonstrates that a change in service 
delivery methods during lockdown periods did not affect the ability to 
engage children in their review meetings. Whilst Chairs continue to try and 

engage young people in their reviews through an activity based approach 
this required adaptation within a virtual meeting format. However, Chairs 
were creative and utilised methods such as ‘scavenger hunts’; where virtual 
attendees all had to find an item which made them happy then show and 
explain why to the other attendees, or attendees play a piece of music that 
they felt represented the young person, children putting emojis in the chat 
function to represent feelings about certain topics etc. 

The Hackney of Tomorrow youth inspection of Looked  
After Child Reviews during November 2020-August 2021  
found that: 

•  ��84% of young people understood what their review  
was before they took part 

•  ��95% of young people felt those attending their review  
cared about them

•  ��90% of young people felt their review was focused  
on them

•  ��85% of young people felt their review would benefit  
them in the long run

Young people commented:

•  ��I know my Social Worker wants the best for me and this 
comes out a lot in my reviews

•  ��With everything that was said and any decisions that were 
made, my opinion was asked.

Evidence of Impact

P
age 68



47

Health of looked after children

Physical health of looked after children
Hackney Looked After Children Health Service is delivered by a dedicated 
team closely aligned with Hackney’s universal school-based health service 
and is co-located with the Virtual School to promote the delivery of a  
more holistic and integrated service to our looked after children and  
young people.

Percentage of looked after children whose health checks  
were in time during a 12 month period

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Hackney 91% 96% 91%

England 90% 90% n/a

 

The number of children with an up to date health assessment has 
maintained a comparable performance to the England average. 

Percentage of looked after children whose  
immunisations are up to date

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Hackney 70% 57% 59%

England 87% 88% n/a

The number of children with up to date immunisations is low, and work is  
underway with the Council’s Public Health Service to understand this across 
the City of London and Hackney.

Percentage of looked after children who have  
an up to date dental check

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Hackney 71% 81% 64%

England 85% 86% n/a

The number of children with an up to date dental check has declined due 
to the effect of the Covid-19 pandemic. Covid-19 had a significant impact 
nationally on the performance for health assessments, optician and dental 
checks, as well as immunisations as sections of the health service closed 
to in-person appointments or refocused resources in efforts to contain the 
impact of the pandemic. Work is underway to ensure children and young 
people we care for are now up to date with these checks following the  
easing of lockdown restrictions. 

P
age 69



48

 Mental health of looked after children
The completion rate for SDQs (Strength and Difficulty Questionnaires) 
decreased from 77% of looked after children in 2019/20 to 73% in 
2020/21, in part due to the challenges of completing health assessments 
overall during the pandemic. However, we know that this is an area of critical 
importance for our looked after children, so we have now shifted our focus to 
ensure that SDQ scores are completed prior to a Review Health Assessment, 
so that mental health needs as well as physical needs can be reviewed at 
this forum. For those children with an SDQ score, we can see that there has 
been an improvement in the average score per child - with an average of 

Strengths and difficulties 
questionnaire 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 England 

2020-21 
SN 

2020-21

Children looked after for at 
least 12 months aged 4 to 16 
with an SDQ score

79.0% 77.0% 72.6% 80% 86% 

Average score per child 14.7 13.4 11.8 14 12

11.8 (a lower score is better - high scores are indicative of greater difficulties) 
in 2020/21 compared to 13.4 in 2019/20.

Our in-house clinicians support children in care in multi-agency planning 
using a trauma-informed and attachment-focused approach, making 
sense of children’s behaviours and needs in the context of their earlier 
life experiences. Clinicians will also support in building care arrangement 
stability through training and consultation to foster carers and special 
guardians, that focuses on developing lasting and therapeutic relationships 
between children and their care-givers. For our care leavers, the Clinical 
Service will support them to access local services and offer assessment or 
intervention in a time-limited, goal focused approach. The Clinical Service 
also supports children living with a Special Guardian and children who can 
access the Adoption Support Fund. 

“Our in-house clinicians support children in care in multi-agency       

    planning using a trauma-informed and attachment-focused       
    approach.”                  

P
age 70



The Virtual School 
The Virtual School team provides additional educational support for children 
looked after, from early years all the way through to post-16 education and 
training opportunities, which provides continuity for children and young 
people in care. The Virtual School is well-resourced and includes a variety 
of roles including social pedagogues, learning mentors, an occupational 
therapist and speech and language therapists.

Key Stage 4
The progress for pupils in Key Stage 4 is monitored throughout the year 
and where necessary individual targeted support is offered. Where it is felt 
appropriate, 1 to 1 tuition is offered. All Year 11 pupils receive support to 
identify appropriate pathways once statutory schooling has ended, and 
when necessary, are accompanied to college open days and interviews by  
a member of the Virtual School staff.

Key Stage 4 Attainment in 2020
The GCSE examinations did not take place in 2020 and all children were 
given a grade by teacher assessment. The usual measures of Progress 8  
and attainment 8 do not apply and only passes in English and maths can  
be reported. 

In 2020 the results reported on all the children in our looked after cohort 
who were in year 11 and does not take into account the usual Department 
for Education measure of children who have been in care for at least a year.

Percentage of children achieving Grade 4 at  
Key Stage 4

Grade 4 and above

English Language 21%

English Literature 24%

Maths 22%

There are no national comparable measures available for this year.

Learning

49

P
age 71



50

Key Stage 2
Pupils in year 6 are closely 
monitored and additional support 
is provided if it is necessary. All 
pupils are offered support for the 
transition to secondary school, and 
links are made with designated 
teachers before children transition 
to their new school.

In 2020 no SATs tests took place. 
Children were teacher-assessed 
against the national standard.  
This year the usual reporting  
mechanism of the Department  
for Education does not apply and  
all young people in the cohort  
have been included.

Percentage of children working at the required  
standard at Key Stage 2 

Working at the 
required standard

Reading 35%

Writing 31%

Maths 28%

There are no national comparable measures available this year.

P
age 72



51

Care arrangement stability
Percentage of looked after children with three or  
more care arrangements in one year

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Hackney 13% 12% 10%

Statistical Neighbour 11% 10% 9%

England 11% 11% 9%

There has been a positive decrease in the number of children experiencing 
three or more care arrangements over the course of a year - the 2020/21 
outturn was 10% which is in line only slightly higher than the statistical 
neighbour and national averages of 9%. However, the proportion of 
adolescents coming into care who have more complex needs and  
experience greater care arrangement instability has increased. In 
recognition that this will be an ongoing issue in Hackney due to older 
children entering care, the Head of Corporate Parenting has reviewed  
the panels where decisions are made about care planning for children  
to ensure that there is critical oversight by senior leaders at key points  
for children who are at risk of coming into care, and that there is critical  
quality assurance for those children and young people already in our  
care. The Corporate Parenting Service is also introducing an Edge of  

Care pilot to try and keep adolescents safely at home wherever this is 
possible. Recruitment to this project is currently underway.

The percentage of children aged under 16 who have  
been looked after for more than 2.5 years, who have lived  
in the same home for over 2 years

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Hackney 62% 66% 77%

Statistical Neighbour 70% 71% 70%

England 69% 68% 71%

There has been a positive increase in the proportion of children aged  
under 16 who have been looked after for more than 2.5 years, who have 
lived in the same home for over 2 years (77% in 2020/21 compared to  
66% in 2019/20). Hackney’s performance against this indicator is better 
than the statistical neighbour and England averages in 2020/21. While 
this may reflect the impact of the pandemic, we have continued to invest 
in our fostering service to support stability for children in our care. This has 
included a new therapeutic fostering group; a new support group for male 
carers; the continued expansion of the Mockingbird Model and ongoing 
oversight of decision-making around planned and unplanned moves for 
children through a multi-agency panel that focuses on stability for children.

Stability and permanence

P
age 73



52

Care arrangement types as at 31 March 2021

Care arrangement type Number of looked after children

Foster care arrangements 304 (71%)

Placed for adoption 3 (1%)

Care arrangements with parents 23 (5%)

Secure units, children's homes 
and semi-independent living 
accommodation

96 (23%)

Total 426 (100%)

The vast majority of Hackney’s looked after children are living with foster 
carers and the service continues to increase the number of in-house foster 
carers available to support them. At 31 March 2021, 156 children were 
living with in-house foster carers including connected persons carers and 
148 children were living with Independent Fostering Agency carers. 

Care arrangements for looked after children by  
location at 31 March 2021

Care arrangements location Number of Children

Hackney 101 (24%)

Under 20 miles from Hackney 223 (52%)

Over 20 miles from Hackney 71 (17%)

(Note - distance for unaccompanied asylum seeking children is not  
captured within this performance measure)

The majority of our looked after children were living in homes in or 
within 20 miles of Hackney at 76% in March 2021 - this was the same 
percentage in March 2020. The majority of Hackney’s looked after children 
are living in homes within commuting distance of Hackney. There is a 
strong focus on ensuring that all children, regardless of where they are 
living, receive the same level of support.

  Mockingbird Project
The Fostering Network’s Mockingbird programme is an innovative 
research-based method of delivering foster care using the Mockingbird 
Family Model, developed in the USA. The model centres on a constellation 
where one foster home acts as a hub, offering advice, training and support 
to 6-10 satellite foster or kinship families. The hub home builds strong 
relationships with all those in the constellation, empowering families  
to support each other and to build on strengths and overcome problems 
before they escalate or lead to breakdown. Evaluations of the Mockingbird 
Family Model show improved outcomes for children, young people and 
carers, with improved stability of care arrangements, connection with 
siblings, and foster carer support and retention. The project launched 
Hackney’s first hub home in August 2019, with the second constellation 
established in October 2021, and a third planned to start in December 
2021. The Mockingbird model promotes stability and continuity 
for children and young people - to date we have only had one care 
arrangement breakdown within the model and this child was able to  
be moved to another carer within their constellation who they  
already knew well. 

P
age 74



53

Adoption
In October 2019, Adopt London North took over responsibility for adoption 
services in Hackney - this means that they manage the recruitment of 
prospective adopters, matching children to adoptive families and the 
adoption process for children and families, as well as post-adoption support. 
In 2020/21, 5 looked after children ceased to be looked after and were 
adopted in Hackney (3% of those children who ceased to be looked after in 
2020/21) - which is lower than the 11 children in 2019/20 and 12 children in 
2018/19. This is below our statistical neighbours, that had an average of 5% 
of children leaving care via adoption in 2020/21.

The average time in days between a child entering care and moving in 
with their adopted family (adjusted for foster care adoptions) in Hackney 

between 2017-2020 was 388 days, similar to the England average of 367 
days and the statistical neighbour average of 362 days. The average time 
in days between a local authority receiving court authority to place a child 
and the local authority deciding on a match to an adoptive family between 
2017-2020 was 233 days in Hackney; this is slower than the England 
average of 175 days and slightly slower than the statistical neighbour 
average of 221 days. The average time in days between a child entering 
care and a placement order being approved between 2017-2020 was 190 
days in Hackney, faster than the England average of 261 days and the 
statistical neighbour average of 294 days. Many of the increases for these 
indicators were as a direct result of the challenges the Courts faced during 
the Covid-19 pandemic.

Hackney is part of Adopt London North which consists of six  
local authorities: Hackney, Camden, Islington, Enfield, Barnet and 
Haringey... 

P
age 75



54

Care Leaver information
376 care leavers aged between 17 and 21 were being supported by the 
Leaving Care service at 31 March 2021, a 12% increase compared to 335 
at the same point in 2020. This number has decreased to 299 care leavers 
aged 17-21 at the end of September 2021. There were 79 care leavers aged 
22 and older being supported as at 31st March 2021, the same number as 
at March 2020. This has decreased to 72 care leavers being supported aged 
22 and older as at 30th September 2021.

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 SN 
2020-21

England 
2020-21 

% of care leavers 
aged 19-21 who 
were in education, 
employment or 
training

65% 65% 56% 55% 53%

% of care leavers 
aged 19-21 who 
were in suitable 
accommodation

80% 86% 87% 86% 85%

% of care leavers 
aged 19-21 who 
were in higher 
education

11% 10% 11% 8% 6%

Care Leavers and transitions

56% of Hackney care leavers aged 19 or 20 were in education, employment 
or training in 2020/21. This is in line with statistical neighbours (55%) 
but lower than the 65% in Hackney in 2019/20. Some of this decrease 
in performance is linked to the impact of Covid-19 on employment 
opportunities for care leavers (the statistical neighbour average is the most 
recently published data and is for the previous year). The consistent  
support offered by the Virtual School and social workers during the last  
year has again resulted in a low number of care leavers who are NEET  
(not in education, employment or training). There has been an increase in 
the percentage of care leavers who were in higher education in Hackney 
- from 10% in 2019-20 to 11% 2020-21, much higher than the national 
average of 6%. 

The percentage of care leavers aged 19-21 who were in suitable 
accommodation in 2020/21 was 87%, an increase from 86% last 
year. Housing is a challenge both locally and nationally but the Service 
will continue efforts to improve the number of care leavers in suitable 
accommodation in partnership with the Council’s Housing Needs Service.

Pathway plans
While pathway plan performance is improving with 47% of pathway plans 
for care leavers reviewed within 6 months as at 31st March 2021, which has 
increased to 58% as at 30th September 2021, there is still more work to 
do to achieve the 100% compliance target set by the service for the end of 
March 2022. Data as at November 2021 shows that 31% of pathway plans 
were out of timescale, an improvement on September 2021 when 44% 
were out of timescale. A new panel has been established with the Service 

P
age 76



55

Manager and Practice Development Manager reviewing all out of date 
pathway plans from October 2021. 

Pathway plans

An audit of 8 pathway plans for care leavers aged 18 and older 
took place in May 2021 and found that practice in this area 
required improvement. Good examples of plans were written 
directly to the young person, clearly captured specific areas of 
strength and need, and it was evident that practitioners had 
developed strong, open, trusting relationships with young people 
over time. In some instances, the frequency of contact with young 
people needed to improve in line with our practice standards, and 
the style of pathway plans needed to be more consistent and 
written to the young person. Next steps to improve practice in this 
area included ensuring visits to care leavers were taking place in 
line with our practice standards and recorded correctly. These areas 
are being closely monitored by managers in the service.

Audits of support for care leavers take place routinely to 
understand the quality of practice in this area. From May - 
July 2021, 12 audits show that practice is rated as requires 
improvement, with greater focus on the quality and timeliness of 
pathway plans needed, and an increase in management oversight 
needed. There was generally good safety planning on the young 

person’s case file where this was necessary, as well as good overall 
recording evidenced on the young person’s case file.

Care leavers annual survey

Each year we undertake a survey of our children in care and care 
leavers. In January-March 2021, we surveyed our care leavers and 
headlines from this survey include, from 21 responses:

•  ��81% said they find it easy to speak to their Leaving Care 
worker - an increase from 73% in the last survey in 2020.

•  ��90% said their Leaving Care worker helps wthem with 
problems they have - an increase from 76% in the last survey.

•  ��90% said their Leaving Care worker does what they say they 
will - an increase from 73% in the last survey

57% said they have someone to speak to where they live, 
plus another 33% replied ‘sometimes’. This is a considerable 
improvement from the last survey in 2020 where only 13% said 
they had someone to speak to where they live (plus another 20% 
said ‘sometimes’).

Evidence of Impact

P
age 77



56

Apprenticeships and employment support  
for care leavers
The Employment Pathways Team within Hackney Works manages a 
range of early career programmes. This includes supported internships; 
the new government Kickstart Scheme which aims to generate six-month 
work placements for 16-24 year olds who are currently on Universal 
Credit and at risk of long-term unemployment; and also the Hackney 
Council apprenticeship programme, which guarantees an interview for 
care leavers. Hackney Council currently offers more than 100 apprentice 
placements in many different departments, such as Housing, ICT, 
Trades, Business Administration, Youth Work, and Finance. Currently the 
programme has a 75% success rate, in terms of supporting those enrolled 

on an apprenticeship into work or a higher level apprenticeship at the 
conclusion of their apprenticeship. As well as the Council offering a range 
of apprenticeships within the Council, the Council also works with other 
local providers in the private sector to develop apprenticeship opportunities, 
although these apprenticeships do not offer a guaranteed interview for 
care leavers. Currently, wherever appropriate, the Virtual School and the 
Leaving Care Service support young people to apply for local apprenticeship 
opportunities and spend time with each young person who applies to ensure 
their application form is the best it can be. Work is underway to further 
strengthen our employment offer to care leavers within the Council, with 
a number of proposals being explored with senior leaders, including ring-
fencing opportunities for care leavers.

Disabled looked after children and transitions

An audit was undertaken in October 2021 on the theme of the 
experiences of our looked after children and care leavers who are 
disabled. These included a review of practice for: 6 looked after 
children who have a disability; 4 care leavers who have a disability 
and 2 in-house foster carers who care for a child with a disability. 
The audits found evidence of good practice, including long-term 
settled and loving homes, high quality recording and detailed, well-
considered reports and high levels of multi-agency support. Audits 
also found areas of improvement needed, including the need to 
do more to begin transition planning for disabled children earlier, 
with greater clarity required within the service about transition 
processes for disabled looked after children, including a stronger 
understanding across the service of the options available post-18 

and how we best prepare young people and their carers for this 
transition. As a result of this audit, multi-agency practice guidance 
about transition planning for looked after children who are 
disabled is being developed with Adult Social Care in November/
December 2021 to clarify roles, responsibilities and processes in the 
hope of improving this transition process for our young people.

Leaving Care Welfare and Benefits

Following the introduction of a dedicated Leaving Care Welfare  
and Benefits Officer in March 2020, we have had a 34% increase  
in the number of care leavers claiming the correct benefits for their 
accommodation. Hackney is currently at 73% of all eligible young 
people claiming which is the highest figure we have had in the last 
5 years. 

Evidence of ImpactP
age 78



57

Young people have been feeding back about their experience of 
using the Leaving Care Welfare and Benefits service:

•  ��“The officer was easy to reach if I had any queries. She would take  
any phone calls to help guide me through any bits I was uncertain  
with. She answered any questions my carers and I had and  
was also very lovely and understanding!”

•  ��“I am really bad at filling out forms, that’s one of my  
weaknesses but the officer guided me through everything  
and was patient with me and when I made mistakes she  
told me what to correct and I was able to complete everything.”�

P
age 79



58

The Impact of Leaders on Social Work Practice with  
Children and Families

A significant number of changes to our practice model have been made 
over a relatively short period of time as part of our accelerated focus on 
improvement in 2021, which some staff have told us they have found 
challenging. Work is underway to fully embed these changes and ensure 
that staff at all levels fully understand the expectations of their roles. Good 
progress is being made in terms of our focus on anti-racist practice and 

leaders are appropriately refining the approach to quality assurance to 
evidence the quality of practice and impact of changes. The complex work 
to develop a comprehensive case recording system for the Children and 
Families Service has continued to be a top priority for the Council and this is 
being driven by senior leaders to ensure social workers have the tools they 
need to do their jobs well.

A significant number of changes to our 
practice model have been made over a 
relatively short period of time as  
part of our accelerated focus on 
improvement in 2021...

P
age 80



59

Driving improvement
Our focus on improvement accelerated from early 2021, with a refocused 
energy to make the changes needed to improve our service for children 
at pace. This has included taking decisive action to improve management 
oversight on cases, through reviewing our line management structure as 
well as introducing robust supervision arrangements. The legacy of the 
cyberattack in October 2020 cannot be understated, and the complex work 
to develop a comprehensive case recording system for the Children and 
Families Service has continued to be a top priority for the Council. The new 
Group Director of Children and Education has driven this work since she 
started in post in August 2021. There is a commitment and clear plans in 
place to ensure that practitioners are able to record on children’s case files 
on a comprehensive recording system (Mosaic) by April 2022, and this plan 
and timescales have been communicated to practitioners.

The Ofsted focused visit in July 2021 provided a helpful stocktake and 
an external perspective on where we are at in our improvement journey 
and confirmed that we know ourselves well through our quality assurance 
framework. Inspectors found that: “dedicated scrutiny by senior leaders and 
strengthened management oversight mean that children in Hackney are 
benefiting from improving social work practice when they are in need or on 
a child protection plan.” The Ofsted visit also provided additional external 
scrutiny of the changes we have made to the Hackney model of social work 
over the last year to further strengthen management oversight of frontline 
practice, and increase transparency and accountability in the service. 

We have worked on refreshing our improvement plan to incorporate the 
learning from the focused visit and to stretch ourselves to focus on getting 
to outstanding in terms of the support we provide to children and families. 

The refreshed improvement plan is themed around the priorities outlined 
at the start of this report. Strong governance arrangements continue to 
monitor and drive our improvement, with an officer board chaired by the 
Chief Executive, and a member board co-chaired by the Mayor and Lead 
Member providing clear accountability for senior leaders.

Changes to Hackney model of  
social work
Focus on increasing the line of sight of senior leaders and 
management oversight
Many of the changes that have been introduced over the last year aim to 
increase the line of sight from senior leaders to frontline practice. These 
include the introduction of the Need to Know Forum and Need to Know 
Briefings from March 2021 to ensure a clear line of sight up to the statutory 
Director of Children’s Services on practice where there are matters of high 
risk that relate directly to a child, young person and/or family or where 
there are other serious high risk matters that impact significantly on 
the local authority. As well as the introduction of a new monthly quality 
assurance process that all managers from the frontline to senior managers 
in the service take part in (further information is included in the section on 
Learning Culture below).

We have focused on strengthening management oversight, including 
through the realignment of the Practice Development Manager role from 
Spring 2021 to create an additional level of management without case 
holding responsibility in the Family Intervention and Support Service and 
the Corporate Parenting Service, with an increased emphasis on leadership 
and a focus on ensuring consistency of practice across social work units. 

Strategic Leadership

P
age 81



60

We have also strengthened the Children’s Resource Panel, chaired by 
the Director of Children’s Social Care, to make it clearer that the panel 
makes the decision as to whether or not a child is going to come into the 
care of the local authority. The panel also reviews and approves requests 
for residential care arrangements and approval of care arrangements of 
children at home with parents. 

Case allocation and introduction of individual  
professional casework supervision
In February 2021 we fundamentally changed the way that work with 

children is allocated within the service, with children now allocated to 
individual social workers as opposed to a social work unit. This change has 
engendered individual accountability for individual social workers, improved 
transparency and provided more equity and consistency in terms of case 
management across individual social work units across the directorate. 

One of the key improvements in the service in 2021 was the roll out of 
individual professional casework supervision from April 2021, following 
on from the introduction of individual case allocation. A new supervision 
policy was introduced, supported by mandatory training for every practice 
manager in the Children and Families Service. 

...A new supervision policy was  
introduced, supported by mandatory 
training for every practice  
manager in the Children and  
Families Service.

Regular supervision audits have been scheduled to monitor the 
quality of supervision being delivered and the recording of this 
on children’s files. Casework supervision records will provide key 
evidence about the progress of children’s plans and the quality of 
management oversight in achieving great outcomes for children 
in accordance with Hackney’s practice standards. An audit of 67 
supervision records undertaken in May/June 2021 found that 58% 
were graded ‘good’ or better (6% outstanding, 52% good, 33% 

requires improvement and 9% inadequate). The audits evidenced 
a very strong focus on outcomes and progress of the child’s plan, 
strong voice of the child, very strong management oversight, and 
clear contingency planning. Areas for improvement identified 
included exploration of identity / anti-racist practice / social 
GRAAACES and this will be addressed through our anti-racist  
action plan. 

Evidence of Impact

P
age 82



61

Anti-Racist Practice

Children and Families Service Anti-Racist 
Position Statement
Hackney Children and Families Service is committed to eradicating 
systemic racism, discrimination, injustice, making anti-racism 
a foundation of our practice. We will be a voice and force for 
change, for every child and family that we work for and with, 
to recognise and address the impact of racism on children and 
families within our practice, to apply our antiracist principles in all 
of our interactions with and decision-making about children and 
to determinedly and actively, demand the same from our partners. 
We will be committed to calling out racism, discrimination, 
microaggressions and will ensure that this is addressed at all levels 
in the council to ensure that children and their families and the 
workforce are supported and valued. 

Within Hackney Children and Families Service, we acknowledge 
the harm and impact of racism and that the experience of our 
Black staff and those from other global majority ethnic groups, is 
not the same as that of our white staff and we are committed to 
ensuring that all voices are represented and heard at every level 
providing support to staff who experience work-based racism and 
microaggressions. To that end, making sure that our workforce 
reflects the community which we serve, especially at the senior 
leadership level.

1. Inclusive Recruitment and Aspirational Support 
for Staff: Staff workforce is representative of the child 
and family population in Hackney at all levels, including 
at senior leadership levels.

2. Anti-Racist Leadership and Practice with 
Children and Families: Leadership and practice with 
children and families takes a pro-actively anti-racist 
stance to address racism, discrimination and inequality.

3. Promoting Anti-Racist Practice to influence 
broader systems that affect children and 
families’ lives: Leaders and practitioners across the 
Children and Families Service take action to address 
structural racism and proactively lead, support and 
constructively challenge the broader system including  
in partnership discussions as required.

Our Anti-Racist Action Plan Goals

P
age 83



62

Building upon work undertaken as part of the Improving Outcomes  
for Young Black Men Programme, in July 2020, Children and Families 
Services committed to create and implement our anti-racist action plan. 
Our Anti-Racist Position Statement, makes clear the journey we need to 
take as a service to improve the experience and progression of our staff 
but, importantly, the Children and Young people of Hackney who are 
disproportionately affected by racism. We are committed to fighting  
racism and being anti-racist in the Children and Families Service. From  
the beginning, we knew that to really achieve this, anti-racism work had 
to take a “grassroots” approach, including the broadest possible range of 
experience and perspectives from across the whole of our diverse workforce.

Currently, colleagues involved in the action plan represent the diversity of 
our workforce, with accountability held by the Senior Leadership Team and 
representatives from Black and Global majority ethnic staff who form our 
Promoting Racial Equality Leadership Group (PRELG). Our new Diversity 
and Inclusion Lead role steers the anti-racist action plan, ensuring that our 
working groups and focus groups are a safe space for everyone involved - 
valuing all perspectives and experiences equally. This ethos is important 
as it allows colleagues from different areas and levels of position to come 
together with openness and honesty. Our initial achievements include:

•  �Re-launch of the Promoting Racial Equality Leadership group in 
October 2021. 

•  �Lets Talk Anti Racist Podcast Series over summer-autumn 2021.

•  �Reviewed and made recommendations in respect of our Children and 
Families Service Recruitment Protocol and developed our Anti-Racist 
Practice Standards which will be launched January 2022

•  �3 year programme of anti-racist conversations through Action 
Learning Sets for all staff; first round to be evaluated by end 2021 

•  �Racialised trauma peer support groups launched in partnership with 
the Corporate Strategy and Policy team - September-December 2021

•  �First joint workshop with colleagues in Hackney Education to review 
synergy in respective anti-racist action plans and opportunities to 
closely collaborate took place November 2021

•  �Diversity in Recruitment Champion Training due to be initiated  
January 2022

•  �Children and Families Service Anti Racist Praxis Conference on  
Racial Trauma - scheduled for April 2022

P
age 84



63

A refreshed Workforce Development Strategy for 2022 onwards is being 
finalised to further develop our workforce to meet the need for accountable, 
flexible and highly skilled practitioners and support staff. 

A particular focus for the service over the coming year is the recruitment and 
retention of staff. We will be reviewing our offer to social workers to ensure 
we are able to recruit excellent social workers at all levels in the highly 
competitive London jobs market, as well as strengthening our induction, 
training and development offer to retain and progress our staff. 

An extensive training and learning programme is currently in place 
which includes a comprehensive ASYE (Assessed and Supported Year 
in Employment) programme for newly qualified social workers with 13 
ASYE social workers in the service at November 2021; and a staff training 
programme, which is informed and developed with feedback from staff.  
We will be working on further strengthening these learning programmes 
over the coming months, including for new managers.

A refreshed exit interview process has now been in place since April 2020. 

All staff leaving the organisation are offered the opportunity to contribute 
feedback through exit interviews. Over the past 3 months, 11 exit interviews 
were conducted with staff leaving the organisation. Key findings from exit 
interviews are analysed in more detail and discussed at the Workforce 
Development Board, chaired by the Director of Children’s Social Care  
to ensure this quality assurance information informs our action plans  
for the service.

Staff wellbeing
Regular virtual drop in and engagement sessions have continued with the 
new leadership to ensure that staff views are listened to. The Staff Reference 
Group that was established in summer 2020 has also continued to meet, 
acting as a critical friend and sounding board to senior leaders on service 
improvement and policy development, as well as overall staff wellbeing. 
Following changes in senior leadership the Staff Reference Group has been 
relaunched and is now meeting with the Director of Children’s Social Care 
every 6 weeks.

Workforce and caseloads

We have carried out a number of surveys over the last 18 
months to understand staff welfare and wellbeing. These have 
included the Research in Practice Social Work Organisational 
Research Diagnostic (SWORD) in summer 2021 and a Council-wide 
staff survey in Autumn 2021.

Research in Practice Social Work Organisational  
Research Diagnostic survey

The findings of the Research in Practice Social Work Organisational 
Research Diagnostic (SWORD) were largely positive and 130 

Evidence of Impact

P
age 85



64

members of staff responded. Overall: 

•  ��17% of staff felt their work was mildly stressful;

•  ��45% found work to be moderately stressful;

•  ��28% found work to be very stressful; and

•  ��7% found work to be extremely stressful

Areas of strength identified in the survey included:

•  ��87% of staff agree that managers are available when they 
need support

•  ��88% of staff responded positively in relation to feeling 
respected and supported by their colleagues

•  ��83% of staff responded positively when asked if they found 
their job meaningful

•  ��71% of staff feel they are able to access the training needed 
to do their job

•  ��There was a general sense that staff are treated fairly (81% 
positive response rate) and that staff feel they are trusted to 
do a good job (92% positive response rate)

Areas to develop:

•  ��64% of staff responded negatively when asked if change was 
managed sensitively with a balance maintained between 
change and stability with 29% of respondents ‘strongly 
disagreeing’ with this statement

•  ��65% of respondents disagreed that there was an 
understanding of the impact of organisational change and 
action taken to manage it effectively

These findings have influenced the development of the refreshed 
Workforce Development Strategy for 2022 onwards that is 
currently being finalised.

Council staff survey

The findings from the Council-wide staff survey in Autumn 2021 
for the Children and Education Directorate were broadly in line 
with the Research in Practice survey. 82% of staff feel that their 
manager genuinely cares about their wellbeing, 79% of staff feel 
that they are part of a team, and 81% of staff are able to take 
time out from work when they need to. Key areas for improvement 
include that only 30% of staff think that morale is high (this was 
in line with the findings for the wider Council), 23% think that 
something is done when someone is not performing in their  
role, and 39% think that leaders have communicated a  
motivating vision. 

We recognise that morale in some parts of the service may be 
lower following the impact of the pandemic and the cyberattack, 
together with the process of embedding some of the changes we 
have introduced over the last year to improve and drive progress 
for children. Ofsted confirmed what we already knew in July 2021 
that “many staff are very happy working in Hackney and feel well 
supported through a unique and complex set of challenges. For 
some staff, the pace of change has been too quick and they have 
not felt as well informed as they would have liked. The skilled 
workforce recognises the benefits of the changes and understands 
that some resetting of baseline expectations was necessary. Senior 
leaders understand that, having laid solid foundations, there is 
more work to do to support staff during the ongoing changes.” 

We recognise that we have further work to do to ensure we manage 
change well and keep staff on board with any further changes we 
make to improve practice and outcomes for children and families, 
and to continue to embed the changes we have already made. 

P
age 86



65

Workforce data
Percentage of agency social workers

2019 2020 2021

Hackney 28.1% 32% 22%

Statistical Neighbour 23.1% 22% n/a

England 15.8% 15.4% n/a

There has been a decrease of 10 percentage points in the percentage of 
agency staff as a total of our social workers as at 30 September 2021, 
which has brought us in line with the statistical neighbour average of 22% 
in 2020. The service has focused on recruiting staff permanently wherever 
possible, including recruiting existing agency staff to permanent roles, and 
reducing staff numbers where demand has been reduced as a result of 
the changes we have made in managing thresholds at the front door, and 
the reduction in referrals as a result of the pandemic. In 2020, the higher 
agency staffing reflected measures that were put in place during the year 
to temporarily increase social worker capacity to respond to increases in 
demand in the service.

Vacancy rate for permanent social workers

2019 2020 2021

Hackney 24% 23% 22%

Statistical Neighbour 22% 21% n/a

England 16% 16% n/a

Hackney’s vacancy rate for permanent social workers has continued to 
decrease from 24% in 2019 to 22% as at the end of September 2021. 

This is closer to our statistical neighbours, but still higher than the England 
average for the last year. 

Percentage rate of social worker turnover

2019 2020 2021

Hackney 8.3 15.9 11.7

Statistical Neighbour 16.8 16 n/a

England 15.1 13.5 n/a

Our social worker turnover rate reduced from 15.9 in 2020 to 11.7 in  
2021, representing an improvement in retaining social workers during  
this period. As our practitioners have faced considerable challenges over  
the last year including the continued pandemic and the significant impact 
of the cyberattack in Hackney on our recording systems and their day to day 
work experience, we are proud that our social worker turnover rate actually 
decreased during this period meaning we were able to support  
and retain staff. 

Cases (children) per social worker (based on FTE equivalents)

2019 2020 2021

Hackney 18 16.4 14

Statistical Neighbour 15 14.0 n/a

England 17 16.3 n/a

Hackney’s average social worker caseload, as calculated using the 
Department for Education methodology, has decreased over the past year 
as the number of children and the number of social workers have reduced 
in the service. However this measure does not reflect an accurate picture 
of caseloads for our social workers as it divides the number of children we 

P
age 87



66

are supporting equally across all case holding social workers, including 
our Consultant Social Workers and ASYE social workers who hold smaller 
caseloads. As at 30 September 2021, the average caseload for social  
workers (excluding Consultant Social Workers) was 17 children. This figure 
still does not account for the lower caseloads held by our ASYE social 
workers, so the reality for some social workers will be higher than this 
average caseload figure.

As a result of individual casework allocation we are now more effectively 
able to monitor caseloads for individual practitioners and this enables us 
to be more agile in allocating resources according to need. Our aim is that 

ASYE Social Workers will hold no more than 11 or 12 children; case holding 
social workers will hold around 18 children; and Consultant Social Workers 
will hold approximately 5 children, alongside their management duties. 
The very nature of work in the Access and Assessment Service means 
that caseloads will fluctuate around these numbers at times. The weekly 
Children and Families Management Team allows for a weekly check in with 
Heads of Service on any specific workload pressures and an opportunity 
to step in to find solutions as a focused leadership team, coupled with the 
implementation of the Driving Quality, Improvement and Performance 
(DQIP) framework, there is now a strong line of sight from the Director to 
the frontline practitioner.

...As a result of individual casework allocation we are now more effectively 
able to monitor caseloads for individual practitioners  
and this enables us to be more agile in allocating  
resources according to need...

P
age 88



67

Continuing to strengthen our approach to 
Quality Assurance
Our quality assurance framework is focused on continuous improvement 
and we strive to ensure that we are always learning from the children and 
families we support. We revisit our framework regularly and our most recent 
changes to the audit programme include our response to the cyberattack 
and subsequent lack of access to children’s records by introducing a ‘Live 
Learning’ audit approach. We have also introduced clearer audit moderation 
and follow-up processes, with further work to fully embed these across the 
service being introduced in the coming months. 

Full audits are moderated by the auditor’s line manager, who will be at a 
Head of Service level or more senior. For brief audits, these are moderated 
by a Service Manager who does not oversee the work being audited, using 
a moderation tool. All audits that have found practice to be ‘requires 
improvement’ or ‘inadequate’ are subject to a re-audit once 3 months have 
passed, to check that improvement actions highlighted by the auditor have 
been complete, and that practice for that child/ren has now reached ‘good’. 
Where practice is found to be ‘inadequate’ in an audit, responsible Service 
Managers are required to undertake 2 dip sample audits of practice so as to 
explore whether this is as a result of practice with just one child or whether 
there is a theme of poor practice with an individual practitioner. Each line 
manager has a responsibility for tracking practice improvement following  
an audit outcome of ‘inadequate’. 

Quality assurance is not limited to audit activity however, and as part of 
our work to strengthen our approach to quality assurance, we have also 

reviewed the support needed to deliver wider assurance such as feedback 
from children and families and how this links to our workforce development 
and improvement work. In May 2021 our Safeguarding and Learning Team 
was formally restructured following a consultation and became the Quality 
Assurance and Improvement Team with 4 distinct hubs, one of which is 
dedicated to Quality Assurance. Within the Complaints and Feedback Hub 
we have recruited a dedicated permanent family feedback officer to more 
proactively gather and analyse feedback from children and their families, 
including through the development of parent/carer and young people 
advisory groups. A refreshed family feedback programme will be launched in 
Spring 2022 to ensure this programme is driving improvements to practice 
and is a key strand of our quality assurance framework. 

During the Ofsted focused visit, inspectors found “managers and leaders 
are well informed through an audit process that provides a targeted focus 
on specific areas of practice that have needed development, such as multi-
agency strategy discussions and fuller ‘live learning’ audits”. We were 
already aware that we needed to strengthen our audit moderation process 
and following up the impact of audits and Ofsted also recognised this as 
outlined above.

We have worked to increase the number of Independent Chairs in order 
to reduce caseloads to enable Chairs to have more effective oversight of 
practice including through introducing a consistent approach to mid-point 
monitoring between Looked After Reviews and Child Protection Conferences 
and engaging Independent Chairs in our audit programme. During the 
Ofsted focused visit in July 2021, inspectors noted that “independent 
reviewing officers maintain effective oversight that includes a helpful mid-

Learning culture

P
age 89



68

point review”. An audit of the mid-way oversight on 27 Child Protection 
Plans that took place in August-September 2021 found that this area 
requires improvement, with practice improving as the use of the mid-way 
oversight tool was embedded, with evidence the plan was progressing for 
the child, or concerns being escalated by the Independent Chair if not. 

There has been an increased focus on escalations by Independent Chairs 
following the cyberattack in October 2020, however the interim social 
care system makes it harder to record and understand the response to 

escalations by Chairs. Escalations have generally been in relation to a lack 
of or late reports, and lack of progression of actions in plans. We do know 
that there has been an inconsistent response to escalations when they are 
raised. In order to better support this work and improve practice, a monthly 
Independent Chair escalation oversight meeting with the Heads of Service 
for the Family Intervention and Support Service and Corporate Parenting 
was introduced from November 2021.

The cyberattack in October 2020 meant that we were prevented 
from accessing any of our records for children and also meant 
that we did not have a service wide recording system to 
access newly created records at that point in time. Service 
areas continued with routine brief audits, contacting individual 
practitioners and managers to access key documents that they held 
within unit shared files. In this context we adapted our approach 
to auditing and introduced a ‘Live Learning’ approach to our full 
Case Review Day audits, engaging practitioners in an Appreciative 
Enquiry dialogue whilst reviewing records created for children since 
October 2020, with a focus for this audit round in particular upon 
the impact of the cyberattack upon practice and our evidence of 
practice since that time. This audit took place in April 2021 and 
found that practice required improvement. The audit found that:

•  ��Practitioners know families well and have positive  
relationships with children

•  ��Positive exploration of identity with assessments  
and interventions

•  ��Recording does not reflect practice (includes cyber attack 
impact/challenges of interim system)

•  ��Escalation with partner agencies not consistently taking place 

•  ��Not enough challenge to families blocking visits citing Covid-19

Areas for improvement identified included the need to resolve the 
ICT issues affecting practitioners’ ability to record effectively; 
the need to ensure plans are goal-focused with time-frames and 
reviews in place to measure practice; the need to strengthen 
escalation with partner agencies; and engagement with fathers.

Evidence of Impact

Key to our strengthened approach to quality assurance is the introduction of 
the Driving Quality, Improvement and Performance (DQIP) forum from June 
2021 - the central Children and Families Service meeting to evidence and 

reflect on the quality of practice in the service. This involves a monthly cycle 
of managers at all levels of the organisation evidencing and reflecting on 
what is working well / what are we worried about / what needs to happen in 

P
age 90



69

...A refreshed family feedback programme will be launched in Spring 2022  
to ensure this programme is driving improvements to  
practice and is a key strand of our  
quality assurance framework.

the following areas:

•  �the workforce

•  �practice

•  �service performance in the 3 months

•  �feedback from quality assurance

The DQIP framework increases transparency and accountability within 
the system and supports a ‘bottom up’ approach to quality assurance so 
that all levels of managers are involved in the process and are accountable 
for performance and improvement in their units/services. The monthly 
DQIP forum, chaired by the Director of Children’s Social Care, has a critical 
role in the quality assurance of the Children and Families Service as the 
forum where quantitative and qualitative learning is brought together 
in combination with reporting from every practice line manager in the 
service. The purpose of the DQIP framework is to quality assure against the 
standards that have been set for practice across the Children and Families 
Service and to drive improvements in practice in a transparent way. This 
includes information from the Safeguarding and Quality Assurance Service 
to support our learning about the impact of practice, such as Independent 

Chair escalations; complaints learning; feedback from children and families; 
internal audits; City and Hackney Safeguarding Partnership multi-agency 
audits; and learning from Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews. Four DQIP 
cycles have taken place to date, and we are continuing to embed and 
develop this process to ensure it has impact and drives improvements in 
practice. 

Further to staff feedback following the Ofsted ILACS inspection and a 
successful pilot in 2020, we have also developed an approach to ensure 
senior and middle managers get a better sense of live practice across 
the service, ensuring that we are better connected and supportive of 
frontline practitioners whilst identifying strengths and any areas for further 
development across the service. Learning Visits provide an opportunity for 
line managers and senior managers to accompany practitioners to home 
visits or meetings with families to provide support and to ensure senior and 
middle managers retain direct experience of live practice and to enable 
them to experience the quality of practice across our services to children and 
their families. We will be rolling out Learning Visits across the service from 
January 2022 and incorporating the learning into our monthly DQIP quality 
assurance framework.

P
age 91



70

Financial Update 

The outturn for 2020/21 for the Children and Families Service on a net 
budget of £61.5m was an overspend of £3.2m after use of grants and 
reserves of £10.5m including a drawdown on the Commissioning Reserve 
of £3.9m and £4.7m of Social Care Grant funding. The overspend of £3.2m 
including £2m of Covid-19 related expenditure incurred by the service. 
There has been a requirement to draw down from the Commissioning 
Reserve since 2012/13 due to the increased number of children in care and a 
shortage of in-house foster carers. 

The financial position for 2021/22 is a net budget of £61m for the Children 
and Families Service, and the service is forecasting to overspend by £2.4m 
(as at October 2021) after use of reserves and drawdown of grants totalling 
£13.2m (including full use of the commissioning activity reserve of £3.7m 
and £6.3m of Social Care Grant funding). The overspend of £2.4m includes 
£1.2m of Covid-19 related expenditure incurred by the service. Within the 
current forecast, cost reduction proposals have been agreed by the service to 
reduce the overspend.

The Children and Families Service has continued to make contributions 
to the efficiency agenda of the Council. Over the previous eight years the 
service has delivered £11.6m savings with a further £280k being delivered 

70

in 2021/22. The increase in commissioning costs has been driven by an 
increase in the number of looked after children since 2011/12. There 
is a continuation of a large proportion of children being placed with 
independent fostering agencies (IFAs) due to a lack of suitable in-house 
foster carers. The cost of an IFA care arrangement is significantly greater 
than that of an in-house care arrangement.

Hackney has also seen an increase in residential care arrangements since 
2015 adding considerable budget pressures with an average annual unit 
cost of £250k. We are also seeing a rise in the number of under 18s in high-
cost semi-independent care arrangements. Where young people in their 
late teens are deemed to be vulnerable, and in many cases are transitioning 
from residential to semi-independent care arrangements, where they still 
require a high level of support and in extreme circumstances bespoke crisis 
packages. These pressures have been recognised by the Group Director of 
Finance & Corporate Resources with a growth of £10.1m in total included  
in the budget.

HACKNE YHACKNEY

P
age 92



Produced by Hackney Design, Communications & Print • December 2021 • HDS14990

Front cover image:  
Children at Simon Marks School for Festive Film 2020  

by Dog Leap Films

P
age 93



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 Children & Young People Scrutiny Commission 

 28th February 2022 

 Item 6 - Children & Education Anti-Racist 
 Action Plan 

 Item No 

 6 
 Outline 

 For the Commission to review progress in establishing an anti-racist action plan 
 across Children & Education and Families directorates. 

 -  Jacquie Burke, Group Director of Children and Education 
 -  Diane Benjamin, Director of Children’s Social CareThe Commission 
 -  Annie Gammon, Director of Education 
 -  Jo Larkin, Head of HR, Hackney Education 
 -  Lisa Aldridge, Head of Safeguarding & Learning 

 Reports 
 -  Children and Families Annual Report 2020/21 

 Action  : 
 Members of the Commission are invited to review the attached report and ask 
 questions of officers present. 

Page 95

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Children and Education Directorate 
Update to Scrutiny - 28th February 2022

Working towards a joint Anti-Racist Action Plan

P
age 97



Strategies, Plans and 
Priorities 

Children and Families and Education Services

P
age 98



Objectives of a joint Anti-Racist Action Plan
Children and Families and Education services want to achieve:  

- A joint plan to set out the work to help identify and address structural, institutional and 
everyday racism with CFS and HE and broader partnership arrangements. 

- An increased positive impact to the children and families we support as a result of our 
collaboration 

- A shared understanding of the journey towards anti-racism and how we can get there 
together as an organisation, and as a directorate 

- Aspirational outcomes that support, guide, engage with and learn from children, education 
and school services and are focussed on the outcomes for children and families 

- Delivering on our corporate commitment to be an anti racist organisation

We want scrutiny to review our plans and provide constructive challenge where required to ensure 
we are doing all we can for the children and families and the schools that we support. 

P
age 99



2018

Workforce diversity 
adopted as a  priority 

Good practice research 
and initial focus groups

Young Black Men strategy 2018-2022
-Reduce incidence of young black men 
experiencing or causing harm within family 
environments, and within school/educational 
settings.

-A reduction in incidence of young black men 
experiencing or causing harm within their 
community

-Reduce reoffending and support broader 
outcomes amongst ex-offenders who are young 
black men.

2019

2020

Inclusive leadership 
activity throughout 
pandemic- inclusive 
leadership, cultural 
humility

Diversity at senior 
levels 

Inclusive 
management toolkit 

2021

Progressing 
commitments and 
embedding anti-racist 
approach into wider work- 
pan London work

Reviewing YBM strategy 
impact 

2022

Dual approach adopted - 
demographic diversity and 
diversity of thinking 

Inclusive leadership 
programme

Focus groups with Directors  
and co-design of solutions 
needed 

Hackney 
Equality 
Objectives 

Work of 
champions 
continues-60 
strong  
champions 
Key metrics 
improve

Peer support 

Anti-racist motion 
and commitment 

Handover lead to 
HR / OD: 
Accountability 
Inclusive 
management toolkit 
Peer support and 
Employee wellbeing
Staff networks

Embedding 
anti-racism

Refresh 
equality 
objectives 

Timeline - LBH journey 

P
age 100



Overview of Anti Racist Action Plans 

Children and Education
Joint Anti Racist Action 

Plan

Children and Families
Action Plan

Hackney Education
Action Plan 

Promoting Racial 
Equality Leadership 

Group (PRELG)

Promoting Anti-racist 
Practice To Influence 

Broader Systems That 
Affect Children and 

Families 

Anti-Racist Leadership 
and Practice With 

Children and Families

Inclusive Recruitment 
and Aspirational 
Support For Staff

LBH / Corporate
Anti Racist Action Plan

Pupils: with schools and 
settings, hearing and 

understanding all 
voices; aspiration for all

Leaders/staff/ 
governors: discussing 

and promoting equality 
in all groups

Curriculum: with 
schools, diversifying the 

curriculum for all 
children in all subjects 

Parents: with schools 
and settings, engaging 

all parents/carers

P
age 101



Council’s Anti Racist Strategy 
Anti-racism commitment -5 pillars of focus

● Institutional change - working with communities that best understand issues that 
affect them and the institutional changes that are required.

● Community engagement - involving community partners to build a stronger 
understanding of structural and systemic racism across systems; ensuring that our work 
celebrates Hackney’s diversity whilst we continue to campaign for justice. 

● Culture and leadership - adopt and maintain an inclusive leadership culture and 
anti-racist mindset, asking our partners to do the same; actively improving diverse 
representation in senior leadership. 

● Accountability - Developing a consistent and shared approach with partners, 
publicising the work we are doing and openly account for how it fits together. 

● Influence - Campaigning against all ‘hostile environment’ policy measures, lobbying 
government into covid-19 disparities and engaging in any future Government 
commissions on racism in the UK. 

P
age 102

https://docs.google.com/presentation/d/1xWa-Fj3bM9F1adQWxqNhXHqeThnsn_ggWYSAyCjyrb0/edit#slide=id.g41b23e25bb_0_2336


Anti Racist priorities for Hackney Education
Schools and settings in Hackney have responded to recent events, accelerated by the tragic murder 
of George Floyd and the experiences of the pandemic and are all on paths to inclusion and equality 
for all. HE has a three year plan incorporating the five pillars of the Council’s anti-racist strategy 
which supports these journeys alongside those for their own communities. 

Our priorities and goals: 
1. Develop our own culture and leadership - every service area has an equalities objective that is 

underpinned by a plan to better understand racism, bias, belonging and community 
2. Close performance gaps and tackle disproportionality in exclusions/sanctions 
3. Promote the Hackney Diverse Curriculum as a key tool to support schools and settings in taking 

an anti-racist stance, promoting belonging and establsing inclusion 
4. Monitor workforce diversity and advise on recruitment and talent management to make staffing 

and governance (HE and in our schools and settings) more representative of local communities
5. Provide training and development to guide  and support leaders, curriculum designers, 

teachers, and boards of governors in tackling educational inequality and challenging 
disproportionality

6. Promote pupil and parent voice e.g. Young Governor, Systems Leader, parent conference, 
HSGB led work

P
age 103



Hackney Education Achievements 
● Attainment - gaps have narrowed for BC boys at Key Stage 4.  This  group has made 

better progress than their national peers. Predictions for summer 2022, GCSE 
English and mathematics, show ambition. 

● Curriculum: The Hackney diverse curriculum is a contribution to systemic change to 
ensure belonging and value of all pupils and acts as an early help strategy 

● Wellbeing and mental health - vast majority of schools are engaged in the WAMHS 
programme 

● Leadership/culture - staff training in most schools; actions to diversify workforce; 
links to parent and pupil voice; governors training; increase occurrence of equity 
based evaluation of policies by schools; Young Governor pilot; talking to parents 
about race - HSGB; training across all service areas in Hackney Education; termly 
open meetings

P
age 104



Hackney Education next steps  

● Attainment: ambitious targets  for BC and BA boys

● Behaviour and exclusions: behaviour reviews and training; understanding and 
sharing best practice

● Curriculum: development of the hackney diverse curriculum phase 2; school 
improvement partner evaluation of school practice, practice sharing

● Wellbeing and pupil/parent voice: Work with schools to continue a pupil voice 
focus on equalities; Continue ensuring all pupils have equal access to wellbeing 
support; continue parent group meetings focused on equality

● Leadership/culture: roll out of training for school and council staff, use 
underachievement group funds to continue providing  training for whole school 
staff; draw on and share best practice and developments across Hackney schools 
and settings 

P
age 105



● Check ambition/focus on reducing performance gaps
● Support  headteachers’ continuing leadership on equality and diversity issues
● Promote Hackney's Diverse Curriculum - the Black Contribution
● Advise schools on developing equity-based evaluation of policy and practice
● Implement and amplify best practice in schools in anti-racism and inclusion 
● Embed inclusive recruitment, development and retention policies 
● Continue monitoring the makeup of staff and governors in schools and settings, 

particularly those in senior positions
● Ensure all leaders and governors remain informed and responsive to the 

national and local debate on equalities, anti-racism and inclusion
● Continue promoting further work with all groups of parents/carers 

Schools facing work 

P
age 106



CFS Action Plan Priorities and 
Goals

Proud to be Anti Racist: 
Our leadership and practice will address racism and 
discrimination leading to disproportionality in the 
experiences of our children and families and of our 
staff in the workplace whilst also seeking to influence 
the broader context of our children and families lives.

5.1 Staff workforce is representative of child and 
family population in Hackney at all levels including at 
senior leadership levels.

5.2 Leadership and practice with children and families 
take a pro-actively anti-racist stance to address 
racism, discrimination and inequality

5.3 Leaders and Practitioners across CFS take action 
to address structural racism and proactively lead, 
support and constructively challenge the broader 
system including in partnership discussions as 
required

Anti Racist priorities for Children and Families

P
age 107



Achievements to date in CFS
● Anonymous recruitment and diverse interview panels
● Inclusive approach to recruitment developed 
● 1st 6 months of the 3 year programme of anti-racist Action Learning sets for all CFS staff 

completed and next set underway
● Anti-racist Practice Standards completed
● Anti-racist Corporate Parenting guidance completed
● CHSCP and SYHB agreed to adopt anti-racist position statements
● Engaged Police, solicitors and magistrates in considering measures such as a deferred 

prosecution scheme for children who give ‘no comment’ initial interview
● Anti-racism podcast series broadcast, ‘Brave space to talk about racism’ and management 

focus group on anti-racist practice underway

Impact: - Small increase in diversity at senior leadership level & Positive staff feedback re visibility 
of discussions about racism and anti-racist practice - however we are at the foundation stage of 
our journey to becoming anti-racist and therefore impact to date is limited

P
age 108



Anti Racist priorities and next steps for Children and 
Families:
● Launching and embedding our Anti-racist Practice Standards and Anti-racist 

Corporate Parenting
● Delivering a 3 year mandatory programme of anti-racist Action Learning Sets for 

all CFS Staff
● Ensuring recruitment is inclusive and we have aspirational support for our Black 

and Global majority staff
● Engaging Black and Global majority leaders within CFS to quality assure the work 

that we do and hold us to account 
● Developing an anti-racist charter with CHSCP to develop anti-racist practice 

across the multi-agency partnership building upon the Adultification training
● Engaging children, families and community voices to ensure that our anti-racist 

work is impactful

P
age 109



Health and wellbeing Anti-Racist focus areas
● The new C&H Health inequalities steering group (chaired by the Director of Public 

Health) has identified 10 key transformation areas, includes a children and young people’s 
champion and will support driving forward the ‘Improving outcomes for YBM programme’. 
This group focuses on tackling core health disparities as highlighted through the recent 
impact of the covid - 19 pandemic.

● The Young Black Men’s Mental health workstream is being refreshed and will focus on 5 
key areas as agreed by the accountability board, including improving experiences of service 
and exploring new ways of working with communities 

● The Child and Adolescent mental health alliance is delivering a range of interventions to 
support improvements in specific communities, through its ‘reach and resilience’ work, 
including commissioning a VCS service for Black African and Caribbean Heritage young 
people (up to 25) and an Orthodox Jewish clinical families service. 

● A new 5 year C&H ‘integrated emotional health and wellbeing strategy’ focuses on 
working in different ways to reducing inequalities in mental health, and will be delivered 
through a partnership action plan.

P
age 110



Health and wellbeing Anti-Racist focus areas
● North East London CCG has recently completed a Maternity Equality and 

Inequalities audit, which highlights the discrepancy in birth outcomes for global 
majority women. A local action plan is being delivered, including specifical global 
majority antenatal classes, and service user groups 

● Hackney CYP Overview and Scrutiny focussed on inequalities in perinatal mental 
health at a recent committee, with a local plan is being drafted to support perinatal 
mental health. 

● Our NHS commissioned services routinely collect ‘Workforce Race Equality Service 
data’, and we are using this to increase numbers of global majority staff in senior 
NHS positions. This is supported by NHS ‘Freedom to speak up guardians’ in all 
NHS trusts, including HUFT. 

P
age 111



HE core strategies
Strategies to reduce exclusions:

● Strengthen the ways in which we support  and work with secondary schools in developing preventative work 
● Develop on-site interventions at the home school (NRC together with strong practice from local schools) 
● Encourage exclusions reviews and case studies – developing a constant cycle of feeding back, sharing best practice
● Young Hackney/multi-agency working
● Increase positive behaviour cross school and specific therapeutic approaches 
● Regular tracking and discussion of exclusions figures with SIPs, Young Hackney
● Promote the use of alternative provisions and brokered managed moves

Hackney Diverse Curriculum 
● Currently evaluating impact of resources with previous users to ensure we have the right offer going forward
● Preliminary discussions have taken place to upscale the model to include more modules and investigate a possible funding model
● Training to schools on diversifying the curriculum continue
● Schools are seeking support/ training to diversify their own curriculums
● It has been downloaded by 1800 schools and settings at the last count
● Systems leader will be delivering training for UEL for trainee teachers on diversifying the curriculum

Training – a) schools and b) Hackney Services 
● Unconscious bias training continues in maintained schools across the borough and is funded by the UPG fund
● Non- maintained schools have also received unconscious bias training.
● For most schools, it is largely the entire staff team who attend, and where not possible some schools have had more than one 

session to ensure all staff are involved
● The training for Hackney Services continues and we now have two other HE team members trained to be able to deliver the 

training across all Hackney Services

P
age 112



HE core strategies
The YBM HT steering group

● Reviewing work of YBM steering group to engage in a YBM visit for schools with senior leader/ teacher colleagues
● Share best practice across the borough from senior leaders who have been involved in this work for up to 5 years
● Support training across the borough and out of borough to ensure in school practice is utilised to support colleagues
● Hear from Young Black Men directly about the systemic work we do

Learning from the first HE Parent Conference and the HSGB parents sessions
● The first online parent conference despite technical difficulties was well received by parents/ carers and insights to be shared with 

SLT. Parent groups talking about race have been influential.
The introduction of the Accountability Board/ Hackney Council review of YBM strategy and its impact 

● The accountability board, created to ensure that the community are engaged, involved and actively impacting on the Young Black 
Men Project, has held workstream  chairs to  account and ensured that there is a community direct response 

Workforce Diversity
● A new round of Inclusive Champions have been recruited over the summer. 
● Two HE unconscious bias trainers have been trained to deliver Unconscious bias. All office teams have been trained, almost all 

CCs have received the training (one outstanding) and we will next move to training the SEND Travel team as well as set regular 
dates throughout the year so all new starters can attend. 

● A working group has been created to develop a Children and Education Equalities Dashboard building on the areas of 
synergy/common objectives. 

● Wider Leadership Group  sessions offered  the opportunity to assess Hackney Education against the features of an inclusive 
organisation and will allow identification of  future developments to further foster an inclusive culture.  

● A career development objective has been included in the PDR process to ensure every staff member is given the opportunity to 
discuss and agree a career development objective. 

● SLT take a position on training budgets so we can ensure a more equal access to training
● Work with HSGB  to identify best practice for more recruitment , retention and development of diverse leaders in schools

P
age 113

https://docs.google.com/document/d/1xqkgF1BocgzpnAZII__GrK4Kfay0FxX394bjhTvf0L0/edit
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1xqkgF1BocgzpnAZII__GrK4Kfay0FxX394bjhTvf0L0/edit


CFS Action Plan- Practice to be anti-racist 
5.1 Staff workforce is representative of child and family population in Hackney at all levels including 
at senior leadership levels.
5.1.1 Ensuring our CFS Recruitment Protocol is inclusive

5.1.2 Enable staff from Black and Global majority backgrounds to influence the outcomes of the 
recruitment process, with power dynamics being addressed and responded to within interview 
panels

5.1.3 Ensuring Job Descriptions, application forms, competency questions and interview questions to 
embody our anti-oppressive and anti-racist principles

5.1.4 Development of a range of opportunities to support career development and progression for staff 
from Black and Global Majority backgrounds

5.1.5 Development of a programme of support to ensure that staff from Black and Global majority 
backgrounds who experience the trauma of racism and microaggressions in and beyond the 
workplace feel well supported in the workplace

P
age 114



CFS Action Plan- Practice to be anti-racist 
5.2 Leadership and practice with children and families take a pro-actively anti-racist stance to 
address racism, discrimination and inequality
5.2.1 Embedding of practice that is consistent with our Anti-racist Practice Standards and Anti-racist 

Corporate Parenting Guidance

5.2.2 Engaging children and their families to co-produce effective actions to address racism and ensure 
that we understand their experiences

5.2.3 Redesigning of the CFS statutory complaints process to ensure it is restorative and trauma 
informed in responding to all complaints, including those about racism and discrimination

5.2.7 Reduction of the number of Black boys becoming and/ or remaining looked after during 
adolescence as a result of a range of clinical interventions within the Edge of Care Pilot

P
age 115



CFS Action Plan- Practice to be anti-racist
5.3 Leaders and Practitioners across CFS take action to address structural racism and proactively lead, 
support and constructively challenge the broader system including in partnership discussions as required

5.3.1 CFS CSLT actively promoting progress to becoming an anti-racist organisation, upholding the Anti-racist 
Practice Standards and communicating our aspirations and commitment to children, families, partner 
agencies and community groups.

5.3.2 Development of partnership with local partner agencies (including community and voluntary groups) to 
develop a good understanding of the experiences of children and families in the community and 
co-produce actions to address racism.

5.3.3 Development and publication of the Anti-racist position statements and Anti-racist Charter

5.3.4 Reduction of Black children at the risk of exclusion in Hackney as a result of schools and the multi-agency 
partnership intervening with targeted early help.

5.3.5 Reduction in the disproportionate criminal justice outcomes for Black children in Hackney as a result of 
focused multi-agency work with the Police and Courts.

5.3.6 Black children and families to experience culturally sensitive therapeutic support that is responsive to their 
needs and social context.

P
age 116



Timeline - joint C&E Directorate to date

November/ 
December 

2021

Working group established 

Led by Deborah B, Monica L, Jo L, 
Lisa A,  

3 workshops carried out with 
approx 20-25 attendees at each 

meeting 

Reviewed synergies, and will begin 
to look at outcomes 28th February 

2022

CYP Scrutiny meeting

September 
2020

CYP Scrutiny 

Two presentations to scrutiny on 
the work towards anti racist 
practice across the directorate. September/ 

October  
2021

Jacquie Burke
Request for C&E to have joint 

action plans. 

Scrutiny set agenda 
CYP scrutiny want to scrutinise  

joint plan and invite the community 
to appraise it in Feb 2022. 

P
age 117



Joint Children and Education Anti Racist Action Plan Goals 
1. Leadership and practice with children and families take a pro-actively 

anti-racist stance to address racism, discrimination and inequality
- Anti-racist Leadership and Practice with Children and Families and engagement with 

parents and carers and Inclusive practice

2. Staff workforce is representative of child and family population in Hackney 
at all levels including at senior leadership levels.

- Inclusive Recruitment and Aspirational Support for Black and Global Majority staff

3. Influencing the broader context of the lives of Children and Families 
including support, guidance and engagement with partner agencies and 
work with and learning from schools. 
- Proactively lead, support and constructively challenge the broader system 
including in partnership discussions as required

P
age 118



Leadership and practice with children and families take a pro-actively anti-racist stance to address racism, discrimination and 
inequality

Corporate 
Themes

Action(s) Outcome(s)

Culture and 
leadership

Influence

Expand the CFS Promoting Racial Equality Leadership Group (PRELG) 
to become a Directorate Group. 

Joint dialogue - shared language 

Understanding the needs of staff 

Understanding steps that need to taken to 
achieve a true anti-racism culture 

Expand invites to the CFS ‘Brave space to talk about race’ sessions and 
Anti-Racist conferences to HE staff 

Review Staff Networks to understand how we engage with current staff 
groups. Understand what support they are offered corporately. 

Explore Hackney Schools Group (HSG) engagement with the joint plans 
- to be reviewed as part of the governance structure. 

Accountability

Community 
Engagement

Develop an engagement plan (see separate slides) - Explore possible 
communication platforms.  Liaise with grassroots organisations to 
access feedback from families, parents and pupils.

Families, local residents, school and setting 
staff, and children can have their voices 
heard.

Our action plans are co-produced with 
children and families. 

Institutional change Wider roll out of Trauma informed practice training to include all schools 
and CFS staff. 
To look at other partners and ensure training is embedded through SiPs 
role and data trends.  

Reduction in persistent absence and 
exclusion rates in schools. 

P
age 119



Staff workforce is representative of child and family population in Hackney at all levels including at senior leadership

Themes Action(s) Outcome(s)

Recruitment

(culture and 
leadership)

To consider a joint recruitment protocol for HE, CFS and Schools. Which will 
embed the inclusive leadership toolkit. And will establish mandatory principles 
to inclusive recruitment:

Shared inclusive practice approach

Employing a diverse staff group that serve the children and families we 
work with

A range of viewpoints are introduced into the recruitment process

anonymous recruitment over time leads to a more diverse workforce.

Increasing diversity in staff to ensure our workforce reflects local 
demographics particularly at more senior levels

Review data from anonymous recruitment and share impact to diverse staff 
being appointed

Crib sheets/tools to support interview panelists in schools to ensure we 
embed inclusive practice

Learning and 
Development

(culture and 
leadership)

Establish programme of shared learning on ‘anti–racism’ for all staff
A shared language and understanding of key issues

Providing consistency in the way we engage and talk about racism and 
anti-racism with children and families.

compare progress more easily across the Directorate.

Develop a programme of action learning sets

Inclusive Leadership programme made mandatory for all managers

Align how we report and monitor on anti-racist pratice.

Engagement
(culture and 
leadership)

Conduct a survey to better understand Black and Global Majority staff needs 
and the relevant support

Creating a safe and anti-racist culture

All Global Majority staff across Education will have been offered the 
opportunity to join the racialised trauma peer support groups (Note: We 
may need financial support to cover costs of staff absence/overtime for 
CCs and Transport)

explore how to embed Racialised trauma peer support for HE staff.

P
age 120



Influencing the broader context of the lives of Children and Families including challenge to partner agencies and work 
with schools re school exclusions AND school exclusions and partner agencies

Corporate 
Themes

Action(s) Outcome(s)

Institutional 
Change

Culture and 
Leadership

Develop and embed a shared understanding of racism and 
anti-racist practice across CFS, HE and Schools to ensure that 
policies and practice take an anti-racist and trauma informed 
approach to supporting children

CFS, HE and Schools have consistently 
high aspirations for Black children, take 
an anti-racist approach and trauma 
informed approaches to supporting 
children and maximising inclusion

Accountability Promote the early help offer and ensure schools make prompt 
requests for support to ensure a multi-agency approach to 
supporting children and schools where there is a risk of a child 
being excluded

Children and schools receive the right 
support and guidance at the right time to 
reduce the risk of school exclusions

Community 
Engagement 

Accountability

Engage parents as partners in working relationships with schools; 
support and reinforce role of parent governors in being the voice 
of the wider parent community; ensure that Black and Global 
Majority parents feel that the School Governor offer is inclusive of 
them; Scope advocacy offer including co-design with  parents and 
explore option of peer to peer parent support, faith and 
community leaders for and advocacy to support and empower 
parents to attend exclusions meetings

Parents are engaged in 'listening 
conversations' with schools; parents 
know where to for support and feel 
empowered to share their views; Schools 
embrace and promote engagement with 
and feedback from parents.  

P
age 121



Governance 
Children and Families and Education Services

P
age 122



Governance across Children's and Education 
Purpose and focus of the joint C&E plan: Currently the Senior Leadership 
Team (SLT) provide oversight, scrutiny and drive the delivery of the joint Children 
and Education (C&E)  Directorate Anti Racist Practice (ARP) Action Plan ensuring 
consistent buy-in and engagement from partners including holding partners to 
account against the deliverables committed to in the plan including monitoring the 
impact on agreed outcomes for children and young people in the borough.

Each service has also their own governance structure, reporting into their own 
service management teams or oversight groups. 

P
age 123



Engagement 
Key to this work is considering how we will engage with relevant stakeholders including children, young 
people and families, and how we can build on existing sources of feedback, including for example the 
findings of the Young Futures Commission. We want to ensure that the development of the anti racist 
action plan is truly co-productive. 

Key stakeholder groups have been identified for engagement: 
● Internal council officers 
● Children, young people and families 
● Schools and settings (inc. Governors) 
● Multi-agency partners 
● Voluntary and Community Sector partners 

Through this stakeholder engagement process, we want to ensure that the development of the action plan 
is as collaborative as possible and that all partners as well as children and their families have a stake in 
the vision and values behind the plan and in defining the outcomes and priorities. 

P
age 124



Data 
Children and Families and Education Services

P
age 125



Ethnic breakdown of Hackney's population (ONS 2018)

Source: ONS, Ethnic Groups by Borough 2018 

P
age 126



P
age 127



P
age 128



School Leadership Team (Data Source - School Workforce Census 2020)

P
age 129



P
age 130



P
age 131



(Data Source - School Workforce Census 2020)

P
age 132



Do our school support staff represent our community? 

Ethic Group Hackney Hackney (As per 
DFE categories) Support staff

White 51%

51%
(does not include 

non minority ethnic 
group)

29% 

Asian 11%
48%

(Black and Global 
majority- includes 
white minorities)

64%Black 22%

Mixed 15%

Other N/A N/A N/A

Did not disclose N/A 7.1%

(Data Source - School Workforce Census 2020)

P
age 133



How antiracist plans and strategies inform and influence local practice and, 
how/what baseline data is being used to assess the impact of anti-racist and 
anti-discriminatory practice
Building anti racist practice/thinking into service design and decision making by 
considering:

● The information and insight  that have been used to inform approaches
● Taking different approaches for different people
● Thinking forensically about the experiences and status of different groups 

rather than group issues under ‘BAME’ umbrella in design

Learning from work on YBM programme that looks at a baseline in terms of culture 
and organisational thinking at the beginning of the programme to understand the 
impact it has had, focusing on service design, governance, leadership and 
workforce diversity

P
age 134



Research about further recruiting a diverse 
workforce in schools 
Our aim is to have inclusive recruitment, professional development, promotion and retention.

We have found research examples: 

● Representation matters - read here
● Rethinking how we can improve the diversity of the teaching workforce in England- read 

here
● Making progress? Employment and retention of BAME teachers in England- read here

P
age 135

https://www.gettingsmart.com/2018/12/30/representation-matters/
https://www.bera.ac.uk/blog/rethinking-how-we-can-improve-the-diversity-of-the-teaching-workforce-in-england
https://osf.io/preprints/socarxiv/awx3v/


Monitoring 
Children and Families and Education Services

P
age 136



CFS Metrics
Measure / Target Obtainable (Y/N) Source/Frequency

Staff workforce is representative of child and family population in Hackney at all levels including at senior leadership 
levels.

Workforce data to measure disproportionality of workforce- data 
to be proportionate within 5% margin of Hackney population

Y MISA Quarterly data to WFDB

Staff who attend training report this to be impactful and sign up to 
be part of regular interview panels

Y
Single survey re experience of training; 
% Black and Global majority staff sign 
up to be part of interview panels

All JDs are reviewed Y Completion to be monitored at WFDB

Black and Global majority staff report positively in surveys Y PRELG Survey 6 monthly

Routine programme of support to be in place across the council 
and staff from Black and Global majority backgrounds report 
positively about this

Y
PRELG Survey 6 monthly plus 
bespoke surveys as part of available 
support programmes

P
age 137



CFS Metrics
Measure / Target Obtainable (Y/N) Source/Frequency

Leadership and practice with children and families take a pro-actively anti-racist stance to address racism, 
discrimination and inequality
Audit programme demonstrates that our our work in respect of 
identity, diversity and anti-racist and anti-discriminatory practice 
is Good

Y
Reported in all collated holistic audit 
reports throughout the year

Children and Families are engaged including Looked After 
Children and report positively on their experiences

Y
Focus Group and survey at end of 
engagement work

Initial increase in complaints around racism and discrimination 
as we demonstrate our openess and subsequent decrease in 
number of complaints as we continually improve our anti-racist 
practice

Y Complaints Annual Report

Monitoring of ethnicity of children coming into care, via age Y MISA Quarterly

P
age 138



CFS Metrics
Measure / Target Obtainable (Y/N) Source/Frequency

Leaders and Practitioners across CFS take action to address structural racism and proactively lead, support and 
constructively challenge the broader system including in partnership discussions as required

Audit programme of children's files; audit of professional supervision; 
data from informal and formal performance monitoring

Y
Audit programme throughout the year; 
Audit of professional supervision at end of 
2022; HR end of year report

Community groups report i) feeling listened to and ii) their views are 
having an impact

Y
Focus groups and surveys with community 
groups at end of engagement work

Anti-racist Charter is published and partnership develop methodology 
for capturing and sharing concerns about discriminatory practice and 
racism and effective actions taken to address

CHSCP evidence of charter being published 
and implemented; tool to capture concerns and 
share learning in place and audit in 2023 re 
multi-agency response to concerns about 
racism

A reduction of exclusions for Black boys over time Y MISA- Hackney Education

Data re reduction in disproportionate outcomes for Black boys Y YOT data

P
age 139



HE Metrics
Target Source Next steps

All settings and schools work toward aspirational targets 
for BC and BA (based previous best)

Continued collation of school data
SIP collate ambition and track progress
Identification/ sharing of best practice to support 
individual schools to continue

Analyse attainment over time for BC and BA pupils - set ambition
Compare outcomes against all and also White UK
SIPs track attainment of BC and BA and report on gaps

 30% reduction in FTE for 2022 and then again for 2023 to 
bring local figures into line with national rates

MISA data
Exclusions board strategic work
Revise the SLA with NRC
Behaviour reviews to support systemic change

Focus on early help to identify and support young people and schools 
in identification of need
Expand and make best use of local provision (pupil referral unit, 
alternative provision)

Assign an officer (school improvement adviser) to oversee alternative 
provision 

Curriculum: the touchstones in the Hackney Education 
Workstream roadmap, give below, are met 

There is a decolonized curriculum, or clear work toward 
this,  in all settings and schools 

Hackney Education Create a core team to drive the work
Identify/recruit unit writers 
Support schools in developing their own curriculums

Parent/community voice diversifies provision and the way 
we work with each other e.g. parent voice is an explicit part 
of local arrangements

Hackney  Education System Leader for Parental engagement to support and challenge 
schools to improve systems of engagement with families

All parts of the system demonstrate cultural 
responsiveness, racial literacy, social justice and critical 
thinking.

Hackney Education: three year plan, service plans
Workstream reporting to SLT
Governor training/ support provided
Tracking of Young Governor pilot

Continued sharing recruitment policies that support schools or settings 
in ensuring better community representation
Roll-out of in-service and settings/schools  facing training 
All employees promote the concept of the inclusive school/setting (as 
per three year plan)

P
age 140



What we’re working on
- A shared position statement 

- A shared language 

- A shared reporting tool for updating on progress

- An engagement plan for how we reach out to children, families and schools and 
all make the most of these opportunities. Understand what they want and that the 
work we are doing is right for them 

- Developing an evaluation framework that’s informed by insight and data 

- Governance arrangements that provide oversight of the progress of the plan and 
also require us to engage to the expertise of our Black and Global majority staff 
whilst ensuring that White colleagues and leaders take responsibility for creating 
change

- A comms plan to share our actions and outcomes internally and externally 

P
age 141



Next steps - timeline 

September 2022
28th 

February 
2022

CYP Scrutiny 

March -  2022

Engagement with children and 
families- a priority for the year 
ahead to co-produce actions 

that will create change

December 2022June 2022 

February 2023

Establish Governance 
framework in conjunction with 
Corporate Governance of Anti- 
Racist Practice, and alongside 
Children’s Partnership Plan 

Develop an Joint Evaluation 
Framework / dashboard to create 
baseline data that will be used to 
influence our action plans and report 
back against progress delivering 
actions that improve lives for children 
and families. 

present back the 
C&E joint plan 
alongside the 
corporate update 

P
age 142



Questions?

P
age 143



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 Children & Young People Scrutiny Commission 

 28th February 2022 

 Item 7 - Adolescents Entering Care - Review 
 Update 

 Item No 

 7 
 Outline 
 The Commission commenced its in-depth review and held its first meeting with 
 officers on the 9th February, 2022.  The Chair and Scrutiny Officer will provide a 
 verbal update to members on the evidence herard at this meeting and the next steps 
 for the review. 

Page 145

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 Children & Young People Scrutiny Commission 

 28th February 2022 

 Item 8 - Work Programme 2021/22 

 Item No 

 8 
 Outline 
 To  review  and  agree  the  work  programme  for  the  Commission  for  the  remainder  of 
 the municipal year 2021/22. 

Page 147

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



 Children & Young People Scrutiny Commission Work Programme 2021/22 

 One Page Overview 
 June 14th 2021  July 12th 2021 

 School Admissions (Standing Item)  Ofsted Action Plan - Progress 

 Pupil Attainment (Standing item)  CFS Budget Monitoring (Standing Item) 

 Childcare Sufficiency (Standing Item)  Commissioning Independent SEND 

 Work Programme Discussion 

 October 6th 2021  November 1st 2021 

 CFS Ofsted Inspection Report (Following focused visit 7/21)  School Estates Strategy (Pre-decision) 

 HMI Probation Inspection - Youth Justice (Following group inspection 7/21)  Early Help Review (Pre-decision) 

 Adolescents Entering Care (Scoping Report)  Early Years Strategy -  Reconfiguration of Children’ Centres - Parents Voice 

 Early Years Strategy -  Reconfiguration of Children’ Centres consultation 

 December 6th 2021  January 19th  2022 

 Cllr Woodley Q & A - topics to be agreed (Mid October) (Standing Item)  CHSCP - Annual Report  - Outcomes of SCRs and Adultification 

 Budget Monitoring HES (Standing Item)  Unregistered Educational Settings - Update 

 Outcome from school exclusions  - Final report of the Commission  Sexual harassment in schools 

 Adolescents Entering Care 

 February 28th 2022  March 14th 2022 

 Addressing  inequalities HFS/HES  Attainment gap - School Improvement Partners 

 CFS Annual Report (Standing Item)  Children Centre Consultation Report 

 Parental Substance Misuse  Parental Involvement in education Project 

 Cllr Bramble Q & A - Focus on CAMHS 

 0 

P
age 149



 Children & Young People Scrutiny Commission Work Programme 2021/22 

 Meeting 1  Item title and scrutiny objective  Directorate – Division – Officer 
 Responsibility 

 Preparatory work to 
 support item 

 Meeting 
 Date: 
 14th June 
 2021 

 Deadline 
 for reports: 
 1/6/21 

 Publication 
 4/6/21 

 School Admissions – to review 
 sufficiency of primary and secondary 
 school places ahead of September 2021 
 school entry.  (Standing item within the 
 work programme) 

 ●  Marian Lavelle, Head of Admissions and 
 Pupil Benefits, HLT 

 ●  Annie Gammon, Director of Education 
 and Head of HLT 

 It is a statutory requirement for members 
 to review the sufficiency of childcare in 
 their local authority area and a report is 
 produced every two years. 
 The Commission to review an update for 
 this year 2021 in light of the impact of 
 Covid 19. (Standing item within the work 
 programme) 

 ●  Donna Thomas, Head of Early Years, 
 Early Help & Well-being 

 ●  Tim Wooldridge, Early Years Strategy 
 Manager 

 ●  Annie Gammon, Director of Education 
 and Head of HLT 

 Pupil Attainment: Annual Review of 
 performance of educational attainment in 
 Hackney.  Usual scrutiny is not possible 
 due to the impact of Covid and school 
 closures and use of school assessments 
 instead of exams.  Update and overview. 

 ●  Stephen Hall, Head of School 
 Improvement 

 ●  Annie Gammon, Director of Education 
 and Head of HLT 

 Development of new CYP Work 
 Programme for 2021/22 

 ●  Commission/ Scrutiny officer  ●  To consult local 
 stakeholders 

 ●  Meet with service 
 Directors 

 ●  Collate topic suggestions 

 1 

P
age 150



 Children & Young People Scrutiny Commission Work Programme 2021/22 

 Meeting 
 2 

 Item title and scrutiny objective  Directorate – Division – Officer 
 Responsibility 

 Preparatory work to support item 

 Meeting 
 Date: 
 Monday 
 12th July 

 Papers 
 deadline: 
 29/6/21 

 Agenda 
 dispatch: 
 2/7/21 

 Ofsted Inspection Action Plan: 
 -  to receive and update on progress to 

 meet the recommendations from Ofsted. 
 -  To note changes to the Hackney Unit 

 model of Social Work. 

 ●  Diane Benjamin, Director of 
 Children’s Social Care 

 ●  Annie Coyle, Interim Director of 
 Children's Social Care 

 Commissioning Independent SEND 
 Provision to assess: 
 -  the commissioning framework for 

 independent SEND provision; 
 -  Quality monitoring and outcomes; 
 -  Arrangements for financial and contract 

 monitoring.  Commissioned; 
 -  Costs. 

 ●  Fran Cox, Head of High Needs 
 and School Place 

 ●  Joe Wilson, Head of SEND 
 ●  Wendy Edwards, SEND 

 Contracts Consultant 
 ●  Annie Gammon, Director of 

 Education 

 CFS Budget Monitoring: review of CFS 
 budget for year end to March 2021 

 ●  Naeem Ahmed, Director of 
 Finance Children, 
 Education, Adults, Health & 
 Integration 

 ●  Diane Benjamin, Director of 
 Children’s Social Care 

 CYP Work Programme 2021/22  ●  Martin Bradford, Scrutiny Officer / 
 Commission 

 ●  Details of all topic suggestions 
 circulated to members and 
 published in the agenda. 

 ●  Arrange meetings with senior 
 officers to scope out work items. 

 2 

P
age 151



 Children & Young People Scrutiny Commission Work Programme 2021/22 

 Meeting 
 3 

 Item title and scrutiny objective  Directorate – Division – Officer 
 Responsibility 

 Preparatory work to 
 support item 

 Meeting 
 Date: 
 October 
 6th 2021 

 Papers 
 deadline: 
 12.00 
 27/9/21 

 Agenda 
 dispatch: 
 28/9/21 

 Outcome of Ofsted Focused Visit  July 2021). 
 To review the outcome and service 
 response to the Ofsted focused visit of 
 services for Children in Need Children on a 
 Child Protection Plans 

 ●  Jacquie Burke, Group Director for 
 Education & Children’s Services 

 ●  Diane Benjamin, Director of Children’s 
 Social Care 

 -  Publication of report 
 timing in preparation for 
 the meeting -  expected 
 7th September 2021. 

 Outcome of HMI Probation Inspection of 
 Youth Justice Services 
 To review the outcome and service 
 response to the HMI Probation Inspection 
 visit in July 2021. Service update to be 
 considered alongside. 

 ●  Pauline Adams,Principal Head of 
 Service, Early Help and Prevention 

 ●  Brendan Finnegan, Service Manager 
 Youth Justice 

 ●  Diane Benjamin, Director of Children’s 
 Social Care 

 -  Publication of report 
 timing in preparation for 
 the meeting. 

 Early Years Strategy  (and reconfiguration of 
 Children’s Centres).  The Early Years 
 Strategy was confirmed at Cabinet in 
 September 2021 and Hackney Education is 
 now consulting on the planned 
 reconfiguration of Children's Centres (to mid 
 Nov 2021). 

 ●  Annie Gammon, Director of Education 
 ●  Donna Thomas, Head of Early Years, 

 Early Help & Well-being 

 CYP Work Programme 2021/22: updated 
 version from July 2021. 

 ●  Scrutiny Officer / Commission 

 3 

P
age 152



 Children & Young People Scrutiny Commission Work Programme 2021/22 

 Meeting 4  Item title and scrutiny objective  Directorate – Officers 

 Meeting 
 Date: 
 November 
 1st 2021 

 Papers 
 deadline: 
 19th 
 October 
 2021 

 Agenda 
 dispatch  : 
 22nd 
 October 
 2021 

 Early Years Strategy & Reconfiguration of children’s centres: 
 To hear from parents and carers of children impacted by the proposed closure of two 
 children’s  (Fernbank/Hillside) to contribute to the Commission's formal response to the 
 consultation on the Early Years Strategy. 

 School Estates Strategy:  a review of how the Council  will manage its maintained education 
 estate in relation to projected falling pupil rolls and increased demand for in-borough SEND 
 provision. 

 This is an opportunity for the CYP Scrutiny Commission to contribute to this review before 
 its finalisation by the Executive (December 2021) in relation to principles for reform, 
 prospective impact on services and for young people and their families and service budgets. 

 As part of this scrutiny exercise it would be useful to understand the demographic of children 
 with SEND who are currently supported in mainstream educational settings. 

 ●  Annie Gammon, 
 Director of Education 

 ●  Fran Cox, Head of 
 High Needs & School 
 Places 

 ●  Joe Wilson, Head of 
 SEND 

 Early Help Strategy  : a review of the Council’s early  help offer which has incorporated 
 Family Support, Targeted Support, Young Hackney and Children’s Centres. 

 This is an opportunity for the CYP Scrutiny Commission to contribute to this review before 
 its finalisation by the Executive (January 2022) in relation to principles for reform, 
 prospective impact on services and for young people and their families and service 
 budgets. 

 ●  Jacquie Burke, Group 
 Director for Education 
 and Children’s 
 Services 

 CYP Work Programme 2021/22  ●  Scrutiny Officer 

 4 

P
age 153



 Children & Young People Scrutiny Commission Work Programme 2021/22 

 Meeting 5  Item title and scrutiny objective  Directorate – Division – Officer 
 Responsibility 

 Preparatory work to 
 support item 

 Meeting 
 Date: 
 6th 
 December 
 2021 

 Papers 
 deadline: 
 23rd 
 November 
 2021 

 Agenda 
 dispatch: 
 26th 
 November 
 2021 

 Hackney Education Service Budget 
 Monitoring  : 
 To review in-year spending within the 
 Directorate. (Standing item) 

 ●  Naeem Ahmed, Director of 
 Finance Children, Education, 
 Adults, Health & Integration 

 ●  Annie Gammon, Director of 
 Education 

 Cabinet Q & A  : 
 Cllr Caroline Woodley 
 Annual Question Time for the Cabinet 
 member for Families, early years, parks 
 and play. (Standing item) 

 Focus is on SEMH 

 ●  Cllr Caroline Woodley, Cabinet 
 member for  Families, Early Years, 
 Parks and Play. 

 Topics to be scrutinised to be 
 agreed 6 weeks in advance of 
 the meeting in consultation 
 with CYP SC (25th October 
 2021) 

 School Exclusions Final Report  : 
 -  To agree and confirm 

 recommendations of the Commission's 
 investigation; 

 -  To agree on follow up monitoring 
 arrangements. 

 ●  Commission 

 CYP Work Programme 2021/22  -  Scrutiny Officer  -  To review and monitor 
 progress. 

 5 

P
age 154



 Children & Young People Scrutiny Commission Work Programme 2021/22 

 Meeting 6  Item title and scrutiny objective  Directorate – Division – Officer Responsibility  Preparatory work to 
 support item 

 Meeting 
 Date: 
 19th 
 January 
 2022 

 Papers 
 deadline: 
 7th 
 January 
 2022 

 Agenda 
 dispatch: 
 11th 
 January 
 2022 

 Sexual Harassment in Schools  : to 
 recieve a report on the nature and 
 level of sexual harrassment recorded 
 in local schools and the support 
 provided to young people affected 
 and those efforts to prevent this in the 
 future. 

 ●  Annie Gammon, Director of Education 
 ●  City & Hackney Safeguarding Children 

 Partnership 
 ●  Local Head Teachers - tbc 

 Unregistered Educational Settings  : a 
 brief update from Hackney Education 
 Service and City & Hackney 
 Safeguarding Partnership on previous 
 recommendations of the Commission. 

 ●  Jim Gamble, The Independent Child 
 Safeguarding Commissioner 

 ●  Rory McAllum, Senior Professional Leader, 
 CHSCP 

 ●  Annie Gammon, Director of Education 
 ●  Chris Roberts, Head of Wellbeing & Education 

 Safeguarding 
 City & Hackney Safeguarding 
 Children Annual Report: 
 With a focused discussion on how to 
 address adultification 

 ●  Jim Gamble, The Independent Child 
 Safeguarding Commissioner 

 ●  Rory McAllum, Senior Professional Leader, 
 CHSCP 

 Meeting with CHSCP to 
 agree scope and focus of this 
 item 

 Adolescents Entering Care  : to 
 discuss and agree the Scoping 
 Report for the Commission's planned 
 review for 2021/22. 

 ●  Overview & Scrutiny Officer/ Members of the 
 Commission 

 CYP Work Programme 2021/22  Scrutiny Officer  To review and monitor 
 progress 

 6 

P
age 155



 Children & Young People Scrutiny Commission Work Programme 2021/22 

 Meeting 
 7 

 Item title and scrutiny objective  Directorate – Division – Officer 
 Responsibility 

 Preparatory work 
 to support item 

 Meeting 
 Date: 
 28th 
 February 
 2022 

 Papers 
 deadline: 
 15th 
 February 
 2022 

 Agenda 
 dispatch: 
 18th 
 February 
 2022 

 Addressing Racial Inequalities across Children’s 
 Services 
 HE and CFS to update on work to address racial 
 inequalities and disproportionality: 
 - Strategies, plans and priorities for CFS & HE 
 - Workforce data - CFS, HE and local schools; 
 - How antiracist strategies inform local practice 
 - Baseline data to assess impact 
 - How LBH leads across local partnerships to 
 address issues like adultification; 
 - Outline of governance / infrastructure on how this 
 work is being overseen? 

 ●  Diane Benjamin, Director of 
 Children's Social Care 

 ●  Annie Gammon, Director of 
 Education 

 ●  Jacquie Burke, Group Director 
 Education and Children's Services 

 ●  Jo Larkin 

 Further clarify focus 
 and reporting 
 requirements with 
 Directors by 
 December 2021 

 Children and Families Services Annual Report  . 
 To report on the full outturn of children’s social care 
 activity for the year end March 2021 (Standing item) 

 ●  Jacquie Burke, Group Director for 
 Education and Children’s Services 

 ●  Diane Benjamin, Director of 
 Children’s Social Care 

 Parental Substance Misuse  ●  Shawn Bent, Substance Misuse 
 Team Leader 

 ●  John Hart, Young Hackney Service 
 Manager 

 ●  Pauline Adams, Principal Head of 
 Early Help and Prevention 

 ●  Piers Henrique, Chief Executive, 
 NACOA 

 CYP Work Programme 2021/22  Scrutiny Officer 

 7 

P
age 156



 Children & Young People Scrutiny Commission Work Programme 2021/22 

 Meeting 
 8 

 Item title and scrutiny objective  Directorate – Division – Officer 
 Responsibility 

 Preparatory work to 
 support item 

 Meeting 
 Date: 
 14th 
 March 
 2022 

 Papers 
 deadline: 
 2nd 
 March 
 2022 

 Agenda 
 dispatch: 
 4th 
 March 
 2022 

 Parental involvement in education  : Hackney 
 Education to report on the project to enable 
 parents to be more involved with local 
 schools, colleges and their children’s 
 education. 

 ●  Annie Gammon, Director of 
 Education 

 ●  Project Worker (TBC) 

 School Improvement Partners:  the role of 
 school improvement partners in improving 
 quality provision and closing the attainment 
 gap between pupils. 

 ●  Annie Gammon, Director of 
 Education 

 ●  School Improvement Partners 

 Meet school improvement 
 partners ahead of the 
 meeting 

 Cabinet Q & A  : 
 Cllr Anntionette Bramble, Annual Question 
 Time for the Deputy Mayor and Cabinet 
 member for education, young people and 
 children’s social care. 

 ●  Cllr Anntionette Bramble  Focus on CAMHS 
 Waiting Times 
 Service Access 
 Marginal Groups 

 Work Programme Review  2021/22; members 
 to feedback on scrutiny work programme for 
 the year. 

 ●  Members of the Commission 

 Children’s Centre Consultation Report 
 Outcome of children centre consultation 

 To note 

 Post 16 SEND Strategy 
 HE response to Commission's 
 recommendations. 

 To note 

 CYP Work Programme 2021/22  Scrutiny Officer  To review and monitor 
 progress 

 8 

P
age 157



 Children & Young People Scrutiny Commission Work Programme 2021/22 

 Health in Hackney Scrutiny Commission (jointly with CYP Scrutiny) 
 Meeting 
 A 

 Item title and scrutiny 
 objective 

 Directorate – Division – Officer Responsibility  Preparatory work to support 
 item 

 Meeting 
 date: 

 October 
 11th 
 2021 

 Disparities in Maternal Mental 
 Health Outcomes: session to 
 explore the current position in 
 relation to maternal emotional 
 mental health screening, 
 disparities in diagnosis and 
 treatment and the possible 
 problems created downstream 
 when this issue is not 
 adequately addressed early on  . 

 (60 mins) 

 a) Context and background briefing paper -  Amy Wilkinson (Workstream Director - 
 Public Health) 

 b) Overview of existing provision (ideally in briefing paper) - Ellie Duncan (CYP&M 
 Workstream in Integrated Commissioning CCG-LBH-Col) 

 - Health Visitors Service 
 - ELFT Perinatal Service 
 - HUHFT maternity services? 
 - Family Nurse Partnership (antenatal support for under 25s) 
 - Maternity Voices Partnership (replacement for Maternity Services Liaison Cttee?) 
 including BME subgroup and Charedi subgroup 
 Who else?? 

 c) Clinical overview - Clinical Psychiatrist from ELFT Perinatal Service (name TBC) 

 d) Service user/support group lead - Representative from the BME Sub Group of the 
 Maternity Voices Partnership (name TBC) to provide a service user input. 

 e) Q&A led by the Councillors 

 9 

P
age 158



 Children & Young People Scrutiny Commission Work Programme 2021/22 

 With Skills, Economy & Growth Scrutiny Commission  (jointly with CYP Scrutiny) 
 Meeting B  Item title and scrutiny 

 objective 
 Directorate – Division – Officer Responsibility  Preparatory work to support 

 item 
 Skills, 
 Economy & 
 Growth 
 Commission 
 meeting date: 

 December 
 15th 2021 

 Priorities, policies and 
 approach to developing 
 cleaner and greener 
 transport for Hackney for 
 2022 and beyond. 

 As part of the session the SEG Commission will 
 aim to hear from CYP about their views of cleaner 
 and greener transport. 

 The Commission to work with HYP to facilitate 
 engagement with young people and conduct other 
 focus groups where necessary. 

 Living in Hackney Scrutiny Commission (jointly with CYP Scrutiny) 
 Meeting 
 C 

 Item title and scrutiny objective  Directorate – Division – Officer Responsibility  Preparatory work to 
 support item 

 Living in 
 Hackney 
 Meeting 
 Date: 

 24th 
 February 
 2021 

 Housing support for young people 
 leaving care. 
 What are the housing options for 
 young people leaving (or about to 
 leave) care and seeking 
 accommodation in Hackney and 
 elsewhere? 
 What is the council doing to increase 
 housing supply and options for this 
 vulnerable group of young people? 

 Local Policy & Practice: Corporate Parenting 
 Team, Housing Supply  and Housing Strategy 

 Care Leavers: Focus Group and participants. 

 Site Visits to semi-independent accommodation 

 Comparative assessments: LB Lambeth and LB 
 Islington 

 Scoping this item: 

 Meeting with Housing Needs 
 and Corporate Parenting 
 (completed) 

 Meeting with Housing supply 

 Prepare brief and agree with 
 Chairs and Officers. 

 10 

P
age 159



 Children & Young People Scrutiny Commission Work Programme 2021/22 

 Long list of scrutiny issues from suggestions (to be added if space develops in the programme or added to next year) 

 Supporting children in temporary accommodation, particularly those placed outside 
 the borough.  Is there any impact on the consistency or coordination of education, 
 care or support available to such children? What disproportionalities are there in 
 this cohort and how does this impact/ drive delivery? 
 Contextual Safeguarding - implementation and embedding of this across the 
 council and partner agencies. 

 Possible incorporation with review of 
 adolescents in care 

 Young Futures Commission: implementation of YFC recommendations?  The YFC 
 is currently being reconfigured and an update on progress/ plans. 
 Integrated Commissioning (CYP and Maternity Services)  -  usually taken as a joint 
 item on HiH agenda (not scheduled for 2021/22) 
 Impact of Covid on the mental health of young people  Possible focus for Cabinet Q & A 

 Effectiveness of Kickstart in supporting young people back into work -providing 
 high quality opportunities 
 Careers guidance and support 

 Post 16 selectivity in schools and 6th Forms -  intentions. 

 11 

P
age 160



 Children & Young People Scrutiny Commission 

 28th February 2022 

 Item 9 - Minutes 

 Item No 

 9 
 Outline 
 The  minutes  of  the  meeting  held  on  the  19th  January  2022  were  not  available  for  this 
 meeting and will be presented at the next meeting on 14th March. 

Page 161

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Substance Misuse and Children in Need
	Item 4a - (Report Summary) Substance Misuse CFS Briefing
	Item 4b - (Report) Substance Misuse Briefing
	Item 4c - NACOA Information for people affected by parents drinking

	5 Children's Social Care Annual Report
	Item 5a (Report Summary) CFS Annual Report 2020_21
	Item 5b - (Report) CFS Annual Report 2020_21

	6 Anti-Racist Action Plan for Children & Education
	Item 6a - (Report) Children and Education Anti-Racist AP

	7 Adolescents Entering Care - Review Update
	8 Work Programme 2021/22
	Item 8a - (Report) CYP Work Programme February 2022

	9 Minutes of the Previous Meeting

	Front page to page 2: 
	Go to NEXT page 5: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 
	Page 32: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 39: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 
	Page 42: 
	Page 43: 
	Page 44: 
	Page 45: 
	Page 46: 
	Page 47: 
	Page 48: 
	Page 50: 
	Page 51: 
	Page 52: 
	Page 53: 
	Page 54: 
	Page 55: 
	Page 56: 
	Page 57: 
	Page 59: 
	Page 60: 
	Page 61: 
	Page 62: 
	Page 63: 
	Page 64: 
	Page 65: 
	Page 66: 
	Page 67: 
	Page 68: 
	Page 69: 
	Page 70: 

	BACK to previous page 8: 
	Page 2: 
	Page 3: 
	Page 4: 
	Page 5: 
	Page 6: 
	Page 7: 
	Page 8: 
	Page 10: 
	Page 11: 
	Page 12: 
	Page 13: 
	Page 14: 
	Page 15: 
	Page 16: 
	Page 17: 
	Page 18: 
	Page 19: 
	Page 20: 
	Page 21: 
	Page 22: 
	Page 23: 
	Page 24: 
	Page 25: 
	Page 26: 
	Page 27: 
	Page 28: 
	Page 29: 
	Page 30: 
	Page 31: 
	Page 32: 
	Page 33: 
	Page 34: 
	Page 35: 
	Page 36: 
	Page 37: 
	Page 39: 
	Page 40: 
	Page 41: 
	Page 42: 
	Page 43: 
	Page 44: 
	Page 45: 
	Page 46: 
	Page 47: 
	Page 48: 
	Page 50: 
	Page 51: 
	Page 52: 
	Page 53: 
	Page 54: 
	Page 55: 
	Page 56: 
	Page 57: 
	Page 59: 
	Page 60: 
	Page 61: 
	Page 62: 
	Page 63: 
	Page 64: 
	Page 65: 
	Page 66: 
	Page 67: 
	Page 68: 
	Page 69: 
	Page 70: 

	BACK to previous page 9: 
	BACK to previous page 6: 
	BACK to previous page 11: 
	BACK to previous page 5: 
	BACK to previous page 4: 
	BACK to previous page 12: 
	Go to NEXT page 2: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 38: 
	Page 58: 

	BACK to previous page 3: 
	Page 9: 
	Page 38: 
	Page 58: 

	Go to NEXT page 1: 
	BACK to previous page 2: 
	Go to NEXT page 6: 
	BACK to previous page 10: 
	Go to NEXT page 3: 
	BACK to previous page 1: 
	Back page to First page: 


